

GRADUATE FELLOWSHIPS AND AWARDS 2005 - 2006

McGill University: www.mcgill.ca

Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office www.mcgill.ca/gps

(click on "Fellowships and Awards")

Admission:

www.mcgill.ca/applying/graduate

University Calendars www.mcgill.ca/courses

Please note that in the body of this Calendar, awards are listed alphabetically by their complete official names. In the index, awards are listed alphabetically by family name of benefactor if applicable.

All efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy of information in this Calendar. However, it is ultimately the responsibility of fellowship and award seekers themselves to verify program deadlines and requirements with the source agencies.

The Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, Fellowships and Awards Section cannot be held responsible for any errors or omissions, but would appreciate being informed of these, for correction or addition in the next edition.

The University reserves the right to make changes without prior notice to the information contained in this Calendar, including alteration of conditions and values of awards.

Table of Contents

- 1 Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, Fellowships and Awards Section, page 4
 - 1.1 Location, page 4
 - 1.2 Administrative Officers, page 4
 - 1.3 A Message from the Dean, page 4
- 2 Financing Graduate Education, page 4
 - 2.1 General Fellowships Information, page 5
 - 2.2 Reference Books, page 5
 - 2.3 Funding Information on the Web, page 5
 - 2.4 Information for International Students and Fellows, page 6
- 3 External Fellowships, page 6
- 4 McGill Graduate Fellowships, page 13
 - 4.1 Recruitment Fellowships, page 13
 - 4.1.1 Richard H. Tomlinson Fellowships
 - 4.1.2 Max Stern Recruitment Fellowships
 - 4.1.3 Sir Yue-Kong Pao Fellowships
 - 4.1.4 Discipline-specific Recruitment Fellowships
 - 4.2 McGill Major Fellowships (for continuing students only), page 14
 - 4.3 Complementary McGill Awards to Major Fellowships, page 16
 - 4.4 Specialized Fellowships, page 16
 - 4.5 Dissertation Fellowships, page 17
 - 4.6 Differential Fee Waivers, page 17
 - 4.7 Graduation Prizes and Awards, page 18
- 5 Fellowships awarded by Departments and Faculties, page 18
 - 5.1 Multidisciplinary, page 18
 - 5.2 Medical and Health Sciences, page 19
 - 5.2.1 Various Medical Science Units
 - 5.2.2 Faculty of Medicine: Internal Studentships
 - 5.2.3 Dentistry
 - 5.2.4 Nursing
 - 5.2.5 Physical and Occupational Therapy
 - 5.3 Natural Sciences and Engineering, page 24
 - 5.3.1 Various Agricultural, Nutritional, and Biological Sciences Units
 - 5.3.2 Chemical Engineering
 - 5.3.3 Chemistry
 - 5.3.4 Earth and Planetary Sciences
 - 5.3.5 Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering
 - 5.4 Social Sciences and Humanities, page 31
 - 5.4.1 Various Social Science and Humanities Units
 - 5.4.2 Law
 - 5.4.3 Library and Information Studies
 - 5.4.4 Management
 - 5.4.5 Music
 - 5.4.6 Religious Studies
 - 5.4.7 Social Work
- 6 Student Financial Assistance, page 41
 - 6.1 Government Student Aid, page 41
 - 6.1.1 Citizens and Permanent Residents of Canada
 - 6.1.2 Citizens and Permanent Residents of the United States
 - 6.2 McGill Student Aid, page 42
- 7 Postdoctoral Fellowships, page 43
 - 7.1 Internal Postdoctoral Fellowships, page 43
 - 7.2 External Postdoctoral Fellowships, page 44
- 8 Exchange and Travelling Fellowships, page 48
- 9 Index of Fellowships and Awards, page 55



1 Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, Fellowships and Awards Section

1.1 Location

Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office Fellowships and Awards Section James Administration Building, Room 400 845 Sherbrooke Street West Montreal, Quebec H3A 2T5 Canada

Telephone: (514) 398-3990

Fax: (514) 398-2626

E-mail: graduate.fellowships@mcgill.ca

Web: www.mcgill.ca/gps

1.2 Administrative Officers

Martha Crago; B.A., M.Sc.A., Ph.D.(McG.) Dean (Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies) and Associate Provost (Academic Programs)

J.A. Nemes; B.Sc.(Maryland), M.Sc., D.Sc.(GWU) (William Dawson Scholar)

Associate Dean (Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies)

Charlotte E. Légaré; B.Sc.(Montr.), M.Sc.(Sher.), M.B.A.(McG.)

Director, Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office

Claude Lalande, B.Sc.(Montr.), M.B.A.(McG.) Manager, Fellowships and Awards

1.3 A Message from the Dean

Graduate study and research in all scholarly, scientific and professional disciplines depends upon adequate financial support for students and postdoctoral fellows. At McGill University, the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, Fellowships and Awards Section provides information and administers several major McGill internal fellowship competitions each year. The Office also coordinates McGill applications and distributes information related to numerous graduate and postdoctoral fellowship and award competitions administered outside the University. The Office works closely with individual applicants, academic departments at McGill, and external granting agencies in order to facilitate applications for all these sources of funding.

This Graduate Fellowships and Awards Calendar is published yearly by the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office (GPSO), Fellowships and Awards Section to furnish current and prospective McGill students with information about financing graduate education. It contains descriptions of all of McGill's internal graduate fellowships, as well as many external fellowships tenable for graduate and postdoctoral level study. In addition to this Calendar, the Office maintains a computerized data bank of many other, smaller or more specialized external fellowships and awards.

Students seeking admission to a McGill graduate program should note that individual academic departments make decisions about admission. The GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section will be pleased to advise about possible sources of funding; however, applications for funding should be directed to the department into which admission is sought. Students already enrolled in graduate studies at McGill may apply for some fellowships on their own and some through the auspices of their academic department. Appropriate procedures for application vary according to the particular fellowship.

The staff of the Office are well informed and friendly, and encourage all current and prospective McGill students to visit, call, e mail or write to obtain further information on appropriate sources of funding for graduate education. Students should also consult

the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies web page for a useful and informative document entitled *Making Ends Meet* (www.mcgill.ca/gps/guidebook).

I wish you every success in obtaining adequate funding for your graduate studies.

Martha Crago, Ph.D. Dean (Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies) and Associate Provost (Academic Programs)

2 Financing Graduate Education

There are different ways to finance graduate studies at McGill University. A graduate student can:

- 1) win a fellowship from an external granting agency;
- 2) win an internal McGill Graduate Fellowship;
- win a McGill departmental or faculty award;
- obtain a stipend from their supervisor's research grant or contract;
- receive funding in the form of loans and bursaries from the federal or provincial government;
- receive a differential fee waiver for the international fee supplement.

In 2003-04, graduate students received over \$6 million in McGill fellowships and \$5 million in salaries. They also attracted approximately \$14 million in fellowship funding from Canadian and Quebec Government sources, as well as \$1.4 million in differential fee waivers for international students from the Quebec government. Over \$23 million from research grants and contracts was devoted to graduate student support. Preliminary estimates indicate that over \$4 million in fellowships was obtained through other external sources.

- 1) External Granting Agency Fellowships are listed in section 3, "External Fellowships". Currently, the value of awards offered by these agencies (including those supported by the Canadian and Quebec governments) varies from approximately \$15,000 to \$35,000 per year, and up to \$50,000 for health professionals. Many may be renewed. Application deadlines for the majority of external granting agency fellowships fall during October and November, for fellowships tenable in September of the following year. Fellowships offered by external granting agencies for postdoctoral level study and research are described in section 7, "Postdoctoral Fellowships". Opportunities for funding to pursue graduate study and research outside of Canada are listed in section 8, "Exchange and Travelling Fellowships".
- 2) McGill Graduate Fellowships are described in detail in section 4, "McGill Graduate Fellowships". McGill Major Fellowships (valued at \$10,000 - \$15,000 per year, for one or more years) are offered only to students already enrolled in a Master's or Doctoral program at McGill, who meet the specific eligibility requirements of the year's competition. Details regarding eligibility and specific deadlines for McGill Major Fellowships are available in early September from departments and the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section Website. For McGill students in the social science and humanities disciplines, the McGill Major Fellowship application deadline coincides with that of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC) doctoral fellowships competition (generally during the month of October). For McGill students in the natural science and engineering, and medical science disciplines the deadline coincides with that of the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) Postgraduate Scholarships competition (generally during the month of October). All students are advised to check deadlines with their departments during the summer.

Students need not be eligible for funding through external agencies in order to apply for a McGill Major Fellowship. However, all applicants for McGill Major funding must, if eligible, have applied to CIHR, SSHRC or NSERC and, if eligible, to the Quebec funding agencies: Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature et les

Technologies (FQRNT), Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Société et la Culture (FQRSC) or Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ).

Application forms for the McGill Major Fellowships are available to students currently enrolled at McGill from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Website at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships under the Fall section of the Graduate Competitions page. Completed application forms and all supporting documents should be returned directly to the academic department. No documentation should be sent to the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section. Applications for McGill Graduate Fellowships tenable beginning in September 2006 must be received by McGill departments during the Fall semester of 2005 (check with departments for specific deadlines).

In addition to the McGill Major Fellowships for continuing graduate students, McGill University provides a number of Recruitment Fellowships. There are two types of Recruitment Fellowships. Some are awarded through a specific competition, such as the "Richard H. Tomlinson Fellowships" (section 4.1.1), and the Max Stern McCord Museum Fellowships (see section 4.1.4, "Discipline-specific Recruitment Fellowships"). Others, such as the "Max Stern Recruitment Fellowships" (section 4.1.2), and the MGSF Fellowships, see "Multidisciplinary" (section 5.1) are allocated to selected academic departments for outstanding applicants seeking first admission to graduate studies at McGill during the following academic year. All applicants for first-time graduate admission are automatically considered by departments for a recruitment fellowship, if the unit has one to offer. In most cases, there are no application forms as awards are based exclusively on departmental nomination. However, students are strongly advised to consult the Recruitment Fellowships section below, as nomination for some fellowships (such as the Tomlinson) can involve an earlier application deadline. For additional information, students should also consult the academic unit from which they request admission.

- 3) McGill Departmental and Faculty Awards are listed in section 5, "Fellowships awarded by Departments and Faculties". It is the responsibility of the department, academic unit or faculty administering these awards to determine deadlines and values. Consequently, they vary greatly. For more information regarding departmental and faculty awards, the student should contact the Graduate Studies Coordinator or Director of the academic unit in which he/she intends to study.
- 4) Stipends from Research Grants or Contracts provide an important source of support for graduate students in research programs. A faculty member can, when they apply for research grants, budget for support of graduate students to work on their thesis or project research. Several granting agencies allow the support to be treated as scholarship income for the student. Granting agencies usually specify either a minimum or maximum value for a stipend. Students should, at the time of admission, enquire with their proposed supervisor or department on the availability of stipends
- 5) Loans and Bursaries are administered by the province in which the student is deemed to be a resident. Basic qualifications are that the applicant is a full-time student and a Canadian citizen; certain categories of Permanent Residents may also be eligible. The Quebec Student Loan and Canada Student Loan programs operate exclusively on the basis of financial need. Several provinces augment their loan programs with a loan forgiveness programs to help students reduce their debt loads. The McGill Student Aid Office provides information regarding application procedures of these government loan programs. The Student Aid Office also administers institutional need-based funding including short-term loans to cover emergency situations, limited bursary assistance, and a Work/Study program. Further information is provided in section 6, "Student Financial Assistance".

6) Differential Fee Waivers for International Students are available through three mechanisms: (a) McGill University is allocated a number of Differential Fee Waivers (DFWs) that it allocates through the departments. International students should enquire with their department for information regarding how to aply for these. (b) International students who register in Master's and Doctoral studies in French Language and Literature or Master's studies in Second Language Education (French as a Second Language) are exempt from the international supplement. (c) All students from France and a limited number of students from countries that entered bilateral agreements with Quebec have access to DFWs. Except for French citizens, students from such countries (see section 4.6, "Differential Fee Waivers") should apply to their home country for a DFW during the application process for admission.

2.1 General Fellowships Information

When an external fellowship announcement received by the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section is of particular interest to a specific department or academic unit, the information is forwarded to that unit for posting and/or circulation. In addition, announcements of general interest are posted on the bulletin board outside the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section, James Administration Building, Room 400. The GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section maintains a small collection of reference books on funding for graduate study. These may be consulted at the reception desk.

2.2 Reference Books

In addition to the resources offered by the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section, those seeking support for graduate study are encouraged to consult one or more of the many reference books and directories on the subject. Many major libraries, including McGill's McLennan Library, have publications listing fellowships and awards for graduate study, including the following:

The Awards Almanac;

Annual Register of Grant Support;

Awards for Postgraduate Study at Commonwealth Universities;

Directory of Financial Aids for Women;

Directory of Research Grants;

The Foundation Grants Index:

The Grants Register;

Study Abroad;

Scholarships, Fellowships, and Loans.

2.3 Funding Information on the Web

The Fellowships and Awards calendar is accessible on the Web at www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships under Publications. The GPSO site also contains specific information on competitions and links to the sites of various funding agencies as well as forms for several McGill fellowships and awards that may be downloaded.

The Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office also publishes a general guide on funding strategies entitled *Making Ends Meet*, which can also be found at www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships under Publications.

McGill University subscribes to the SPIN database for sources of research funding. The database is accessible free of charge to the end user from any computer on the McGill domain (or in any other participating university/institution). The database now carries a number of graduate and postdoctoral fellowships, scholarships, awards, prizes, etc. Access to the SPIN database as well as search tips can be found at www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships on the Publications page. While a large database of research funding opportunities, SPIN is not complete or exhaustive. Prospective applicants or students looking to secure funding should use other means as well (this calendar and the McGill Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office Website are two other places to start).

Information for international students and fellows wishing to study in Canada is available from the Canadian Bureau for International Education (CBIE) Website at www.destineducation.ca.

2.4 Information for International Students and Fellows

Funding opportunities for international students are not as plentiful as they are for Canadians. This is because many forms of assistance provided by the federal and provincial governments are offered to Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents of Canada only. Opportunities for supplementing fellowship income by employment are also scarcer since international students and their dependents are not normally permitted by Canadian immigration authorities to work outside the university. Immigration officials also require all international students entering Canada to provide proof that they possess sufficient funds to cover at least one academic year's stay in Canada as well as return fare home. McGill's International Student Advisor suggests that single students have a minimum of \$18,000 for living expenses, in addition to tuition and ancillary fees, for every twelve months of study in Canada.

Non-Canadian students can, nonetheless, draw on a considerable variety of fellowships and other forms of assistance. There are several large, multi-disciplinary programs specifically aimed at funding students from abroad who are studying in Canada. These include: the Canadian Commonwealth Scholarship and Fellowship Program, the Government of Canada Awards to Foreign Nationals, the Technical Assistance Scholarships and Fellowships and the Canadian Fellowship Program for French- Speaking Countries, funded by the Canadian International Development Agency (CIDA). Applications for all these programs must be made through the government of the applicant's home country, usually via the Ministry of Education. Applications sent by individuals directly to Canada cannot be considered.

In addition, many of McGill's Graduate Fellowships, as well as many of the fellowships and prizes offered by various McGill departments and faculties, are offered without any restrictions concerning nationality. Unless otherwise specified in the description, fellowships listed in this brochure are open to students from all countries. International students should also note that the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office grants some differential fee waivers making it possible for some non-Canadian students to pay reduced foreign fees. Some students may also qualify for differential fee waivers accorded as a result of bilateral agreements between Canada and their home country. See section 4.6, "Differential Fee Waivers", as well as section 8, "Exchange and Travelling Fellowships".

Additional information on opportunities for financial assistance available to international graduate students and fellows can be found in the UNESCO publication *Study Abroad*, available for consultation at the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section, McLennan Library, as well as many national libraries around the world. *Study Abroad* can also be purchased directly from UNESCO distributors in member countries. The Canadian Bureau for International Education (CBIE) produces a free brochure entitled *Study in Canada*, available on the Web at www.cbie.ca or upon request to: CBIE, 220 Laurier Avenue West, Suite 1550, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5Z9 (613) 237-4820 (phone). International students may also find some general information regarding university study in Canada at various Canadian consulates and embassy offices abroad.

3 External Fellowships

External Fellowships are a major component of graduate student funding at McGill. The primary sources of external fellowships are the Federal Research Councils and the Quebec Provincial Research Funds which provided approximately \$10 million. The three Quebec agencies are: the Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature et les Technologies (FQRNT), the Fonds Québécois de la Recherce sur la Société et la Culture (FQRSC) and the Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ). The Federal

Councils are: the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC), and the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC). The balance of external fellowships comes from a variety of award programs sponsored by private companies, agencies, foundations, other provincial and federal government agencies, as well as foreign governments and organizations. For every dollar that McGill graduate students received through the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, approximately eight dollars was received from external fellowships.

Students who wish to be considered for graduate level funding from external sources should contact the specific funding agency directly, as well as the McGill department where they intend to undertake graduate study and/or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section in order to ascertain their individual eligibility and specific program application or nomination procedures. Competitions often take place one full year ahead of award tenure, therefore it is advisable to make inquiries well in advance of the date when funding is required. The GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section maintains up-to-date information and application forms for many externally funded award programs and will provide this when possible to interested individuals. It is, however, the responsibility of the applicant to verify directly with the agency all application procedures and deadlines, since these are subject to change each vear.

Almost all funding agencies now have Websites which provide detailed information about funding opportunities, elegibility and the application process. Here is a brief list of some of the largest funding sources. This is by no means a complete list and students are encouraged to consult the rest of the calendar in detail as well as to make use of the SPIN Database by InfoEd International to which McGill University subscribes. SPIN is available under the Publications menu of the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Website (www.mcgill.ca/gps).

National and Provincial Research Councils:

FQRNT (formerly FCAR) - www.nateq.gouv.qc.ca

FQRSC (formerly FCAR) - www.fqrsc.gouv.qc.ca

FRSQ - www.frsq.gouv.qc.ca

CIHR - www.cihr.ca

NRC - www.nrc.ca

NSERC - www.nserc.ca

Ontario Graduate School -

http://osap.gov.on.ca/eng/not_secure/OGS.htm

SSHRC - www.sshrc.ca

Some Associations oversee the administration of several different fellowships, scholarships and other forms of research funding :

AUCC - www.aucc.ca

British Council - www.educationuk.org/

Canada Council - www.canadacouncil.ca

CBIE - www.cbie.ca

ICCS - www.iccs-ciec.ca

These sites may be of interest to international students:

DAAD - www.daad.org

Ambassade de France au Canada - www.ambafranceca.org/hyperlab

World Bank - www.worldbank.org/wbi/scholarships/

EXTERNAL FELLOWSHIPS AND MCGILL FELLOWSHIPS

Students need not be eligible for funding through an external agency named above in order to apply for a McGill Major Fellowship. However, all applicants for McGill Major funding must, if eligible, have applied to CIHR, SSHRC or NSERC and, if eligible to the Quebec funding agency Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature et les Techologies (FQRNT), Fonds Québécois de la Recherce sur la Société et la Culture (FQRSC) or Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ).

TRANSCRIPTS AND DEADLINES

To obtain transcripts for larger external award competitions including FQRNT (formerly FCAR), FQRSC, FRSQ (formerly FCAR), NSERC and SSHRC, students must apply to their departmental graduate office several weeks prior to the application deadline. Students should check with their department or the Fellowships and Awards Section about all transcript ordering procedures and deadlines.

Deadlines for graduate and postdoctoral scholarships, fellowships and awards competitions from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC), Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC), Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR), Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature et les Technologies (FQRNT), Fonds Québécois de la Recherce sur la Société et la Culture (FQRSC), and the Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) generally fall in early October. Students should therefore begin planning their external applications as early as August. The applicant is responsible for fulfilling the application requirement and using the forms for the current year. If the application form for the current year is not available in August, the student should nevertheless proceed to draft a proposed plan of study and research and discuss it with two faculty members, who can later serve as referees.

The following alphabetical listing of external fellowships indicates deadlines, application requirements and values as known to the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section at the time of publication of this Calendar. It is the responsibility of the applicant to verify directly with the agency all application procedures and deadlines. In cases where the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section maintains an information file on a particular external fellowship, an "OFA" file number has been given. Please refer to this number when requesting information from the Office.

ALCAN RESEARCH FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Applicants must be enrolled or accepted for full-time graduate studies, in a field of pure or applied science related to Alcan's activities. Preference is given to Canadian citizens or permanent residents. Each recipient of an Alcan Research Fellowship will be linked with a researcher in one of Alcan's Canadian laboratories.

Value: \$18,000 for Master's, renewable once; \$20,000 for Ph.D.s, renewable twice. One fellowship per university per year.

Deadline: December 1 (may vary).

Application: Applicants must submit a research project in one of the following fields: Raw Materials, Smelting process, Production Materials, Aluminum Metallurgy, Aluminum Use, Environment, Analytic Techniques, Modelling and Information Systems. Further information regarding application procedure available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

OFA # 487

ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITIES AND COLLEGES OF CANADA (AUCC) – NATIONAL FELLOWSHIPS PROGRAM

AUCC administers several fellowship competitions for graduate study at Canadian universities. Those programs and scholarships currently available to graduate students are listed below. In most cases, candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents of Canada for at least one year prior to application. Information concerning eligibility, tenure, as well as application forms available from the Canadian Awards program, Awards Division, Association of Universities and Colleges (AUCC), 350 Albert Street, Suite 600, Ottawa, Ontario K1R 1B1. Tel: (613) 563-1236, www.aucc.ca.

- Cable Telecommunications Research Fellowship (Canadian Cable Telecommunications Association)
- Canada-Latin America and the Caribbean Research Exchange Grants
- · Canada-Mexico Graduate Study Grant Program
- · Cyber Space for Francophone Africa
- · Frank Knox Memorial Fellowships Program
- International Space University 2005 Summer Session

 The Department of National Defence Security and Defence Forum"

Internship Program MA Scholarship Program PhD Scholarship Program

R.B. Byers postdoctoral Fellowship Program

- · Partnerships for Tomorrow Program Phase II
- Public Safety And Emergency Preparedness Canada Research Fellowships Program in honour of Stuart Nesbitt White
- The Canadian Wireless Telecommunications Association Graduate Scholarship
- The Consortium for Economic Policy Research and Advice
- The Frederick T. Metcalf Award Program (Canadian Cable Telecommunications Association)
- The Japan Foundation Programs
- University Mobility in Asia and the Pacific (UMAP)
- · University Partnerships in Cooperation and Development

BRUNO M. CORMIER RESEARCH FUND

Eligibility: Awarded to Master's or doctoral level students conducting research in the humanities and social sciences relating to intervention with detained young offenders.

Value: \$5,000, non-renewable.

Deadline: April 21.

Application: Forms are available from the Fonds de recherche Bruno M. Cormier; from the Fondation québécoise pour les jeunes contrevenants, 75 carré Sir Georges-Étienne-Cartier, Montréal, QC H4C 3A1. Telephone and Fax: (514) 648-5858. E-mail: fondationjc@qc.aira.com

or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

OFA # 321

CANADA COUNCIL GRANTS

Eligibility: Grants are awarded for graduate level study in music. Other disciplines such as architecture, creative writing, art education, and communications are considered if the work is not primarily concerned with academic research. Various short-term project grants are also available in these disciplines.

Deadlines: Vary with the disciplines.

Application: Forms can be obtained by writing to the Arts Awards Service, Canada Council, PO Box 1047, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5V8 1. Telephone: 1-800-263-5588 ext. 4138 or 4033 or 4075. Website: www.canadacouncil.ca.

OFA # 383

CANADA GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIPS

In 2003, the Canadian Government announced the creation of new Canadian Graduate Scholarshps, to be administered by the three funding councils: CIHR, NSERC and SSHRC. Details can be found under the graduate scholarship/fellowships sections of the three council Websites, as well as on our Website. Students who apply for master's or doctoral funding from these agencies are automatically considered for Canada Graduate Scholarships. To qualify, you need to apply for CIHR, NSERC or SSHRC graduate funding.

Value: Master's: \$17,500; Doctoral: \$35,000.

Please consult www.mcgill.ca/gps, under Fellowships and Awards for further information.

CANADIAN COUNCIL OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS (CCPE) NATIONAL SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Candidates must be registered as full members with one of the provincial or territorial professional engineering associations, and have been accepted for post-graduate studies by a recognized university.

Value: \$7,500 - \$10,000.

Manulife Financial Scholarship: three scholarships of \$10,000 each for engineers returning to university for further study or research in an engineering related field.

Meloche Monnex Scholarship: two scholarships of \$7,500 for engineers returning to university for further study or research in a field other than engineering.

Encon Endowment: \$7,500 will be awarded for studies in the area of engineering failure investigation and/or strength of materials.

Deadline: March 1.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from The National Scholarship Program, Canadian Council of Professional Engineers, 180 Elgin St., Suite 1100, Ottawa, Ontario K2P 2K3. Telephone: (613) 232-2474; Website: www.ccpe.ca/e/index.cfm OFA # 227

CANADIAN ENGINEERING MEMORIAL FOUNDATION – CLAUDETTE MCKAY-LASSONDE SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: For female citizens of Canada or Permanent Residents enrolled full-time in a graduate engineering program at the Ph.D. level. This Scholarship is based primarily on demonstrated leadership, community involvement and extracurricular activities with special emphasis on those that help attract women to or encourage them to remain in engineering. Engineering achievement is also considered in awarding the Scholarship, and will be interpreted to include both research contributions and work experience. Applicants must be willing to act as role models and to promote engineering, particularly to young women.

Value: \$15,000.

Deadline: Applications must be postmarked by January 21st. Applications must be submitted through the office of the Dean of Engineering to the Foundation. There is no limitation on the number of applications each university may submit, though only one award is offered each year.

Application: Forms are available from the Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation, P.O. Box 370, Renfrew, Ontario, K7V 4A6, Tel. and Fax: 1-866-883-CEMF

Website:

 $www.cemf.ca/Scholarships/GradScholarships/GradAppGuideline \\ s.htm$

E-mail: info@cemf.ca.

OFA # 9

CANADIAN FEDERATION OF UNIVERSITY WOMEN FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Open to women who, at time of application, are citizens of Canada or who have held Permanent Resident status for at least one year, have been accepted into the proposed place of study and hold at least a Bachelor's degree or equivalent from a recognized university. Usually given to students already enrolled in a program.

Value: A number of fellowships at the Master's and doctoral level, ranging in value from \$3,000 to \$11,000 are available.

Deadline: November 30.

Application: For more information and application forms, write to CFUW National Office, 251 Bank Street, Suite 600, Ottawa, Ontario K2P 1X3. Telephone: (613) 234-2732. Website: www.cfuw.org/english/fellowship.html.

OFA #31

CANADIAN INSTITUTES OF HEALTH RESEARCH (CIHR) – DOCTORAL RESEARCH AWARDS

Eligibility: Open to Canadian citizens and Permanent Residents of Canada, engaged in full-time studies at the Ph.D. level in a discipline funded by the CIHR, normally under the supervision of a researcher who holds a CIHR grant. At the time of application, candidates must have completed between 12 and 36 months of graduate studies. Please note that health professionals may also be funded for doctoral studies through the Fellowship program (see postdoctoral section).

Value: From \$20,500.up to 35,000 for a maximum of 3 years. **Deadline:** October 15, directly to the CIHR office.

Application: Application forms and the Grants and Awards Guide are available only on the Web. Further information is available from GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 160 Elgin Street, 9th Floor, Address Locator 4809A, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0W9.

Website: www.cihr.ca.

CANADIAN INSTITUTES OF HEALTH RESEARCH (CIHR) - CIHR CGS MASTER'S AWARDS

Eligibility: The program is open to Canadian citizens and permanent residents. At the time of the CIHR deadline for application, candidates must have completed or be in the last year of a bachelor degree or have been registered for no more than 10 months as a full-time student in a Master's program. Only those students engaged in full-time Master's programs in which research is a major component are eligible for support. Please note that health professionals may also be funded for master's studies through the Fellowship program (see postdoctoral section).

Value: \$17,500.

Deadline: To be announced through the Canadian university at which you are currently registered.

Application: Application forms and Awards Guide are available only on the Web. Further information is available from GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or Canadian Institutes of Health Research, 160 Elgin Street, 9th Floor, Address Locator 4809A, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0W9. Website: www.cihr.ca.

CANADIAN JAPANESE MENNONITE SCHOLARSHIP

This scholarship is sponsored by the National Association of Japanese Canadians and the Mennonite Central Committee Canada and was established to serve as a tangible symbol of an apology made to Japanese Canadians on behalf of Canadian Mennonites.

Eligibility: Open to Canadian students studying at Canadian universities at the graduate level. Some preference is given to facilitate academic work related to the Japanese Canadian experience. However, academic work related to other Canadian minorities will also be seriously considered.

Value: \$2,000. Deadline: April 1.

Application: Information and application forms available from Mennonite Central Committee Canada, Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Program, 134 Plaza Drive

Winnipeg, Manitoba R3T 5K9. Telephone: (204) 261-6381 or 1-888-622-6337. E-mail: canada@menmonitecc.ca. Website: www.mcc.org/getinv/scholar.html.

OFA#66

CHIANG CHING-KUO FOUNDATION FELLOWSHIP AWARDS (PH.D. DISSERTATION)

Eligibility: Doctoral candidates in the field of Chinese studies may apply for grants to help finance the completion of their dissertations. Applicants must have completed all requirements for their Ph.D. degree except for the dissertation and must not be employed or receiving grants from other sources. All applicants must be or become members in good standing of the Canadian Asian Studies Association.

Value: Varies depending on availability of funds and needs of applicant.

Deadline: February 1.

Application: Further information and application forms are available from Canadian Asian Studies Association CCASLS SB-115, c/o Concordia University, 1455 de Maisonneuve West, Montreal, Quebec H3G 1M8. Telphone: (514) 848-2280; Fax: (514) 848-4514. E-mail: casa@concordia.ca. Website: http://canadianasianstudies.concordia.ca/htm/ccke.htm.

OFA # 113

SPECIAL LIBRARIES ASSOCIATION (SLA) SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM

Eligibility: The SLA's program consists of awards for graduate study leading to a Master's Degree, graduate study leading to a Ph.D., and for post-M.L.S. study. SLA also offers grants for research projects for the advancement of library sciences, the support of programs developed by SLA Chapters, Divisions, or Committees, and the support of the Association's expanding international agenda, as well as various grants and scholarships offered by the chapters, divisions and other units for conference attendance and education aid.

Value: Varies depending on the award sought.

Deadline: Varies depending on the award sought, many are October 31.

Application: For more information and application materials, see the SLA's Scholarships and Grants page: www.sla.org/content/learn/scholarship/index.cfm or contact Special Libraries Association, 331 South Patrick Street, Alexandria, VA 22314-3501 USA. Telephone: 1-703-647-4900, Fax: 1-703-647-4901. E-mail: sla@sla.org. Website: www.sla.org (Association's home page).

METEOROLOGICAL SERVICE OF CANADA GRADUATE SUPPLEMENTS

Eligibility: These supplements provide financial support to highcalibre students working towards a master's or doctoral degree in atmospheric or meteorological sciences or related fields. The MSC offers a maximum of 5 supplements annually. This supplement program is available to you only if you are awarded an NSERC CGS, PGS or IPS.

Value: If you are a successful applicant, the MSC will supplement your NSERC scholarship by \$5,000 a year for as long as you hold an NSERC postgraduate scholarship or a Canada Graduate Scholarship and continue to conduct research in the atmospheric or meteorological sciences.

Deadline: June 1 of the year in which you are awarded your post-graduate scholarship.

Application: For more information, consult the NSERC Meteorological Service of Canada Graduate Supplements Website at: www.nserc.gc.ca/sf_e.asp?nav=sfnav&lbi=2b_12
For more information about this scholarship supplement, contact Ms. Cathy Hayes, Office of the Director General, Atmospheric and Climate Science Directorate, Meteorological Service of Canada, Environment Canada, 4905 Dufferin St.

Toronto, Ontario M3H 5T4. Telephone: (416) 739-4877, Fax: (416) 739-4265. E-mail: cathy.hayes@ec.gc.ca. Website: www.nserc.gc.ca.

OFA # 178

FONDATION DESJARDINS - BOURSES DE MAÎTRISE ET DE DOCTORAT, PROGRAMME GIRARDIN -VAILLANCOURT

Eligibility: Applicants must be Canadian citizens, residing in Quebec, who will be undertaking full-time graduate study at a recognized university.

Value: Nineteen awards from \$5,000 to \$7,000, offered annually to Master's or doctoral students in all fields.

Deadline: March 1.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section and La Fondation Desjardins 1, Complexe Desjardins, C.P. 7, Succ. Desjardins, Montréal, Québec H5B 1B2. Telephone: (514) 281-7171. Website: www.desjardins.com/fr/a_propos/profil/engagement/bourses.

OFA # 198

FONDATION DESJARDINS - SUBVENTIONS DE RECHERCHE

Eligibility: Open to Canadian citizens, residing in Québec. **Value:** Awards of \$7,500, \$15,000 or \$25,000 spread over a one or two-year period are available to doctoral students studying a particular theme selected annually.

Deadline: April 1.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section and La Fondation Desjardins, Programme Subvention de recherche, 1, Complexe Desjardins, C.P. 7, Succ. Desjardins, Montréal, Québec H5B 1B2. Telephone: (514) 281-7171. Website: www.desjardins.com/fr/a_propos/profil/engagement/bourses/subventions_recherche.jsp.

OFA # 257

FONDATION DU PRÊT D'HONNEUR BOURSE - PROJET

Eligibility: Established in 1944 by the Société Saint-Jean-Baptiste de Montréal, La fondation du prêt d'honneur offers a project bursary to a university student whose social science research pertains to the socio-economic development of Quebec. The student must be a Canadian citizen or Permanent Resident, be enrolled full-time at a recognized university and demonstrate the skills necessary to undertake a research project.

Value: \$3,000 for one year, renewable.

Deadline: February 1.

Application: Information and application materials available from La Fondation du prêt d'honneur, Maison Ludger-Duvernay 82, rue Sherbrooke ouest, Montréal, Québec H2X 1X3. Telephone: (514) 843-8851. E-mail: rphilpot@ssjb.com. Website: www.ssjb.com

OFA # 50

FONDS QUÉBÉCOIS DE LA RECHERCHE SUR LA NATURE ET LES TECHNOLOGIES (FQRNT) (FORMERLY FCAR)/ FONDS DE RECHERCHE SUR LA SOCIÉTÉ ET LA CULTURE (FQRSC) BOURSES D'ÉTUDES DE CYCLES SUPÉRIEURS DE PERFECTIONNEMENT ET DE RÉINTÉGRATION À LA RECHERCHE

Eligibility: All fields, except the health sciences and human health research, are eligible for funding. There are also special programs in the arts, aerospace studies, natural resources and transport, as well as programs for persons returning to graduate studies. Students in the health sciences or undertaking research pertaining to human health should consult the FRSQ Web site. Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents of Canada and residents of Quebec as defined by la Loi et le Règlement sur l'assurance- maladie du Québec. Master's and doctoral level awards are tenable in Quebec and elsewhere.

Value: \$15,000 Master's level; \$20,000 doctoral level per year (renewable); other awards in specific fields are also available.

Deadline: Applicants with no university affiliation, to FQRNT in October. Applicants enrolled at McGill, to student's current department in October (check www.mcgill.ca/gps for precise deadlines).

Application: Fellowships Guide and application forms are only available on the Web. Further information available from McGill GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section, graduate departments or from FQRNT, 140, Grande-Allée est, bureau 450, Québec, Québec G1R 5M8. Telephone: (418) 643-8560 or 1-888-653-6512. Websites: www.fqrnt.gouv.qc.ca and www.fqrsc.gouv.qc.ca.

OFA # 371

FOND DE LA RECHERCE EN SANTÉ DU QUÉBEC (FRSQ)

Eligibility: Students in the health sciences or undertaking research pertaining to human health. Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents of Canada and residents of Quebec as defined by la Loi et le Règlement sur l'assurance-maladie du Québec. Master's and doctoral level awards are tenable in Quebec and elsewhere.

Value: \$15,000 Master's level; \$20,000 doctoral level per year (renewable); other awards in specific fields are also available. A special program for health professionals is also available.

Deadline: October 15 directly to FRSQ.

Application: Fellowships Guide and application forms are only available on the Web. Further information available from McGill GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section, graduate, departments or from FRSQ, 500, rue Sherbrooke Ouest, Suite 800, Montréal, Québec H3A 3C6. Telephone: (514) 873-2114. Fax: (514) 873-8768. Website: www.frsq.gouv.qc.ca.

G.G. ALLAN ROEHER INSTITUTE RESEARCH GRANTS IN THE FIELD OF INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES FOR GRADUATE STUDENTS

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents and be accepted into a full-time graduate program at a Canadian university. Field: a broad range of fields relating to human services and intellectual disabilities. Applicants must have definite research projects, supported by an academic advisor or an associate of the G.G. Allan Roeher Institute.

Value: Up to \$10,000. **Deadline:** April 30.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from The Secretary, Bursaries and Grants Committee, The Roeher Institute, Kinsmen Bldg., York University, 4700 Keele Street, North York, Ontario M3J 1P3. Telephone: (416) 661-9611.

OFA # 173

INSTITUT DE RECHERCHE EN SANTÉ ET EN SÉCURITÉ DU TRAVAIL DU QUÉBEC (IRSST) BOURSES DE RECHERCHE

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents, domiciled in Quebec, who wish to gain research training in the field of occupational health and safety in a laboratory setting or as a member of a recognized team.

Value: \$14,100 for the Master's program and for the Ph.D. . level, \$18,000 up to \$24,000 for studies outside Canada. Tuition fees in excess of \$750 are paid for students taking up the award outside of Quebec. The fellowships are awarded for one year and can be renewed.

Deadline: To IRSST by first Tuesday in November.

Application: Forms are available from GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section, McGill Department of Occupational Health, Charles Meredith House, 1130 Pine Avenue, or from Institut de recherche en santé et en sécurité du travail du Québec, 505, boul. de Maisonneuve ouest, Montréal, Québec H3A 3C2. Telphone: (514) 288-1551. E-mail: bourses@irsst.qc.ca. Website: www.irsst.qc.ca.

OFA # 463

INSTITUT DE RECHERCHE EN SANTÉ ET EN SÉCURITÉ DU TRAVAIL DU QUÉBEC (IRSST) BOURSES THÉMATIQUES (3^E CYCLE) EN INGÉNIERIE

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents, reside in Quebec and must possess a Master's degree in Engineering. Selection is based on the candidate's academic merit and experience in scientific research. Projects must be clearly related to safety in the work place.

Value: \$20,000 - \$30,000 (renewable).

Deadline: To IRSST by first Tuesday in November.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or McGill Department of Occupational Health, Charles Meredith House, 1130 Pine Avenue, or IRSST, 505 de Maisonneuve Blvd W., Montreal, Quebec H3A 3C2. Telephone: (514) 288-1551, E-mail: bourses@irsst.qc.ca. Website: www.irsst.qc.ca.

OFA # 463

IODE WAR MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIPS FOR DOCTORAL STUDY IN CANADA OR OTHER COMMONWEALTH COUNTRIES

The International Order of the Daughters of the Empire (IODE) established these scholarships to honor the memory of the men and women who gave their lives in World Wars I and II. There is no restriction on field of study.

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens holding a degree from a recognized university or degree-granting college in Canada and at time of application, must be enrolled in a program at the doctoral level, or expect to be in said program by the date tenure begins.

Value: Nine awards are tenable in any university in Canada or the Commonwealth, valued at \$15,000 for study in Canada and \$15,000, renewable, for study overseas within the Commonwealth.

Deadline: Must be submitted by December 1 to the "War Memorial Convener" of the province where the applicant received his/her Bachelor's degree.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements, addresses of current provincial "War Memorial Conveners" and application forms are available from IODE Head Office, 40 Orchard View Blvd., Suite 254, Toronto, Ontario. Telephone: (416) 487-4416.

OFA # 22

J. BOLTON SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents and must have completed an undergraduate degree in Canada. Available to students in or entering a program of study toward a graduate degree in Engineering. Preference to Master's level candidates, though doctoral candidates will be considered. This award is tenable only at Canadian universities and colleges.

Value: \$1,000. Deadline: June 1.

Application: Students should contact the society directly for application information, as the process may vary somewhat depending on the timing of the application, the number of applicants and the availability of funds in any particular year. Solar Energy Society of Canada, McLaughlin Hall, 406, Queen's University, Kingston, On K7L 3N6, Telephone: (613) 533-2657. Fax: (613) 533-6550. E-mail: info@solarenergysociety.ca.

OFA # 494

J.H. STEWART REID MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Field: Unrestricted, can be held at any Canadian university: Eligibility: Applicants must prove to be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents. They must be registered in a doctoral program at a Canadian university and have completed their comprehensive examinations, or equivalent, and have had their Doctoral thesis proposal accepted by April 30th. Applicants must also have a first-class academic record.

Value: Minimum of \$5,000 non-renewable.

Deadline: April 30.

Application: Information regarding application requirements and forms are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section and from Awards Officer, Canadian Association of University Teachers, 2675 Queensview Drive, Ottawa, Ontario K2B 8K2. Tel: (613) 820-2270. E-mail: acppu@caut.ca, www.caut.ca. Please note that applications are made online.

Visit the CAUT site at: www.caut.ca. For information about the award and the online application form, see http://stewartreid.caut.ca/English/default.htm. A French version is available - to access it, navigate from the main web page.

OFA # 394

INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH CENTRE (IDRC) FELLOWSHIPS AND RESEARCH FUNDING

Eligibility: The IDRC administers a number of fellowships and funding opportunities for students conducting research in development-related disciplines. As there are several programs targeting several different areas, students are advised to consult the IDRC website to see if the available funding opportunities are applicable to their research. As the programs are related to development, many supoport some form of research abroad. More travel-intensive programs are to be found under the IDRC entry in the "Exchange and Travelling Fellowships" (section 8). Those included here are available to Canadians and permanent residents and focus more on the subject matter of the project than on the location of tenure of the funding. Each of the programs supported by the IDRC is also made available as targeted funding for students from developing countries. See the IDRC Website listed below for more details.

- Canadian Window on International Development Awards
- Community Forestry: Trees and People John G. Bene Fellowship
- · Ecosystem Approaches to Human Health Training Awards
- AGROPOLIS: International Graduate Research Awards in Urban Agriculture

Value: Varies depending on the program. **Deadline:** Varies depending on the program.

Application: Website: www.idrc.ca

Mailing address:PO Box 8500, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1G 3H9 Street address: 250 Albert Street, Ottawa, ON, Canada, K1P 6M1 Phone: (613) 236-6163, Fax: (+1-613) 238-7230. Email: info@idrc.ca

OFA # 1

JOINT JAPAN/ WORLD BANK GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: These scholarships target students from developing or non-industrialized countries (one cannot reside in an industrialized country for more than one year and students must be nationals of World Bank member countries eligible to borrow). It funds study in a development-related university master's degree program (PhDs and MBAs are not eligible). Students must be applying to such a degree and submit evidence of unconditional admission to a university and evidence of application to at least one other program. Preference is given to applicants with more than one offer of admission. Applicants must also have at least 2, preferably 4 or 5, years of recent full-time professional work experience in the applicant's home country or in another developing country after a university degree. Applicants must be between 25 and 45 years of age. As there are additional restrictive eligibility criteria, please read these on the website before considering application (www.worldbank.org/wbi/scholarships/scholarshipsEnglish/about/eligibil-

Value: Aproximately \$30,000 (US), including travel, tuition, medical insurance; renewable once.

Deadline: March 31.

Application: Information and application forms available from Joint Japan/World Bank Graduate Scholarships Program, 1818 H Street NW, Washington, DC 20433 USA. Tel: (202) 473-6849. Email: jjwbgsp@worldbank.org.

Website: www.worldbank.org/wbi/scholarships.

The application form is available as a PDF at: www.world-bank.org/wbi/scholarships/scholarshipsEnglish/about/how_to_apply.html#pdf_appl

OFA # 448

KREBS MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: The scholarship is primarily intended to help candidates who wish to study for a Ph.D., in Biochemistry or an allied biomedical science, but whose careers have been interrupted for non-academic reasons beyond their control. Tenable at any British university.

Value: A personal maintenance grant at an appropriate level and all necessary fees (equivalent to a Canadian Institutes of Health Research Studentship). Awarded for one year, but may be renewed up to a maximum tenure of three years. Offered in alternate years.

Application: Next competition 2005. Through the university department concerned. Forms may be obtained from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section; from the Administration Manager, The Biochemical Society, 59 Portland Place, London, England, W1B 1QW. E-mail: alison.mcwhinnie@biochemistry.org Telephone: 020 7299 4439, Fax: 020 7637 3626

Website: www.biochemsoc.org.uk/admin/krebs.htm

OFA # 475

MACKENZIE KING OPEN SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Open to graduates of any Canadian university for full-time postgraduate studies in Canada or elsewhere and, in any field. McGill only considers undergraduate applicants with First Class Honours Standing (CGPA of 3.7 or higher) and graduate applicants with cumulative "straight A" records. Applicants who hold undergraduate degrees from McGill and who apply through McGill are automatically considered for the Delta Upsilon and Peacock Memorial Scholarships. Applicants considering study abroad in the U.S. or U.K. in international or industrial relations (including international or industrial aspects of law, history, politics, economics) should see the Mackenzie King Travelling Scholarship described in "Exchange and Travelling Fellowships" (section 8).

Value: One scholarship of \$7,000 (subject to change).

Deadline: February 1 to applicant's home university. Verify McGill's deadline with the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section

Application: Application is made through the "home" university, i.e, the Canadian university where the applicant is registered or from which the applicant has received the most recent degree.

Further information and application forms are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Web site at:

www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships/grad/winter/mackenzie-king. Prospective applicants should also contact the agency at Mackenzie King Scholarships Competition Office, c/o J. Blom, Curtis Building, 1822 East Mall, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, British Columbia V6T 1Z1. Telephone: (604) 822-4564, Fax: (604) 822-8108. E-mail: mkingscholarships@law.ubc.ca. Website: www.mkingscholarships.ca.

OFA # 353

MELLON FELLOWSHIPS IN THE HUMANITIES

Eligibility: Citizens or Permanent Residents of the United States, presenting outstanding academic promise, and wishing to begin graduate work in preparation for a career of teaching and scholarship in a humanistic field of study. The Andrew W. Mellon Fellowships in Humanistic Studies are designed to support exceptionally promising students as they pursue advanced study in the disciplines of the humanities. The Mellon Fellowship is a competitive award for first-year doctoral students only and cannot be deferred. Mellon Fellows are expected to carry a full course load during the nine-month academic year of the fellowship. Summer study is not included. Fellows may not accept supplementary awards or employment, including teaching assistantships. Each year, approximately 85 fellowships are available.

Tenure: Fellows may take their awards to any accredited graduate program in the United States or Canada.

Value: The fellowship covers full graduate tuition and required fees for the first year of graduate study and includes a one-year stipend of \$17,500.

Deadline: December 1st. Please note that applicants must have a GRE score as part of the application (the GRE therefore needs to be taken in time to have the score available for the December 1st deadline). The application is filled out and submitted online. Supporting documentation must be sent directly to the Foundation by December 1st.

Nomination and Application: Information regarding specific application requirements is available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or Robert Weisbuch, President and Director, The Andrew W. Mellon Fellowships in the Humanities, Woodrow Wilson National Fellowship Foundation, Mellon Fellowships Program, P.O. Box 5329, Princeton, NJ 08543-5329. Telephone: 1-800-899-9963 x127 or x301; Fax: 1-866-422-3169 (toll-free) or 1-609-452-0066 (alternate).

E-mail: mellon@woodrow.org. Website: www.woodrow.org/mellon.

OFA # 238

MINISTÈRE DE L'ÉDUCATION SUMMER LANGUAGE BURSARIES

Eligibility: Under a joint agreement between the federal and provincial governments, Summer Language Bursaries are offered to full-time Canadian and Permanent Resident students who wish to learn French or English in a 5-week immersion course during the spring or summer. Applicants must have completed high school and have been full-time students for at least one semester in the year of application.

Value: The \$1,775 bursary, paid to the institution on the student's behalf, defrays the costs of tuition, mandatory instructional materials, and room and board, but does not cover pocket money, transportation costs or child care services, if applicable.

Deadline: Usually February 15.

Application: Application forms and information are available on the Web at www.jexplore.ca/english/application.html or from the Provincial Coordinator of the student's province of residence. Coordonnateur provincial, Programme Explore, Aide financière aux études, Ministère de l'Éducation, 1035 rue De La Chevrotière, 22e étage, Québec QC G1R 5A5 Toll free: 1-877-866-4242 or (418) 646-5233, Fax: (418) 644-3158.

E-mail: bourses.langueseconde@meq.gouv.qc.ca

WeBsite: www.jexplore.ca

MONTREAL LAKESHORE UNIVERSITY WOMEN'S CLUB **SCHOLARSHIP**

Eligibility: 2 awards offered to female residents of the West Island undertaking or returning to full-time graduate or undergraduate

Value: \$1,500. Deadline: March 31.

Application: Information and application forms available from MLUWC Scholarship Committee (514) 697-8672 (Mrs. Betty Chin). Alternate phone numbers: (514) 694-0698; (514) 697-2262; (514) 695-3469.

OFA # 541

NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH **COUNCIL (NSERC) INDUSTRIAL POSTGRADUATE SCHOLARSHIPS**

Eligibility: Awards are based on a specific research proposal involving student, faculty supervisor and collaborating company. Basic requirements are much like those of the regular NSERC Postgraduate Scholarships in the following entry. All applications require departmental endorsement and signed commitment from the sponsoring company.

Value: \$21,000 per year (of which \$6,000 must come from a sponsoring company), for up to two years.

Deadline: No NSERC Deadlines. McGill Deadline: 3 months prior to the beginning of term of tenure.

Application: Fellowships Guide and application forms are available only on the Web. A draft agreement satisfying the guidelines of McGill University and NSERC is available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Website www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships The signing authority for the University will rest with the GPSO. Further information available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or directly from the Scholarships and Fellowships Division, NSERC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 1H5.Tel: (613) 995-9169.

E-mail: schol@nserc.ca Website: www.nserc.ca

OFA # 375

NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH COUNCIL (NSERC) POSTGRADUATE SCHOLARSHIPS AND CANADA GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIPS.

Eligibility: For Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents who hold, or expect to hold, a degree in science or engineering from an approved Canadian university. Funding is available to undertake study and research in one of the fields (principally engineering, science, computing information services and agriculture) supported by NSERC. Awards are normally tenable at a Canadian university. McGill applicants must have obtained a GPA of 3.5 or better in each of the last 2 years of study.

Value: Master's: from \$17,300 up to \$17,500 for one year. Doctoral: from \$21,000 to \$35,000 for up to three years

Deadline: Applicants with no Canadian university affiliation in the last 12 months, to NSERC, no later than November 15. Applicants enrolled at McGill or graduated in the last 12 months, to the department in early October (check for precise deadlines)

Application: Fellowships Guide and application forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section and McGill departments in September or directly from the Scholarships and Fellowships Division, NSERC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 1H5. Tel: (613) 995-5521.

E-mail: schol@nserc.ca Website: www.nserc.ca

OFA # 375

PATRICIA HARNEY SCHOLARSHIP

Dr. Patricia Harney, NSAC Diploma Class of '48 and OAC Professor in Horticultural Science has, through her estate, made generous provisions to support NSAC students who wish to pursue graduate studies at Macdonald Campus, McGill University or the Ontario Agricultural College at the University of Guelph.

Eligibility: Nova Scotia Agricultural College (NSAC) graduate accepted or registered at Macdonald Campus of McGill University for graduate work in agriculture. Recipients, while registered at Ontario Agricultural College or Macdonald Campus may pursue research at NSAC.

Value: Two \$5,000 renewable scholarships. Awards are tenable for a maximum of two years for a Master's Degree program and three years for a Ph.D. program. Renewability will be based on maintaining scholarship standing in the program (A- or 80% or CGPA of 3.7 or higher).

Deadline: March 31 (may be extended). This is a flexible deadline and interested students should contact the awards office at NSAC at any time during the year.

Application: Applications are available from Toni Bird (toni.bird@mcgill.ca) at the Macdonald Campus Student Affairs Office, Macdonald Campus of McGill University, 21111 Lakeshore, Ste Anne-de-Bellevue, Quebec, H9X 3V9 or from the NSAC Awards Office, P.O. Box 550, Truro, Nova Scotia, B2N 5E3. E-mail: bcrouse@nsac.ns.ca. Applications are to be submitted to the NSAC Awards Office at the above address.

PROGRAMMES DE BOURSES D'EXCELLENCE POUR **ÉTUDIANTS ÉTRANGERS**

Eligibility: The program is open to foreign doctoral students in all disciplines who are not Canadian citizens or permanent residents of Canada (there are also provisions for postdoctoral and visiting scholars - see "External Postdoctoral Fellowships (section 7.2)). Students must start in the program for which they receive funding between May 2005 and January 2006. Candidates already in a Quebec university (e.g., already at McGill) are eligible to apply, as long as they have not started the program for which they apply for funding before May 2005 (e.g., a Master's student applying for Ph.D. in September 2005 is eligible). Due to the small number of nominations allowed per university, the GPSO will only consider applicants who have an overall First Class academic record (equivalent to 3.7/4.0 and up).

Value: \$25,000 per year for three years + differential fee waiver for entire studies.

Deadline: July 15th: Students, with the help of their supervisors, must submit the McGill pre-selection form. If nominated by the university (each Quebec university can nominate four candidates), the student may have to submit additional documentation by the agency deadline of November 15th.

Application: Application information is available on the McGill GPSO Website at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships/pbeee/ or on the FQRNT Website at www.fgrnt.gouv.gc.ca.

PEO INTERNATIONAL PEACE SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Offered to women of any country other than Canada or the United States qualified for admission to a graduate degree. If received, the student agrees to return to her own country to pursue her professional career within 60 days of completing the degree program.

Value: \$6,000 (US), based on need.

Deadline: Anytime between August 15 and December 15 to submit eligibility documentation; January 31 to submit final application, if eligibility approved. Confirmation of admission due by April 1.

Application: Proof of eligibility must be established before an application will be considered. See the Website for more information: www.peointernational.org/projects/policies-ips.php. Send documentation to PEO International Peace Scholarship Fund, PEO Executive Office, 3700 Grand Avenue, Des Moines, Iowa, USA 50312-2899.

OFA # 127

POST SECONDARY STUDENT SUPPORT - DEPARTMENT OF INDIAN AFFAIRS AND NORTHERN DEVELOPMENT (DIAND)

Eligibility: For Canadian treaty/status Indians and Inuit pursuing graduate study leading to a Master's or doctoral degree. Value: Valiable, but can include tuition, travel and/or living expenses.

Deadline: See below.

Application: As this funding is distributed by band, it is requested from the student's band council. The Indian and Northern Affairs website has a Website that allows students to locate the organization from which the student would request this funding (http://pse2-esd2.ainc-inac.gc.ca/FNPro-

files/FNProfiles_home.htm). The INAC site also has a searchable bursary database for aboriginal students at http://sdiprod1.inac.gc.ca/abs/main.asp?lang=E

See the Indian and Northern Affairs Canada homepage at: www.inac.gc.ca/

OFA # 164

SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES RESEARCH COUNCIL (SSHRC) DOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Fields: Social sciences, humanities, commerce and fine arts. Specialized awards related to Canadian studies, law and management are also available. Fellowships awarded to Canadian citizens are tenable in Canada or abroad.

Eligibility: Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents living in the country. Applicants must intend to pursue full-time studies leading to the Ph.D. or equivalent. McGill applicants must possess a cumulative GPA of 3.3 or better.

Value: \$19,000 to \$35,000 per year, renewable for up to 3 additional years.

Deadline: Applicants with no university affiliation, to SSHRC, postmarked no later than November 15. Applicants enrolled at McGill, to the department in early October (check the GPSO Website for precise deadlines).

Application: Fellowships Guide and application forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from McGill social science and humanities department offices, the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Web site at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships and SSHRC, Constitution Square, Tower II, 350 Albert Street, P.O. Box 1610, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 6G4. Telephone: (613) 992-0691. www.sshrc.ca.

OFA # 372

SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES RESEARCH COUNCIL (SSHRC) MASTER'S FIELDS

For students applying to, or registered in, a master's program in the social sciences or humanities at a Canadian university

Eligibility: Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents living in the country. Applicants must intend to pursue full-time studies in the first year of a master's program in the social sciences or humanities that includes advanced research training, or completed, at the time of taking up the award, no more than 12 months of full-time study or equivalent at the graduate level. McGill applicants must have a first class average.

Value: \$17,500 for one year.

Deadline: Applicants with no university affiliation, to SSHRC, to be announced. Applicants enrolled at McGill, to the department in early November (check for precise deadlines).

Application: Fellowships Guide and application forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from McGill social science and humanities department offices, the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Website at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships and SSHRC, Constitution Square, Tower II, 350 Albert Street, Box 1610, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 6G4. Tel: (613) 992-0691. www.sshrc.ca.

WALTER C. SUMNER FOUNDATION AWARDS

Eligibility: An applicant must: be engaged in or committed to commence doctoral studies in chemistry, physics or electronics at either Dalhousie University, McGill University, Queen's University at Kingston, University of Toronto, University of Saskatchewan, or University of British Columbia; be a Canadian citizen; be domiciled in one of the provinces of Canada; hold a degree from a Canadian university other than the one at which doctoral studies will be carried on during the tenure of a Fellowship; and have at least two years of experience in either teaching or industry in the chosen field if only a bachelor's level degree is held.

Value: \$4,000 to \$5,000, tenable for one year but may, on re-application, be awarded for one additional year.

Application: Students must apply to the department where they will study. The department then makes the recommendations to the Fellowships and Awards Section in early April. The GPSO must forward nominations to the Foundation no later than April 15th of each year. For further information, consult the Dalhousie Website: www.dalgrad.dal.ca/funding/sumner/

OFA #79

ZONTA INTERNATIONAL FOUNDATION – AMELIA EARHART FELLOWSHIP AWARDS FOR WOMEN

Eligibility: Fellowships in aerospace-related sciences or engineering are offered to women of any nationality with a bachelor's degree, admitted to a graduate school (in Canada or elsewhere) offering aerospace-related science or engineering degrees.

Value: \$6,000 (US), renewable.

Deadline: Applications must be postmarked by November 15. Application: Zonta International, 557 West Randolph Street, Chicago, Illinois, U.S.A. 60661. Telephone: (312) 930-5848. E-mail: zontaintl@zonta.org. See the Zonta site at: www.zonta.org/site/ or visit the Amelia Earhart Fellowship Program page at: www.zonta.org/site/PageServer?pagename=zi_issues_programs_amelia_earhart.

OFA # 170

4 McGill Graduate Fellowships

4.1 Recruitment Fellowships

4.1.1 Richard H. Tomlinson Fellowships

Established in 2000 through a very generous gift from Dr. Richard H. Tomlinson (Ph.D. 1948). Awarded annually by the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office to recruit outstanding students into Master's and Doctoral degree program. Tomlinson fellows who accept a fellowship from an agency external to McGill will be entitled to one-half the full value of the Tomlinson Fellowship.

TOMLINSON MASTER'S FELLOWSHIPS IN THE FACULTY OF SCIENCE

Eligibility: The Tomlinson Faculty of Science Master's Fellowships are for new students accepted into a Master's program in a department within the Faculty of Science. (Consult the GPSO Web site, www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships, for a list of eligible departments.)

Value: \$15,000, renewable annually based on satisfactory progress, to a maximum tenure of 2 years for master's level. Deadline: Early January. Confirm precise deadline on GPSO

Website.

Application: Tomlinson fellowship award holders are selected on the basis of nominations made by departments. Applicants for a Tomlinson fellowship to support a Master's or Doctoral program at McGill must submit their application directly to departments by early January, along with their application for admission. www.mcgill.ca/gps.

TOMLINSON DOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: The Tomlinson Doctoral Fellowships are for new students accepted into a doctoral degree at any department at McGill University.

Value: \$20,000, renewable annually based on satisfactory progress, to a maximum tenure of 3 years for doctoral level.

Deadline: Early January (confirm precise deadline on GPSO Web site)

Application: Tomlinson fellowship award holders are selected on the basis of nominations made by departments. Applicants for Tomlinson fellowship to support a Master's or Doctoral program at McGill must submit their application directly to departments by early January, along with their application for admission. www.mcgill.ca/gps.

4.1.2 Max Stern Recruitment Fellowships

In addition to the McGill Major Fellowships for continuing graduate students, McGill University provides a small number of recruitment fellowships to selected academic departments for outstanding applicants seeking first admission to graduate studies at McGill during the following academic year. A small number of new non-renewable Recruitment Fellowships will be awarded in 2005-06. These are valued at approximately \$14,000 for one year. All applicants for first-time graduate admission are automatically considered by departments for a recruitment fellowship, if the unit has one to offer. There are no application forms, since awards are based exclusively on departmental nomination.

4.1.3 Sir Yue-Kong Pao Fellowships

Established in 2002 by Anna Pao Sohmen, M.S.W. 1969, in honour of her father, Sir Yue-Kong Pao. Awarded by the GPSO to outstanding graduate students on the basis of academic merit. Preference shall be given first to students from Ningbo University, and, secondarily, to students from the People's Republic of China. **Value:** \$25,000.

Deadline: February (Confirm precise deadline on GPSO Web site).

Application: Forms and additional information are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Website at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships.

4.1.4 Discipline-specific Recruitment Fellowships

J.W. MCCONNELL FOUNDATION FELLOWSHIPS IN ENVIRONMENT

Established in 2000 by the J.W. McConnell Foundation to outstanding students entering the first year of a Master's degree in the area of Environmental Studies. Awarded by the GPSO to a graduate student in the area of Environmental Studies.

Value: \$15,000 each; renewable.

Deadline: Not offered until further notice.

MAX STERN MCCORD MUSEUM FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1991 by the trustees of the Max Stern estate. Eligibility: Offered to meritorious graduate students who are seeking admission in the Faculty of Arts at McGill University and whose research will directly involve the collections of the McCord Museum. Please consult the McCord Museum Web site at www.mccord-museum.qc.ca for information on the various collections of the Museum. No citizenship restrictions. In 2005-06, one fellowship is available.

Value: Master's is a minimum of \$15,000, renewable once; Doctoral is a minimum of \$20,000 renewable twice.

Deadline: March (Confirm precise deadline on GPSO Web site). **Application:** Forms and additional information are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Web site at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships.

WERNER GRAUPE INTERNATIONAL FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1999 by a generous gift from the Werner Graupe and the Antje Graupe Pryor Foundation.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO to an international student from a German or French university, enrolling in a Master's or Ph.D. program in Engineering at McGill. Preference is given to students from German universities, particularly Technische Universitat Berlin. Students in Chemical and Civil Engineering are not eligible.

Value: \$25,000; renewable.

Deadline: February (Confirm precise deadline on GPSO Website)

Application: Forms and additional information are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Web site at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships.

4.2 McGill Major Fellowships (for continuing students only)

Each year the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office of McGill University awards McGill Major Fellowships valued at \$10,000 to \$15,000 per year. Applications for most such fellowships are reviewed by the Graduate Fellowships Committee, while a small number are granted on the basis of departmental and/or faculty nominations.

Students who wish to be considered for graduate level funding offered by McGill, should immediately contact the department where they intend to undertake graduate study and/or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section in order to ascertain the sources of McGill funding for which they are eligible. Competitions often take place one full year ahead of award tenure, therefore it is advisable to make inquiries well in advance of the date when funding is required. It should be noted that virtually all McGill Graduate awards tenable in a given year are restricted to students who were enrolled in a McGill graduate program during the preceding year.

Value and Eligibility

Students already enrolled in Master's or doctoral study at McGill, may apply for a McGill Major Fellowship (valued at \$10,000 - \$15,000 per year, renewable in some cases), provided they meet the specific eligibility requirements of the year's competition. Details regarding eligibility and specific deadlines and application forms for McGill Major Fellowships are available from departments and the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section. Tenure of Major fellowships is restricted to students registered full-time in the Ph.D.2 through to the Ph.D. 5 year.

Application Deadlines and Forms

All applications for McGill Major fellowships must be ranked by departments; applications should not be sent directly to the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

For students in the social science and humanities disciplines, the McGill Major Fellowship application deadline coincides with that of the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC) doctoral fellowships competition (generally early during the month of October). For students in natural science, engineering and medical science disciplines, the deadline coincides with that of the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) Postgraduate Scholarships competition (generally early during the month of October). For students in medical sciences, the deadline coincides with that of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards competition (generally early during the month of October). Forms and instructions are based on the corresponding external agencies' application forms and are available on the Web at www.mcgill.ca/gps.

External Fellowships and McGill Major Fellowships

All applicants for McGill Major funding must, if eligible, have applied to CIHR, SSHRC or NSERC and, if eligible to the Quebec funding agency Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature et les technologies (FQRNT), Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Société et la Culture (FQRSC) or Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ).

Students who are offered both a McGill Major Fellowship and any other external or internal fellowship worth \$10,000 or more (including fee subsidies) must accept the latter and decline the Major. However, in some cases, students may be eligible for "topping-up" with a partial McGill Major Fellowship.

Announcement of Results

The final results of the McGill Major Fellowships competitions are announced in May by letter. The GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section will not give results over the telephone.

Description of Individual Major Fellowships

* These fellowships are open to returning McGill graduate students only. For policies, application procedures, deadlines and forms, see the introduction to this section on McGill Major Fellowships.

ALMA MATER FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1982 by generous contributions to the Alma Mater Fund from many graduates who designated their gifts to the area of scholarships and student aid.

Eligibility: Open to students in any degree program in the Graduate Studies. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; renewable once.

ARTHUR C. TAGGE FELLOWSHIP IN THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES*

Eligibility: Tenable by a graduate of any approved university proceeding to a higher degree in any department in the Humanities or the Social Sciences. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000, non-renewable. Awarded for one year only.

CARL REINHARDT FELLOWSHIP*

Established from the estate of the late Carl Reinhardt, who received Bachelor of Applied Science degrees from McGill University in Civil Engineering (1896) and Mining Engineering (1897).

Eligibility: Open to graduate students in the Departments of Physics, as well as Earth and Planetary Sciences. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; renewable twice.

CHALK- ROWLES FELLOWSHIP*

Established by Mary Laura Chalk, McGill's first woman Ph.D. in Physics (1928), in memory of her husband, William Rowles (Ph.D. 1928), Professor Emeritus of Agricultural Physics at Macdonald College.

Eligibility: Open to graduate students in the Department of Physics. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; renewable once.

CLIFFORD C.F. WONG FELLOWSHIP*

黄振輝 研究生獎學金

Eligibility: Founded in 1981 by Mr. Clifford C.F. Wong, B. Arch. 1960, to enable a graduate student to pursue studies towards a higher degree at McGill University. First preference will be given to students coming from the People's Republic of China and second preference to students coming from Hong Kong. In the absence of suitable candidates from these two regions, the fellowship would be available to suitable candidates from any country.

Value: \$12,000 plus tuition fees at the non-privatized rate; renewable once.

DALBIR BINDRA FELLOWSHIP*

Established in recognition of the late Professor Dalbir Bindra's contribution to teaching and research during his thirty years in the Department of Psychology at McGill.

Eligibility: Open to students registered in any program of the Graduate Studies, with a preference to those from developing countries.

Value: \$10,000; renewable once.

DAVID STEWART MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP*

Established through a bequest by the late Agnes Stewart in memory of her father, David Stewart.

Eligibility: Offered to graduate students in the physical and biological sciences who demonstrate high ability and who are likely to enter a career of university teaching. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; non-renewable.

EILEEN PETERS FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1993 with an endowment from the N.E. Peters Foundation.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO with preference being given to women. Consideration, if appropriate, will be given to students pursuing graduate studies in the Faculty of Medicine or the School of Nursing. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$12,000, renewable twice.

ESTERINA AND GAETANO LIBERATORE FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1995 through the generous gift of Luigi Liberatore. **Eligibility:** The fellowships may be held by students registered in any graduate program at McGill. No citizenship restrictions. **Value:** \$10,000; renewable twice.

FRIENDS OF MCGILL FELLOWSHIP*

The fellowship is made available through the McGill Development program by the Friends of McGill Inc., New York.

Eligibility: Open to graduate students in any discipline who are citizens of the United States of America.

Value: \$10,000; renewable once.

GREVILLE SMITH RESEARCH FELLOWSHIP*

Eligibility: Three fellowships are endowed by the trustees of the Greville Smith bequest for research by graduate students, one in Engineering, and one in Management, and one in any discipline, for overall excellence. The leadership qualities of the candidate, together with the usefulness to the community of the proposed study, is taken into consideration by the GPSO in their choice of fellows. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$15,000; renewable twice.

HAROLD H. HELM FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1960 in honour of Harold Helm, then Chairman of the Executive Committee of the Board of Trustees of Princeton University.

Eligibility: Open to students in any degree program in graduate studies at McGill. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; renewable once.

HUGH MACLENNAN MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP FOR THE STUDY OF CANADA*

Established in 1993 from the estate of Hugh MacLennan. **Eligibility:** For students in the Faculty of Arts with preference being given to Canadian Studies. No citizenship restrictions. **Value:** \$10,000; renewable twice.

J.W. MCCONNELL MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP*

Established by the J.W. McConnell Foundation to support graduate studies and research at McGill University, and so to strengthen, in quality and in numbers, the academic staff of Canadian universities and schools.

Eligibility: The fellowships may be held by students registering in any graduate research program (except Medicine) at McGill. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; renewable twice.

LLOYD CARR-HARRIS FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1995 through the generosity of the Lloyd Carr-Harris Foundation.

Eligibility: The fellowships may be held by students registered in any graduate program in the health sciences at McGill. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$15,000; renewable twice.

MAX E. BINZ FELLOWSHIP*

Established from the estate of the late Max E. Binz, who was born in Switzerland, emigrated to Canada in 1930, established a successful textile company, and became a generous benefactor of McGill University.

Eligibility: The fellowship is open to all students in degree programs in graduate studies. No citizenship restrictions. **Value:** \$10,000; non-renewable.

MAX STERN FELLOWSHIP IN HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES*

Established through the generosity of the Dr. and Mrs. Max Stern Foundation.

Eligibility: The fellowship may be held by students registered in any graduate program in the humanities or social sciences at McGill. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$15,000, renewable twice.

MCGILL ALUMNAE SOCIETY FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1988 to commemorate the 100th anniversary of the founding of the McGill Alumnae Society.

Eligibility: To be awarded to a research student in any faculty who is pursuing studies of benefit or significance to women. Preference will be given to women applicants. No citizenship requirements.

Value: \$10,000, renewable twice.

PHILIP F. VINEBERG GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP*

Endowed in 1992 in memory of Philip F. Vineberg, O.C., Q,C, B.A., M.A., B.C.L., L.L.D., former Professor and Emeritus Governor of McGill University.

Eligibility: Open to graduate students pursuing in an advanced degree in Arts, Education, Law, Library Science, Music, Religious Studies or Social Work, to finance one year of study. Awarded to a graduate student who best exemplifies the qualities of intelligence as demonstrated by academic record and creative thinking; breadth of interest, perspective and tolerance as demonstrated by cross cultural interests; record of service to others; excellence as demonstrated by a record of disciplined undergraduate achievement at another university and the promise of more to come. The fellowship is open to all eligible students with preference to Canadian citizens and Permanent Residents.

Value: \$10,000, non-renewable.

PHILIP P. BAILY FELLOWSHIP*

Eligibility: Established in 1995 through a generous bequest by Philip Pendlebury Baily (B.Sc. 1913, M.Sc. 1914) for students registered in any graduate program in the Faculty of Medicine or Science. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$12,000, non-renewable.

SAUL HAYES GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP*

Eligibility: Established by Edgar and Charles Bronfman in memory of Saul Hayes for graduate students undertaking research with preference to the areas of Civil Liberties and Human Rights. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; tenable for up to four years.

SOLVAY FELLOWSHIP*

Eligibility: Offered for the first year of graduate study in any department at McGill. The holder must have graduated in any undergraduate faculty of McGill in the session prior to that for which the award is given, and must obtain permission to proceed to graduate study. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; non-renewable.

SR TELECOM AWARDS

Established in 1997 through a generous gift from SR Telecom, Inc. **Eligibility:** The awards will be presented each year to enhance major fellowships for students in Engineering and Computer Science.

Value: minimum \$4,000 each.

WOMEN'S CENTENNIAL FELLOWSHIP*

Established in 1984 by the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office to commemorate the 100th Anniversary of the Admission of Women students to McGill University.

Eligibility: Preference will be given to women applicants in a Ph.D. program. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$10,000; non-renewable.

4.3 Complementary McGill Awards to Major Fellowships

The Beijing, Neil Croll and Walter Hitschfeld Memorial Awards are given as award complements to the most highly ranked McGill Major Fellowship awardees, meeting the specific eligibility criteria of each award.

BEIJING MEMORIAL AWARD

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of academic merit to a student working towards a higher degree at McGill University, with a preference to those from the People's Republic of China.

Application: No application necessary. Awarded by the Fellowships Committee of the GPSO to an outstanding student who has also been awarded a McGill Major Fellowship.

Value: \$1,000.

NEIL CROLL MEMORIAL AWARD

Established in memory of the late Professor Neil Croll, Ph.D., M.D., Professor of Parasitology and Director of McGill International, and a teacher and friend of students from developing countries

Eligibility: For graduate students, with a preference to those from developing countries.

Value: \$1,000.

Application: No application necessary. Awarded by the Fellowships Committee of the GPSO to an outstanding student who has also been awarded a McGill Major Fellowship.

WALTER HITSCHFELD AWARD

Established in honour of W.F. Hitschfeld Ph.D., F.R.S., F.R.S.C., a teacher and friend of many such students and former Director of McGill International.

Eligibility: For graduate students, with a preference to those from developing countries.

Value: \$1,000.

Application: No application necessary. Awarded by the Fellowships Committee of the GPSO to an outstanding student who has also been awarded a McGill Major Fellowship.

4.4 Specialized Fellowships

DELTA UPSILON MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Founded by the McGill Chapter of the Delta Upsilon Fraternity in memory of its members who gave their lives in the Boer War, the Great War of 1914-18, and the Second War of 1939-45.

Eligibility: Open to students who have received an undergraduate degree from McGill University in any faculty and tenable for graduate study at any recognized university. The necessary CGPA is 3.5 or above.

Value: Average of \$5,000 (awards of lesser value may be made in certain cases).

Deadline: February 1.

Application: Forms and additional information are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Web site at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships. (Same form as Mackenzie King Open and Travelling Scholarships).

EBEN HOPSON FELLOWSHIP FOR STUDY AT MCGILL

Established through a 1988 donation from the North Slope Borough of Alaska in honour of Eben Hopson, Mayor of the North Slope Borough from 1972 to 1980, to advance the pursuit, promotion and sharing of knowledge in areas of common interest and relevance to the scientific, social and economic development, and the greater welfare of the North Slope Borough and the counties of the Circumpolar North.

Eligibility: Awards will be made for graduate studies at McGill in appropriate areas of Arctic studies, including but not necessarily limited to environmental problems within the Arctic regions, Arctic archaeology and prehistory, social problems of the Arctic (development, impact assessment studies, psychology, rural education, etc.), Arctic health and medicine, communications, indigenous Native Peoples (rights, languages and traditional culture), Humanities and Social sciences and Natural Sciences.

Value: \$6,000. Awards are renewable for a second year for Masters studies and up to a fourth year for Doctoral Studies. Deadline: To the department in which the applicant intends to study, by March 1.

Application: Application information is available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Web site at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/ fellowships.

JOHN WILLIAMSON FREDERICK PEACOCK MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established in memory of Flight Lieutenant John Williamson Frederick Peacock, a member of the Delta Upsilon Fraternity, who was killed in action over Normandy in 1944.

Eligibility: Open to students who have received an undergraduate degree from McGill University in any faculty and tenable for graduate study at any recognized university. The necessary CGPA is 3.5 or above.

Value: Average of \$5,000 (awards of lesser value may be made). Deadline: February 1.

Application: Forms and additional information are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Website at: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships. (Same form as Mackenzie King Open and Travelling Scholarships).

THOMAS AND WILLA FERGUSON SMYTHE FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Founded by a bequest of the late Thomas Harold Smythe for students in any discipline from Botswana, Lesotho, Malawi, Namibia, South Africa, Swaziland, Zambia or Zimbabwe who intend to return to their countries upon completion of their studies in Canada. A strong preference is given to incoming students. Candidates must have been formally granted admission to a McGill graduate program at the time of nomination.

Value: Minimum of \$7,000 plus tuition fees at the non privatized rate; renewable once.

Deadline: March 30 by McGill department.

Application: There is no application form, since this fellowship is based on department nominations.

4.5 Dissertation Fellowships

ROBERT AND MARY STANFIELD DISSERTATION FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1994 through the Robert and Mary Stanfield

Eligibility: This fellowship is awarded to an outstanding doctoral student whose research focuses on Canada or some aspects of Northern Studies nearing the completion of Ph.D. degree.

Value: Minimum \$9,000, non-renewable.

Deadline: Normally early April.

Application: See the GPSO Website for details on application/nomination procedures: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellow-ships/grad/winter/dissertation-fellowships.

STANDARD LIFE DISSERTATION FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1997 by a generous donation by the Standard Life Insurance Company.

Eligibility: This fellowship is awarded to an outstanding doctoral student in Health Sciences who will complete their dissertation in the coming academic year and who are not receiving other fellowship funding.

Value: Minimum \$6,000.

Deadline: Normally early April.

Application: See the GPSO Website for details on application/nomination procedures: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellow-ships/grad/winter/dissertation-fellowships.

4.6 Differential Fee Waivers

Internal DFWs

The Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office awards approximately 120 Differential Fee Waivers per term to international students, approximate value: \$3,165 Ph.D., \$3,600 Masters.

Eligibility and Nomination Procedures

These differential fee waivers are restricted to international graduate students at McGill whose visa status requires them to pay full international tuition fees. Recipients must be registered full-time and be within the period of residency. (See explanation of residency in the *Program Requirements* section of the *Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Calendar*.) Students in a qualifying year or additional session are not eligible. Students in "privatized" pro-

grams are not eligible. All eligible international students are automatically considered by departments for differential fee waivers, if the unit has them to offer. Since these differential fee waivers are awarded based exclusively on departmental nomination, there are no application forms. Interested students who cannot otherwise qualify for an external differential fee waiver (see below) should contact the department to which they are applying.

External DFWs

Differential fee waivers are also available from a number of external sources, including the Ministere d'Education du Quebec. Please note that the Quebec government grants differential fee waivers to staff and dependents of consulates, foreign government offices, international governmental organizations, non-governmental organizations, refugees, immigrants with a work permit containing the case type 07, 08, 20, 22, 23 or 26 with the name of an employer and location that is necessarily situated in Quebec, and to those students in MEQ-approved interuniversity exchanges. For more information on how to qualify for differential fee waivers under these provisions, please see this document: Politique relative aux droits de scolarité exigés des étudiantes et étudiants étrangers par les universités du Québec, available in PDF at the MEQ Website: www.meq.gouv.qc.ca/ens-sup/ens-univ/\$etrangers-a.asp.

To promote the French language and Québec culture outside Canada, the Ministère de l'Éducation du Québec exempts all international students admitted to certain programs in Québec from the payment of supplemental tuition fees. To be eligible for the exemption, a student must be registered on a full-time basis (except for the last semester before obtaining a degree, in which case the student may be registered part-time) in a university program recognized by the Ministère de l'Éducation that leads to a degree in French (Language and Literature), Québec Literature, French or Québec Studies, or Teaching French as a First Language, a Second Language or a Foreign Language. For a list of eligible programs and the institutions that offer them, please see this Website: www.meq.gouv.qc.ca/ens-sup/ens-univ/\$etrangers-a.asp.

A certain number of citizens from countries whose governments have entered into agreements on tuition fees with Québec may be exempted from the supplemental tuition fees normally required of international students.

The exemption is granted in accordance with the applicable agreement on tuition fees and subject to its terms and conditions, which vary depending on each agreement. The exemption is valid for the normal length of the program of studies concerned (for instance, a Master's degree in Environmental Studies) at a post-secondary institution in Québec, and is granted one semester at a time. From the first semester for which an exemption is granted at a designated institution until the program is completed, the exemption is renewable on a trimester-by-trimester basis as long as a student earns no fewer than 30 credits per year, complies with the applicable regulations, registers on a full time basis at least for the fall and winter trimesters and pays the tuition fees on the prescribed registration dates.

All French citizens and a limited number of citizens depending on the following countries or governments may apply for an exemption of this type: Algeria, Andorra, Belgium (some members of the Communauté française and of the Flemish Community), Benin, Bolivia, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Catalonia, China, Colombia, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Republic of the Congo, Côte d'Ivoire, Egypt, Flemish Community, Gabon, Germany (a certain number of holders of Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst scholarships [DAAD]), Guinea, Israel, Italy, Lebanon, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritania, Mexico, Morocco, Niger, Panama, Peru, Rwanda, Senegal, Togo, Tunisia, Uruguay and Viet Nam.

To apply for an exemption of this type, a student must meet the following conditions: be a citizen depending on one of the aforementioned countries or governments; be admitted to a program of studies at a post-secondary institution in Québec; be registered on a full-time basis according to the applicable rules at that institution; like any international student, be the holder of a valid passport and residence permit as prescripted by the applicable immigration

rules; and, except for French citizens, be recommended for an exemption by the relevant authorities in his or her country-usually the department of education-according to the official procedure described in the next paragraph.

Foreign governments or the bodies that represent them must send, usually through their consulate in Québec or their embassy in Ottawa, to the Direction des affaires étudiantes et de la coopération of the Ministère de l'Éducation du Québec, before June the 15 of each year for the next autumn registrations and before November the 15th for the next winter registrations, a list of the candidates that they recommend be exempted from the requirement to pay supplemental tuition fees, joining with it the proof of admission or registration for each new exemption proposed. The Ministère de l'Éducation then establishes, according to the provisions of the agreement, the final list of the persons to benefit from the exemption during the future trimester concerned. At least 4/5 of the exemptions that are really attributed must be for registrations in french speaking institutions.

For more information and the necessary application materials, see this MEQ Website: www.meq.gouv.qc.ca/ens-sup/ens-univ/\$etrangers-a.asp.

4.7 Graduation Prizes and Awards

GOVERNOR GENERAL'S GOLD MEDAL

Eligibility: Two medals are presented each year (normally at the Spring convocation) by McGill University, in the name of and on behalf of the Governor General of Canada to the most outstanding graduating Master's or doctoral students (one in Human Sciences and one in Natural Sciences). A maximum of one nomination per McGill department will be accepted each year, based on truly outstanding academic merit. Nominations are reviewed by a GPSO Selection Committee. Nominees for the Governor General's Gold Medal are automatically considered for all the internal Graduation Prizes and Awards listed in this section.

Value: Gold medal with an inscribed booklet.

Deadline: April 15, for departmental nomination to the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

Application: Nomination forms are available on the Web in March. Nominations for the Governor General's Gold medal are often combined with nominations for the Ambridge, Jenckes and Maclachlan prizes described elsewhere in this Calendar. Further details are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section Website.

THOMAS HALIBURTON HENRY AWARD

Established in 2000 in honour of Thomas Haliburton Henry, 1922-1944, to be awarded by the GPSO to an outstanding graduate. **Value:** Minimum \$1,500.

Deadline: April 15, for departmental nomination to the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

D.W. AMBRIDGE AWARD

This award was made possible by a gift to the late Douglas White Ambridge from the employees and shareholders on the occasion of his retirement from the presidency of Abitibi Power and Paper Company Limited on February 1,1963.

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate receiving the degree of Ph.D. in the Physical Sciences or Engineering. The winner is selected from candidates nominated by each department whose academic record, including research and thesis, is judged to be outstanding among all those who graduate during the academic year.

Value: \$1,000 plus an engraved plaque.

Deadline: April 15, for departmental nomination in the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

GORDON A. MACLACHLAN PRIZE

Established in 1990, with gifts from individuals and faculties, in recognition and appreciation of Professor Gordon A. Maclachlan's ten years of service to McGill as Dean of the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research and Vice-Principal (Research).

Eligibility: Awarded annually by the GPSO to the most outstanding graduate receiving a Ph.D. degree during the academic year in any discipline of the Biological Sciences or Health Sciences. The winner will be selected from candidates nominated by eligible departments, based on the quality of their academic records, the scholarly significance of their research and the excellence of their theses and other publications.

Value: \$1,000.

Deadline: April 15, for departmental nomination to the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

K.B. JENCKES PRIZE

Established in 1990 by an endowment from the estate of the late K.B. Jenckes.

Eligibility: Awarded annually by the GPSO to the most outstanding graduate receiving a Ph.D. degree during the academic year in any discipline in the social sciences and humanities. The winner will be chosen from among candidates nominated by eligible departments and faculties, assessed by the quality of their academic records, the scholarly significance of their research and the stylistic and substantive excellence of their theses and other publications.

Value: \$900.

Deadline: April 15, for departmental nomination to the GPSO Fellowhips and Awards Section.

5 Fellowships awarded by Departments and Faculties

The following pages list over 200 fellowships, awards and bursaries, according to specific discipline, which are administered directly by departments or faculties at McGill University, or are externally funded. Unless otherwise indicated, students should contact the McGill department or faculty office concerned for additional information and application or nomination procedures.

5.1 Multidisciplinary

ARTS AND SCIENCE CLASS OF 1966 AWARD

Established by the Arts and Science Class of 1966 on the occasion of its 25th anniversary of graduation.

Eligibility: Open to graduate students in Arts or Science to pursue research at the Redpath or McCord Museum. Candidates are selected on the basis of academic merit by a committee named by the Deans of Arts and Science.

Value: \$2,500 for one year only.

Application: There are no application procedures. Further information can be obtained from the Offices of the Dean of Arts and Dean of Science, from the Faculty of Arts Website at www.mcgill.ca/arts, or from Josie D'Amico at 398-4215.

DELTA KAPPA GAMMA - DR. MILDRED BURNS AWARD FOR LEADERSHIP IN EDUCATION

Established in 2001 by the Delta Kappa Gamma Society in honour of Dr. Mildred Burns, a retired associate professor of the Faculty of Education. Awarded by the Faculty of Education Graduate Studies Scholarships Committee to a student upon graduation who has completed an M.A. in Educational Studies leadership option, on the basis of academic excellence. If two or more equally qualified students are identified, preference shall be given to a female student. The student should have two or more years of relevant professional experience in the educational field.

Value: Minimum \$500.

KENNETH DOWNES GRADUATE AWARD

Established in 1998 by Kenneth Downes (Class of 1947). **Eligibility:** Awarded by the GPSO to an outstanding graduate student

Value: Minimum \$5,000.

MGSF FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Applicants should enquire with the academic unit where they are seeking admission or are registered.

Value: Minimum \$5,000.

Fellowship units of \$5,000 are awarded by the GPSO upon nomination by academic units. Fellowship units may be used as a part of a recruitment package; as a top-up for an external fellowship, for a teaching or a research assistantship; in combination to form a larger fellowship; as a dissertation fellowship, in accordance with the academic unit's established priorities.

NORTHERN SCIENTIFIC TRAINING PROGRAM

Eligibility: The Northern Scientific Training Program administers grants to graduate and undergraduate students to help cover the field expenses of working in the North. Program funding is derived from the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs, Ottawa

Value: Approximately \$3,000, awarded for one year only. **Deadline:** End of October.

Application: Application forms can be obtained from www.ainc-inac.gc.ca/nstp/nstpb_e.html. Applications should be submitted to Northern Scientific Training Program, c/o Professor Laurie Chan,School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition, McGill University.

RICHARD H. TOMLINSON FELLOWSHIPS IN UNIVERSITY SCIENCE TEACHING

Established in 2003 by a generous gift from Dr. Richard H. Tomlinson, Ph.D. 1948. The awards are for outstanding graduate and postdoctoral students in the Faculty of Science and other faculties, who will be engaged in research in the teaching of science at the university level. Awarded by the Dean of Science on the basis of academic merit upon recommendation from the Director of the Tomlinson University Science Teaching Project.

Professors in the Faculty of Science and other faculties will nominate candidates to the Director of the Tomlinson University Science Teaching Project, who will forward recommendations to the Dean of Science.

Value: Minimum \$17,500; renewable.

Application: For more detailed information, please send an email to: tomlinson.project@mcgill.ca with the words "University Science Teaching Fellowship" in the subject field.

5.2 Medical and Health Sciences

5.2.1 Various Medical Science Units

ALBERT A. BUTLER AWARD IN ORTHOPAEDICS

Established in 2001 by Kaye Takamatsu-Butler in memory of Dr. Albert A. Butler, M.D., C.M. 1935. The award will be used to support residents doing research in the field of orthopaedics and/or postgraduate orthopaedic training at McGill. This support can include travel funds for residents to attend conferences, the purchase of research equipment and acknowledgement gifts such as book prizes. Awarded by the Program Director of the McGill Orthopaedic Surgery Residency Program in consultation with the Associate Dean of Postgraduate Medical Education.

Value: Maximum \$6,550.

ALEXANDER MCFEE FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Open to graduates of any approved university who are resident full-time candidates for higher degrees or diplomas at McGill. The award will be made in Physics, Chemistry, and Medical Sciences (with preference for cancer research).

Value: \$10,000.

ARTHUR S. HAWKES FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2000 through a generous bequest by Dr. Arthur S. Hawkes, Ph.D. 1945. Awarded by the Faculty of Medicine to an outstanding student in the Department of Biochemistry. **Value:** Minimum \$5,000.

DEFI CORPORATIF CANDEREL STUDENTSHIP AND FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Open to Ph.D. and post-doctoral fellow candidates within their first year of working with staff of the McGill Cancer Centre and/or the Division of Research, Department of Oncology at McGill

Application: Candidates must submit a C.V. with publications, letters of reference and an outline of their proposed project with investigator's name to: Dr. Michael L. Tremblay, McGill Cancer Center, 3655 Promenade Sir William Osler, Montreal, Quebec H3G 1Y6.

Value: \$10,000 Studentships – \$15,000 Fellowships. One year support in both cases.

DR. BENJAMIN SHORE PRIZE IN PLASTIC SURGERY

Established in memory of Dr. Benjamin Shore, M.D.,C.M. 1965. **Eligibility:** This prize will be awarded annually to a resident training in one of the McGill teaching hospitals who demonstrates outstanding performance in the Plastic Surgery Program. This prize will be used to fund travel to a national or international meeting in the field of plastic surgery or for special support of a resident doing research in plastic surgery. The Prize will be awarded by the Program Director of the Plastic Surgery Training Program in consultation with the Associate Dean of Postgraduate Medical Education.

Value: \$2,500.

DR. GERALD B. PRICE MEMORIAL AWARDS

Three awards, established in 2004, by family and friends, to honour Dr. Gerald B. Price's memory and his many contributions as Director of the Division of Experimental Medicine and as a full member of the McGill Cancer Centre.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Division of Experimental Medicine on the basis of merit, through an annual competitive process, to students enrolled in the 2nd or 3rd year of the Ph.D. program in the Division of Experimental Medicine. The awards will be used to enhance the students' graduate training by providing travel funds for the presentation of a scholarly contribution at a scientific conference. The amount of the award is expected to be matched by the awardee's supervisor.

Value: \$650 each.

DR. PHILIP EIBEL PRIZE IN ORTHOPEDIC SURGERY

Established in 1998 by Miss Deborah Eibel, B.A. 1960, in memory of her father, Dr. Philip Eibel, B.A. 1929, M.D., C.M. 1933.

Eligibility: The prize shall be awarded annually to a medical student, resident, or fellow who has exhibited outstanding achievement during training in Orthopedic Surgery. The selection shall be made by the Faculty of Medicine Scholarships Committee.

Value: \$500 each.

DR. PREMYSL "MIKE" PELNAR ACADEMIC ENRICHMENT AWARD

Established through a generous anonymous donation honouring Dr. Premysl Pelnar, a renowned occupational health physician. **Eligibility:** Awarded to graduate students of the Department of Occupational Health to further their training and professional activities in the field of occupational health. Awarded by the Chair of the Department upon consultation with the Faculty.

Value: \$300 - \$600 per year.

F.C. HARRISON FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: These fellowships will be awarded on the basis of (1) academic achievement, (2) demonstrated research aptitude, (3) financial need. All registered and prospective full-time graduate students may apply for these awards.

Value: The Fellowships Committee of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology will award annual fellowships of up to \$5,000 to deserving candidates for graduate degrees in the Department.

Deadline: Completed application forms should be returned to the Fellowships Committee before June 1.

GEDDES PRIZE IN BIOMEDICAL ENGINEERING

Dr. L.A. Geddes (B.Eng. 1945; M.Eng. 1953; Hon.D.Sc. 1971) established an annual prize in Biomedical Engineering at the discretion of the Chair of the Department of Biomedical Engineering.

HARRY SHANKMAN SCHOLARSHIPS

A bequest from the late Annette Shankman Rieder in honour of her brother Harry Shankman, M.D., provides annual scholarships for meritorious medical students in the M.D./Ph.D. program. Awarded by the Faculty of Medicine Scholarships Committee, on the recommendation of the M.D./Ph.D. Program Director.

Value: Minimum \$3,000 each.

ISAAK WALTON KILLAM SCHOLARSHIPS/ JEANNE TIMMINS FELLOWSHIPS (NEUROSCIENCES)

Eligibility: The Montreal Neurological Institute offers fellowships for research and study in the fields of the clinical and basic neurosciences. Candidates must hold an M.D. or a Ph.D. degree. Those candidates with M.D. degrees will ordinarily have completed clinical studies in neurology or neurosurgery.

Value: Initial appointments will be for one year with a maximum value of \$25,000 (Canadian) with possible renewal.

Deadline: Receipt of application is October 15 for a fellowship commencing July 1 of the following year.

Application: Awards will be made on a strictly competitive basis. Apply in writing to the Assistant to the Director of the Montreal Neurological Institute.

JAMES FROSST FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1990 by the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics through a donation from Merck Frosst Canada Inc. **Eligibility:** Primarily awarded by the graduate training committee to an outstanding international applicant to the program. **Value:** \$10.000.

Deadline: All international applicants conditionally accepted to the program prior to May 1 are considered for the Fellowship.

JOHN F. DAVIS AWARD

Established in 2003 by John F. Davis, B.Eng. 1942, M.Eng. 1949, M.D., C.M. 1950. Awarded every two years to a graduate student enrolled in the Department of Biomedical Engineering, by the Chair of the Department of Biomedical Engineering. The award will be for a significant contribution (Master's or Doctoral thesis, major conference paper or journal paper) for a subject applicable to diagnostic or treatment procedures for Neurological or Psychiatric disorders

Value: Minimum \$500.

JUDITH MAPPIN FELLOWSHIP IN WOMEN'S HEALTH

Established in 2002 by Judith Mappin, B.Sc. 1950, for an outstanding graduate student in the Faculty of Science's Department of Psychology pursuing research in Women's Health.

Eligibility: warded by the Department of Psychology upon the basis of academic merit.

Value: Minimum \$20,000: renewable.

MCGILL UNIVERSITY - MONTREAL CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE FELLOWSHIPS

The McGill University - Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute offers a limited number of postdoctoral and research fellowships.

Eligibility: Medical, dental or doctoral graduates undertaking full time training in pediatric research. Candidate must be supervised by an investigator with formal primary affiliation with McGill University - Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute.

Deadline: December 1 for an April 1 or July 1 commencement date.

Value: Based on CIHR guidelines with respect to employment under grants.

Application: Forms are available from the Secretariat of the Research Institute, 4060 Sainte-Catherine Street West, Room 205, Montreal, Quebec, H3Z 2Z3

MCGILL UNIVERSITY - MONTREAL CHILDREN'S HOSPITAL RESEARCH INSTITUTE STUDENTSHIPS

The McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute offers a limited number of studentship awards.

Eligibility: Master's or doctoral level students conducting pediatric research. Candidates must be supervised by an investigator with a formal primary affiliation with the McGill University - Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute.

Deadline: April 1 for a July 1 commencement date.

Value: \$14,000 per annum.

Application: Forms available from the Secretariat of the Research Institute, 4060 Sainte Catherine Street West, Room 205, Montreal, Quebec, H3Z 2Z3.

MELVILLE PRIZE IN PHARMACOLOGY

Established to honour Professor Kenneth I. Melville who was Chairman of the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics from 1953 to 1967 and Professor Emeritus from 1967 until his death in 1975.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to two graduate students: one senior, one junior; and Post Doctoral Fellow whose research presentation at the annual Pharmacology Research Day (or equivalent occasion) is judged by an *ad hoc* advisory committee to be the best.

Value: \$400/\$200/\$100.

MONTREAL LEAGUE FOR THE HARD OF HEARING AWARD

Established by a gift from the Montreal League for the Hard of Hearing Inc. for students in training.

Eligibility: Candidates must be enrolled at the graduate level in the School of Communication Sciences and Disorders doing work in the area of hearing impairment. Awarded by the School. **Value:** \$1,000.

PERCY HERMANT FELLOWSHIPS IN OPHTHALMOLOGY

This fellowship, established by Mr. Percy Hermant, is divided among the first-year residents in ophthalmology.

Eligibility: Candidates must be graduates of Medicine at McGill or other approved medical schools, must be commencing the study of Ophthalmology at McGill and must be planning to practice this specialty in Canada.

Application: Apply to the Chair, Department of Ophthalmology, McGill University.

PRESTON ROBB FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1994, awarded on a strictly competitive basis by the Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) to support the training of a clinical fellow to work jointly with one of its basic and one of its clinician scientists. Candidates must have an M.D. degree with clinical studies in neurology or neurosurgery.

Value: Initial appointments, one year to a maximum value of \$25,000.

Deadline: October 15 to MNI for a fellowship commencing July 1 of the following year.

Application: Application forms are available from the Director's Office. MNI.

ROLANDE AND MARCEL GOSSELIN GRADUATE STUDENTSHIPS

Eligibility: Established in 2003 by a bequest from Rolande Dubreuil Gosselin. Awarded by the Faculty of Medicine's Postgraduate Awards Committee to two Ph.D. students undertaking cancer research under the direction of a member of the McGill Cancer Centre.

Value: Minimum \$12,500 each.

ROWLAND C. FRAZEE POST GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP IN NEUROMUSCULAR DISEASES

Established in 1988 to honour Rowland Frazee's distinguished career with the Royal Bank of Canada and community service, to promote research into and the development of innovations of home and ambulatory treatment of young people with muscular dystrophy and other degenerative neuromuscular diseases.

Eligibility: Post-graduate (residency) physicians in the Department of Pediatrics with specialty training in pediatrics or a related discipline.

Value: \$10,000 per annum for five years.

Application: The fellowship will be administered by the Faculty of Medicine and the recipient will be selected by the Chair and senior members of the Department of Pediatrics in consultation with the Dean of the Faculty of Medicine.

SEAN MURPHY AWARD

Established in 1997 from a beguest of Miss Dorothy Brown. Eligibility: Awarded by a committee of the Department of Ophthalmology to a student in ophthalmic pathology, with a preference for graduate students or postdoctoral fellows.

Value: \$8.000

SIR EDWARD W. BEATTY MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIPS FOR **MEDICAL STUDENTS**

Eligibility: Awarded annually to students of any nationality. Applies to students registered in the M.D., C.M./Ph.D. program. Value: Two scholarships, not necessarily of equal value. **Application:** More information can be obtained by contacting the office of the Associate Dean, Medical Education and Student Affairs.

THEODORE SOURKES PRIZE

Established in 1992 by the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics in honour of Professor Theodore Sourkes.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to recognize outstanding contribution by a graduate student in the Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics, as judged from a paper published in a peerreviewed journal. Awarded by the Department to a student currently in the program or having graduated within a year.

Value: \$500.

DR. MILTON C. AND NINA E. WILSON AWARD

Established in 1970 by a bequest from the late Milton C. Wilson. The annual income provides support for Undergraduate of Postgraduate students in the Faculty of Medicine who are in Financial need

5.2.2 Faculty of Medicine: Internal Studentships

The following studentships are open to full-time graduate students at McGill who have completed six months of research and study towards their degree. They are awarded upon recommendation of the Postgraduate Awards Committee of the Faculty. Information regarding these studentships is sent to departmental chairs by January of each year. Deadline for submission of applications is generally the first week in March. Further information can be obtained from the office of the Associate Dean, Graduate Studies and Research, Faculty of Medicine.

CHARLES JAMES PATTON, M.D., AND ELIZABETH ROSS **PATTON MEMORIAL PRIZE**

Eligibility: Established in 2003 by a bequest from Charles Francis Patton in memory of his parents, Charles James Patton, M.D., and Elizabeth Ross Patton. awarded by the postgraduate awards committee to an outstanding graduate student for excellence in medical research.

Value: Minimum \$400.

CLAUDE J.P. GIROUD BURSARY IN ENDOCRINOLOGY

Eligibility: Established by a bequest from Alix Auzolle Giroud in memory of her son, Dr. Claude J.P. Giroud, former professor of Experimental Medicine at McGill. Awarded on a competitive basis to a full-time graduate student pursuing research in Endocrinology.

DR. ARTHUR H. JUDSON FELLOWSHIPS

Established by a bequest from Frances Catherine Judson in memory of her husband. To be awarded by the Faculty of Medicine Postgraduate Awards Committee to graduate students as part of the Faculty of Medicine's internal studentships.

Value: \$10,500.

DR. JOHN A. LUNDIE RESEARCH FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2003 by a bequest by Dr. John A. Lundie for a graduate student pursuing cancer research.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Medicine's Postgraduate Awards Committee. Preference shall be given to candidates pursuing research in the causes and/or cure of cancer.

Value: \$6,000.

ELAINE BÉLANGER GRADUATE STUDENTSHIP IN MEDICAL RESEARCH

Established in 2003 by a bequest from Elaine Bélanger for a graduate student pursuing medical research. Awarded by the Faculty of Medicine's Postgraduate Awards Committee.

Value: Minimum \$6,500.

ELIZABETH STEFFEN MEMORIAL AWARD

Eligibility: Established in 1995 by a bequest of the late Elizabeth Steffen (M.D. 1945) and awarded by the Faculty of Medicine to contribute to the support of a full-time graduate student pursuing research in the Faculty of Medicine.

ESTHER CUSHING FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1992 for a student working towards a Master's or doctoral degree in the Faculty of Medicine.

F.S.B. MILLER MEMORIAL FUND

Eligibility: Established in 1982 to provide support for Genetic and Viral research in Neurobiology.

G. RUTHERFORD CAVERHILL FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1943 by Mrs. Rutherford Caverhill for full-time graduate study and training in the Department of Medicine.

GEORGE G. HARRIS FELLOWSHIP IN CANCER

Eligibility: Established in 1962 by a bequest of George G. Harris to provide a fellowship in Cancer Research.

GERSHMAN MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP FUND

Eligibility: Established in 1965 to record the bequest of funds from the Estate of Fannie Gershman as a memorial to her late husband Mr. Icko Gershman and herself. The income from this endowment is to be used for scholarships in the field of cancer research.

GORDON PHILLIPS FUND FOR RESEARCH IN CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASES

Eligibility: This fund provides a scholarship open to graduate students involved in cardiovascular research.

HARRISON WATSON SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1953 by a bequest from the late Harrison Watson and Ruth Appleton Watson in memory of their only son, Captain Aubrey Wentworth Harrison Watson, D.S.O., M.C. The purpose of the scholarship is to encourage research into the causes and cures of tuberculosis and other diseases of an allied character.

HUGH E. BURKE RESEARCH FUND

Eligibility: Established in 1972 for medical research with preference given to requests for financial assistance for full-time graduate students.

IRMA H. BAUER RESEARCH FUND

Eligibility: The income from a beguest by the late Irma H. Bauer to be used for the support of a full-time graduate student doing research in the field of epilepsy.

J.P. COLLIP FELLOWSHIP IN MEDICAL RESEARCH

Eligibility: Fellowships are awarded for studies at McGill in Anatomy and Cell Biology, Bacteriology, Biochemistry, Histology, Pathology, Pharmacology or Physiology. Candidates must be full-time graduate students (M.Sc. or Ph.D.) in one of these subjects.

JAMES O. AND MARIA MEADOWS SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Established to support graduate research preferably in the field of cancer, but worthy candidates working in other areas of medical or surgical research will also be considered.

JEANNETTE AND ABRAM VICTOR MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Open to full-time graduate students who are principally engaged in research on the physiology of the heart or its diseases.

JOHN MCCRAE FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Intended for graduate students of any approved medical school in the fields relating to surgery, urology, otolaryngology, radiology, etc.

MAYSIE MACSPORRAN GRADUATE STUDENTSHIPS

Established in 2002 by Maysie MacSporran, B.A. 1927, in memory of Esther Cushing and her parents, Dr. Frank R. England and Dr. Octavia Grace Ritchie England.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Medicine's Postgraduate Awards Committee to top-ranked students in the official training programs in each of the Canadian Institutes of Health Research. **Value:** Minimum \$9,000 each.

JOSEPH SCHUBERT MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: For graduates of any approved medical school who are principally engaged in full-time graduate studies on the physiology of the heart or its diseases.

RUTH AND ALEX DWORKIN SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1989, the Ruth and Alex Dworkin Fund will provide scholarships to students, doing postgraduate work in the field of oncology, who would not be able to pursue their studies in the absence of financial assistance. Students will be selected by the Postgraduate Awards Committee.

SAMUEL S. LERNER MEMORIAL AWARD

Established in 2002 by a bequest from Grace Bernice Lerner in memory of her husband, Samuel S. Lerner.

Eligibility: Awarded by the office of the Associate Dean, Graduate Studies and Research of the Faculty of Medicine, to outstanding graduate students pursuing cancer research.

Value: Minimum \$250.

SAMUEL LUPOVITCH MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Open to full-time graduate students who are principally engaged in research on the physiology of the blood or its diseases.

5.2.3 Dentistry

DR. AND MRS. I.N. PESNER MEMORIAL PRIZE

Established in 2001 by a bequest from Dr. Isidore N. Pesner, D.D.S. 1920, and Mrs. I.N. Pesner, to fund a graduate student prize in the Faculty of Dentistry. Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to an outstanding graduate student already in a residency or post graduate program, who will be presenting a paper at a national or international scientific meeting.

Value: Minimum \$500.

DR. E.T. & MRS. MARJORIE BOURKE AWARD

Established by a bequest from Marjorie Bourke in memory of her husband, Dr. E.T. Bourke, DDS, class of 1923.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to a student pursuing graduate studies in dentistry.

Value: Minimum \$1,800.

DR. LYON BERCOVITCH MEMORIAL AWARD

Established by a bequest from Olga Bercovitch in memory of her husband, Dr. Lyon Bercovitch, D.D.S., class of 1914.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to a student pursuing graduate studies in dentistry.

Value: Minimum \$1,800.

DR. SOO KIM LAN PRIZE IN DENTISTRY

蘇金蘭醫生獎學金

Established in 2000 by Arthur Lau, B.Arch 1962 and Crystal S.C. Lau, B.Sc. 1962, M.Sc. 1964, for graduate students in the Faculty of Dentistry to an outstanding graduating student who is entering a Residency or Post Graduate Program,

Value: Minimum \$500.

DR. WAH LEUNG FELLOWSHIP

梁甦華牙醫獎學金

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959), from Hong Kong, in honour of Dr. Wah Leung, the first Dean of Dentistry at the University of British Columbia.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to an entering postdoctoral, doctoral or master's student in the Faculty of Dentistry who is working in pain, oral cancer or bone tissue research.

Value: Minimum \$20,000. Renewable once at the master's level and twice at the postdoctoral and doctoral levels.

DR. YU-MING LAM FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1999 by a generous gift from Dr. Yu-Ming Lam (DDS 1972) and family in honour of Mr. Yin-Bun Lam.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to an entering postdoctoral, doctoral or master's student in the Faculty of Dentistry.

Value: \$10,000, tenable for one year.

HONG KONG FELLOWSHIP IN DENTISTRY

Established in 2002 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate from Hong Kong. The fellowship will be awarded to an outstanding student who has graduated from a Chinese university and is entering a Postdoctoral, Ph.D. or M.Sc. program of study in the Faculty of Dentistry. Awarded by the Dean of the Faculty in consultation with the Graduate Studies Committee. The recipient will be someone who can be expected to make a significant contribution to the advancement of science in their home country after the completion of their studies.

Value: Minimum \$25,000.

5.2.4 Nursing

In addition to the following, several private corporations also provide funding (e.g., The Heart and Stroke Foundation). Students should consult the Director, School of Nursing, 3506 University Street, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 2A7

ALUMNAE ASSOCIATION OF THE MCGILL SCHOOL OF NURSING SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Scholarships are available for students in graduate programs.

Value: Minimum of \$1,000 per award prorated by student status. **Deadline:** Applications should be submitted by September 30. **Application:** To the Chair of the Scholarship Committee, Alumnae Association, School of Nursing, 3506 University Street, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 2A7.

CANADIAN NURSES FOUNDATION FELLOWSHIP

Members of the Canadian Nurses Foundation and Canadian Nurses Association may apply for awards for study at the baccalaureate, master's and doctoral level. Special awards are identified for neuro-surgical, oncology, community health nursing, epidemiology, etc.

Eligibility: Applicants must be registered in a program and be willing to serve in a nursing position in Canada for one year for each academic year funded. Quebec applicants must apply for licensure in another Canadian province or territory in order to apply for a Fellowship.

Deadline: April 15.

Application: Apply to the Canadian Nurses Foundation, 50 The Driveway, Ottawa, Ontario, K2P 1E2 after November 1.

CORPORATION OF NURSES OF THE DISTRICT OF MONTREAL BURSARY

Bursaries are awarded yearly for study leading to a Master's degree or to a doctorate in nursing.

Application: For further information re: application, please write to: Corporation of Nurses of the District of Montreal, 666 Sherbrooke Street W., Suite 1004, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 1E7.

F. MOYRA ALLEN PRIZE

Established in 1987 in honour of Dr. F. Moyra Allen, B.N. (1948), Emeritus Professor of Nursing 1985, for her distinguished career and international renown.

Eligibility: Awarded by the School to a graduating student in the Master's program who shows potential for a distinctive career in the study and practice of nursing.

Value: \$800.

IRMA K. RILEY AWARDS

Established through a bequest from Irma K. Riley, Cert. Nurs. 1951. Awarded on the basis of scholarly achievement by the School of Nursing to outstanding non-nurse applicants entering the Qualifying program for a Master's degree in Nursing.

Value: Minimum \$2,800 each.

NESSA LECKIE MEMORIAL AWARD

Established in 2001 through a generous bequest from Nessa Leckie, B.N. 1961. Awarded by the School of Nursing to an outstanding student enrolled in the Master's program whose major focus is mental health or psychiatric nursing, who is working or has previously worked in the nursing field in an area relating to mental health or psychiatric nursing or who has demonstrated clinical expertise in this area. Not open to students in the Qualifying Year of the direct entry program.

Value: Minimum \$2,500.

ORDER OF NURSES OF QUEBEC BURSARIES

Value: Eight bursaries of \$10,000 are awarded each year to nurses for studies leading to a Master's degree or to a doctorate degree in nursing.

Deadline: March 15.

Application: To the Ordre des infirmières et infirmiers du Québec, Secretary of the Committee on Bursaries, 4200 Dorchester Blvd West, Westmount, Quebec, H3Z 1V4.

ROYAL VICTORIA HOSPITAL SCHOOL OF NURSING ALUMNAE ASSOCIATION BURSARY

Bursaries are available for graduates of the Royal Victoria Hospital, School of Nursing, who have been accepted into an approved University program.

Application: For further information apply to the Alumnae Office, Nurses' Home, Royal Victoria Hospital, 687 Pine Avenue West, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 1A1.

ST. JOHN AMBULANCE (ORDER OF ST. JOHN) OF CANADA BURSARIES

Eligibility: Available to experienced registered nurses preparing for leadership positions. Preference will be given to qualified applicants who are volunteers with St. John Ambulance.

Value: One bursary of \$1,000 from the Margaret MacLaren Memorial Fund for studies at the Master's level.

Deadline: February 15.

Application: Apply to the Chair of Bursary Funds, St. John Ambulance, National Headquarters, 312 Laurier Avenue East, Ottawa, Ontario, K1N 6P6.

W.K. KELLOGG FOUNDATION LOAN FUND

Value: This fund was established to assist students who have unexpected expenses while registered in courses at the School of Nursing.

Application: Consult the Director, Student Aid Office, Brown Student Services Building, 3600 McTavish Street, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 1Y2.

5.2.5 Physical and Occupational Therapy

BARBARA ROSENTHAL PRIZE

Established in 1992 as a tribute to Barbara Rosenthal's longstanding affiliation with the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy and her devoted years of service to the practice of occupational therapy.

Eligibility: Awarded to a full-time student in the Master's program in Rehabilitation Science with preference being given to an occupational therapist. The prize will be given by the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy on the basis of high academic standing during the first year of the program.

Value: \$225.

BOURSE DE RECHERCHE ANNE LANG ETIENNE

Value: \$1000. Offered to occupational therapists pursuing a Master's or Ph.D. degree who are full members of the Ordre des ergothérapeutes du Québec (OPEQ).

Application: August 15 - September 15. For further information contact the Ordre des ergothérapeutes du Québec, 2021 Union Street, Suite 920, Montreal, H3A 2S9, Tel: (514) 844-5778, Fax: (514) 844-0478, E-mail: ergo@oeq.org, Web site: www.oeq.org.

BOURSE DE RECHERCHE EN MILIEU CLINIQUE ET BOURSE D'ÉTUDES SUPÉRIEURES

Eligibility: Offered to physiotherapists and also those registered in the Master's program.

Deadline: September 30.

Value: \$2,000 (Graduate Studies) and \$1,500 (Research).

Application: Apply to L'Ordre des physiothérapeutes du Québec, 7101 Jean-Talon est, bureau 1120, Anjou, Québec, H1M 3N7, Tel: (514) 351-2770, Toll free: 1-800-361-2001, Fax: (514) 351-2658, E-mail: physio@oppq.qc.ca, Web site: www.oppq.qc.ca.

JUDITH KORNBLUTH-GELFAND GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP

Established by her husband and Dynamic Capital Corporation as a tribute to Judith Kornbluth-Gelfand (Dip.Phys.Ther., class of 1958), in recognition of her interest in children suffering from neurological and neuromuscular disorders.

Eligibility: Awarded by the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy to an outstanding graduate student conducting research studies to improve the efficacy of physiotherapeutic rehabilitation with preference to pediatrics, neurological and neuromuscular disorders.

Value: \$2,000.

KAVITA KULKARNI MEMORIAL PRIZE IN REHABILITATION SCIENCE

Established in 2002 by family, friends and the Jewish Rehabilitation Hospital (JRH) Foundation in memory of Kavita Kulkarni, B.Sc.(Phys.Ther.) 2001. Kavita was an outstanding student in the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy whose sudden and tragic death was mourned by all who knew her.

Eligibility: Awarded by the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy on the basis of high academic standing excellence to an outstanding graduate student enrolled in a full-time degree program in the School. Preference shall be given to students pursuing research in Rehabilitation Science at the JRH.

Value: Minimum \$750.

MARGHERITA RAPAGNA MEMORIAL PRIZE IN REHABILITATION SCIENCE

Established in 2002 by family, friends and the Jewish Rehabilitation Hospital (JRH) Foundation in memory of Margherita Rapagna. Margherita was an outstanding student in the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy whose sudden and tragic death was mourned by all who knew her.

Eligibility: Awarded by the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy on the basis of high academic standing excellence to an outstanding graduate student enrolled in a full-time degree program in the School. Preference shall be given to students pursuing research in Rehabilitation Science at the JRH.

Value: Minimum \$500.

PATRICIA ANN MACDONALD WELLS VAN DAELE MEMORIAL AWARD

Established in 2003 by family, friends and colleagues of Patricia Ann MacDonald Wells Van Daele as well as graduates of the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy.

Eligibility: Awarded by the School of Physical and Occupational Therapy to students enrolled in the School's professional programs or to post-baccalaureate physical and occupational therapists registered in the Master's programs in Rehabilitation Science, in recognition of an outstanding clinical, community-based, or research project related to the aging population and/or clinical education.

Value: Minimum \$500.

5.3 Natural Sciences and Engineering

5.3.1 Various Agricultural, Nutritional, and Biological Sciences Units

AJINOMOTO HEARTLAND/HALCHEMIX SCHOLARSHIP

Awarded to a graduate student in animal and poultry science who is conducting research in the field of amino acids in the nutrition of monogastric livestock. Preference will be given to a Ph.D. candidate.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee on the recommendation of the Department of Animal Science.

Value: \$500.

AMY WONG BIOTECHNOLOGY AWARD

黄辛炯僖夫人生物技術獎

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959) from Hong Kong.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Institute of Parasitology to a qualified student from China, including Hong Kong, who is an outstanding student entering the Biotechnology Graduate Certificate Program. The recipients are expected to return to their home country after the completion of their studies.

Value: Minimum \$10,000.

AMY WONG FELLOWSHIP

黄辛炯僖夫人獎學金

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959) from Hong Kong.

Eligibility: Awarded to a qualified student from China, including Hong Kong, who is an entering postdoctoral fellow, Ph.D. or M.Sc. student conducting agricultural production/food related research in the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences. Awarded by the Dean of the Faculty in consultation with the departments. The recipients are expected to return to their home country after the completion of their studies.

Value: Minimum \$20,000. Renewable once at the master's level and twice at the doctoral or postdoctoral levels.

ANDRE COURTEMANCHE FELLOWSHIPS IN BIOINFORMATICS

Established in 2004 by Andre Courtemanche, B.Sc. 1985, M.Sc. 1987, for outstanding graduate students in the Faculty of Science's School of Computer Science, who are pursuing their Doctorate or Master's degree in the field of Computer Science, and conducting research in bioinformatics.

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of academic merit by the Office of Graduate and Postdoctoral studies on the recommendation of the School of Computer Science, with a preference for newly admitted NSERC or FQRNT fellowship recipients, or alternatively, international students with upper first class or equivalent standing

Value: \$6,250; renewable for an additional year

ARTHUR WILLEY MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: New applicants to the M.Sc. or Ph.D. program; to be awarded on the recommendation of the Biology Department. Value: \$2,500; non-renewable.

Application: An application for admission must be received in the Biology Department prior to March 1.

BLAIR POSTGRADUATE FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Established through a bequest to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences from the Blair Farm estate, Chateauguay Valley. Awarded annually to a doctoral candidate whose research has a clear relationship to problems of Quebec farms, with preference for marginal farms in south-western Quebec. For the Department of Agricultural Economics, M.Sc. students are eligible.

Value: \$5,000; renewable for up to three years.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee. Candidates will be requested to provide a one-page statement explaining how their project relates to the fellowship.

CASPER W. OWEN FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Graduate students, both M.Sc. and Ph.D. level, enrolled or planning to enrol in Plant Science are eligible for this award but preference will be given to entering students. Applicants should have outstanding academic records or equivalent research experience.

Value: \$10,000 (two instalments); renewable once. The department will ensure that the holder of the fellowship has an academic income of at least \$16,000.

Application: Apply to the Department of Plant Science. Entering graduate students should submit their fellowship application with application for graduate studies.

CATHERINE FREEMAN FELLOWSHIP IN HUMAN NUTRITION

Established in 2002 by Catherine Freeman, B.H.S. 1941, for an outstanding graduate student in the School of Dietetics and Human Nutrition.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee on the recommendation of the School.

Award: Minimum \$10.000.

DR. AND MRS. MILTON LEONG FELLOWSHIP

梁家康 醫生夫婦研究生獎學金

Established in 1994 through a donation of Dr. Milton H.K. Leong, B.Sc.1966, M.D., C.M.1970, and Susanna S.C. Leong (Liang), B.Sc. 1969, M.Sc. 1973 to support academic exchanges between McGill and Chinese universities. Available to graduate students in the Faculty of Science, with preference to students from Nankai, Peking, and Tsinghua Universities.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the Faculty of Science.

Value: \$15,000; renewable once.

Application: Students apply through the McGill Major Fellowships competition; see section 4.2, "McGill Major Fellowships (for continuing students only)".

E. MELVILLE DUPORTE AWARD

Established by an endowment to honour the late E. Melville DuPorte, B.SA., S.Sc., Ph.D., and D.Sc., long-time Professor of Entomology at Macdonald College and a respected leader and researcher.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student demonstrating excellence in the first year of graduate studies in Entomology in the Department of Natural Resource Sciences.

Value: \$500.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee.

FREDERICK DIMMOCK MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1988 by an endowment in memory of the late Frederick Dimmock, a graduate of Macdonald College (1923). **Eligibility:** Awarded annually by the Plant Science Department to a postgraduate student pursuing an aspect of research on cereal crops.

Value: Approximately \$4,000.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee.

ROBERT P. HARPER FELLOWSHIP IN PARASITOLOGY

Established in 2005 by a bequest from Robert P. Harper. M.Sc. 1947, Ph.D. 1949, a former faculty member at the Institute of Parasitology.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office upon the recommendation from the Fellowships committee of the Institute of Parasitology in the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences, to a newly admitted international student for doctoral studies Parasitology. The fellowship will be awarded on the basis of academic excellence and research potential.

Value: Minimum \$11,000, renewable twice, plus a mandatory contribution from the supervisor's research funds to provide a minimum annual income of \$16,000.

HUGH BAILY AWARD

Established through a legacy by Philip Pendlebury Baily (B.Sc. 1913, M.Sc. 1914) in memory of his brother, Hugh Reginald Dowson Baily (Agriculture 1916), the first member of the University to give his life in the war of 1914-18.

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate student in an agriculture-related field through the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences. Preference will be given to students completing their dissertation who require less than one year of support.

Value: \$750.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee

JOHN AND ETHELENE GAREAU FELLOWSHIP IN SCIENCE

Established in 2002 by John, B.Sc. 1952 and Ethelene Gareau, for an outstanding graduate student pursuing environmental research in the Faculty of Science, Department of Biology.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Biology on the basis of academic merit.

Value: \$10.000.

LEWIS A. FISCHER MEMORIAL BURSARY IN AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS

Established through donations in recognition of Dr. Fischer's contributions to the Department of Agricultural Economics from 1959 to 1989

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate student in Agricultural Economics, based on academic achievement and financial need. Preference will be given to an international student.

Value: \$1,000. Deadline: April 1.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee. For more information contact the Department of Agricultural Economics.

LYNDEN LAIRD LYSTER MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP IN PARASITOLOGY

Established in 1972 by a bequest from the estate of Arthur J. Lyster in memory of his son.

Eligibility: Awarded by the fellowships committee of the Institute of Parasitology to new applicants for graduate studies in parasitology who are nominated by the academic staff of the Institute. The fellowship will be awarded on the basis of strong academic standing and financial need. With other considerations being equal, preference will be given to candidates from (a) the Eastern Townships; (b) the Province of Quebec; and (c) Canada – in

that order. Should there be no suitable candidate from Canada, the award will be open to any resident of the British Commonwealth or suitable person.

Value: \$14,000.

MACDONALD CLASS OF '44 ROWLES GRADUATE BURSARY

Established by the Class of '44 in honour of William and Laura Rowles to recognize with respect the affection and friendship, which the Rowles have shared with Macdonald students and graduates through the years.

Eligibility: Awarded to Macdonald graduate students who are in good academic standing and have demonstrated financial need. Preference will be given to Canadian students.

Value: \$750.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee.

MARGARET DUPORTE FELLOWSHIPS

Established by a bequest of the late Margaret DuPorte, B.Sc.(Agr.) 1936

Eligibility: Awarded to students in the M.Sc. or Ph.D. programs in the Department of Natural Resource Sciences for graduate studies in Entomology.

Value: \$8,000 (two instalments).

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee

MARIAN AND RALPH SKETCH FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2001 through a bequest from Marian Howard Sketch, in memory of her husband, the late Ralph M. Sketch B.S.A. '31, to encourage and support a student from China studying in a program offered on the Macdonald Campus. Awarded by the Scholarships Committee, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences; tenable for two years at the M. Sc. Level or three years at the Ph. D. level.

Value: \$15,000.

MARY LOUISE TAYLOR FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1994 through a donation of Mrs. Judy Mappin, B.Sc.1950, in memory of her late sister Mary Louise Taylor, B.A. 1952.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO. The fellowships may be held by students registered in any graduate program in the Faculty of Science at McGill, with preference given to women. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$15,000; renewable once.

Application: Students apply through the McGill Major Fellowships competition; see section 4.2, "McGill Major Fellowships (for continuing students only)".

"OLD SUN" ENTRANCE SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1994 by Joy Harvie Maclaren, a 1944 Macdonald dietetics graduate, in recognition of the 50th anniversary of her graduation and in honour of her late father. Eric Harvie was made Honorary Chief Old Sun by the Blackfoot tribe of Alberta in recognition of his great interest in their native culture and making it possible for this to be recorded for future preservation. Chief Old Sun and Chief Crowfoot together signed Treaty No. 7 with the Canadian Government in 1874 for land, peace and education.

Eligibility: Preference to Canadian aboriginal students (alternatively students from Western Canada) who are entering studies in dietetics, human nutrition, or environmental sciences on the Macdonald Campus. Applicants must demonstrate academic achievement, community involvement, leadership and financial need. Undergraduate and graduate students will be considered.

Value: \$3,000 - \$9,000. May be renewed for a maximum of two years subject to satisfactory standing and full-time status.

Application: Awarded by the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee, after department invitation of candidates to apply.

PHILIP CARPENTER FELLOWSHIP IN BIOLOGY

Established in 1892 by Mrs. Philip P. Carpenter to provide "a post-graduate teaching fellowship or scholarship in Natural Science or some branch thereof."

Eligibility: New applicants to the M.Sc. or Ph.D. program; to be awarded on the recommendation of the Biology Department.

Value: Two awards of \$2,000 each year.

Application: An application for admission must be received in the Biology Department prior to March 1.

PLANT SCIENCE POSTGRADUATE AWARD

This memorial award was established by the family and friends of the late Robert Klinck, a former student.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student who has successfully completed at least one year of post-graduate studies in the Department of Plant Science and who has demonstrated good citizenship in the Department.

Value: Approximately \$1,200.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee.

ROLAND LOISELLE PRIZE IN PLANT GENETICS

Established in 2000 in honor of Roland Loiselle (B.Sc. Agr. 1949, M.Sc. 1951).

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Plant Science to a graduate student who is conducting research in plant genetics. The award is renewable for one year in an M.Sc. program and two years in a Ph.D. program subject to satisfactory progress reports from the supervisory committee. The recipient must be a citizen or Permanent Resident of Canada.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee

Value: Minimum \$1,500.

ROTARY CLUB OF MONTREAL INTERNATIONAL AGRICULTURAL AWARD

Established by the Rotary Club of Montreal in 1997 to provide opportunity for international students in agriculture to study at McGill

Eligibility: Awarded to an international student for graduate level studies at the Macdonald Campus in the area of agriculture and food production. Preference will be given to entering students from Asia, Africa or the Caribbean, who require additional financial assistance and who intend to return to their home country to train others.

Value: \$5,000. Renewable for one year in the M.Sc. program and two years in the Ph.D. program.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships Committee.

SIR VINCENT MEREDITH FELLOWSHIP IN AGRICULTURAL ECONOMICS

Eligibility: Offered to an outstanding student admitted to the graduate program in Agricultural Economics. The recipients of this fellowship may be expected to participate in the teaching program of the department.

Value: \$10,000 (two instalments) renewable once on the basis of satisfactory progress.

Deadline: April 1.

Application: Apply to the Department of Agricultural Economics. Entering graduate students should submit their fellowship application with application for graduate studies.

T.W.M. CAMERON AWARD IN PARASITOLOGY

Eligibility: Open to M.Sc. or Ph.D. graduates at the Institute of Parasitology on completion of their degree. Awarded for excellence in parasitology, demonstrated in the course of study at the Institute of Parasitology.

Value: A book prize.

Application: Nominations by a selection committee at the Institute of Parasitology.

VINEBERG FAMILY FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1990 by the family of Gertrude Vineberg to support research on environmental quality.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the Executive Committee of the Limnology Research Centre to an outstanding student pursuing graduate studies and research on fresh water pollution, conservation and rehabilitation.

Value: \$8,000, non-renewable.

WALTER M. STEWART POSTGRADUATE SCHOLARSHIP IN AGRICULTURE

From a fund established by the late Walter M. Stewart.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to students studying at the postgraduate level at Macdonald Campus. Preference will be given to graduates of Quebec universities. If there are insufficient suitable candidates at the postgraduate level in a particular year, funds will be awarded to undergraduate students in the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences who have achieved high academic standing.

Application: By departmental recommendation to the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarships

Value: \$4,000 awards, totalling \$20,000.

WILFRED YAPHE AWARD

Established in 1986 by the Department of Microbiology and Immunology, in memory of Dr. Wilfred Yaphe, Professor in the Department from 1966 until his untimely death in 1986.

Eligibility: Granted upon recommendation of the Graduate Committee of the Department of Microbiology and Immunology, to one M.Sc. student and one Ph.D. student who were awarded their degrees during the academic year.

Value: \$250.

5.3.2 Chemical Engineering

WILLIAM H. GAUVIN FELLOWSHIP IN CHEMICAL ENGINEERING

Established in the memory of William H. Gauvin, O.C., B.Eng. (1941), M.Eng. (1942), Ph.D. (1945), D.Sc. (Hon.) (1985), former Professor of Chemical Engineering.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO to a student in the first or second year of Ph.D. study upon recommendation of the Department of Chemical Engineering. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: Up to \$15,000; renewable once.

5.3.3 Chemistry

CANADIAN SOCIETY FOR CHEMISTRY - MONTREAL-2001 GRADUATE AWARD

Established in 2002 by the organizing committee of the CSC-Montreal 2001 conference to recognize excellence and distinguished academic standing by students in the Department of Chemistry. **Eligibility:** Awarded by the Department of Chemistry to one or more outstanding graduate students to support expenses related to the presentation of a paper or papers at a major national or international conference.

Value: Minimum \$2,650.

CARL A. WINKLER AWARD IN CHEMISTRY

Made possible by the donations of his graduate students, colleagues, friends, and a matching gift by Polysar Limited. **Eligibility:** Given annually to the Ph.D. candidate who upon grad-

uating is judged to be of outstanding academic excellence.

Value: Approximately \$1,000.

Application: No applications necessary. Awarded by the Chemistry Department.

COLL MCFEE MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1968 from a bequest of the late Miss Julia Beatrice Anderson McFee in honour of her father, Coll McFee and her brother, Malcolm Charles Coll McFee, B.A. (1905), B.Sc. (1908), M.Sc.

Eligibility: To a student proceeding to the M.Ed. (Secondary Education) degree in Chemistry or a graduate of the McGill Chemistry Department who is proceeding to a M.Sc. or Ph.D. degree.

Value: Varies.
Deadline: June 1.

Application: Apply to the Chair, Department of Chemistry.

DAVID J. SIMKIN AWARD IN PHYSICAL CHEMISTRY

Established in 1998 in honour of D.J. Simkin, physical chemistry professor in the Department of Chemistry from 1969-1997. **Value:** \$500.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Chemistry to a doctoral student at the beginning of the student's third year of doctoral studies in physical chemistry research on the basis of excellence in graduate course work and research.

PALL DISSERTATION AWARD

Established in 1997 by Dr. David Pall.

Value: \$6,000.

Application: No application necessary. Awarded by the Department of Chemistry to an outstanding doctoral student who is in the last six months of the Ph.D. program.

RICHARD T. MOHAN SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1971 to honour the memory of the late Richard T. Mohan.

Eligibility: Awarded to a post-graduate student proceeding to the Ph.D. degree.

Value: Varies.

Application: No applications necessary. Awarded by the Chemistry Department.

ROBERT ZAMBONI PRIZE(S) IN CHEMISTRY

Established in honour of Dr. Robert Zamboni (Ph.D. in Chemistry 1979), a distinguished Medicinal chemist at Merck Frosst Centre for Therapeutic Research.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Chemistry on an annual basis to graduate students who have demonstrated excellence in research for the dissemination of their research.

Value: Minimum \$300.

T. STERRY HUNT AWARDS IN CHEMISTRY

Value: Several \$400 awards for best demonstrating.

Application: No applications necessary. Awarded by the Chemistry Department.

UDHO, PARSINI, DIWAN AWARD IN CHEMISTRY

Established in 1994 by Mr. G.C. Kakar, Dr. A. Kakar, and Mr. P. Kakar in memory of family members. Awarded on the basis of the best research paper published in the calendar year by a graduate student in the Chemistry Department.

Eligibility: Recipients must be registered at the time of submission of the research paper for the competition.

Value: \$300.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Chemistry in January each year.

5.3.4 Earth and Planetary Sciences

ALEXANDER A. MCGREGOR FELLOWSHIP IN EARTH AND PLANETARY SCIENCES

Established by Mr. Alexander A. McGregor (B.Sc. McGill '48). **Eligibility:** Awarded on recommendation of the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences to an outstanding research student in any field of the earth sciences.

Value: \$10,000.

CARL REINHARDT SCHOLARSHIPS AND BURSARIES IN PHYSICS AND EARTH AND PLANETARY SCIENCES

Established from the estate of the late Carl Reinhardt.

Eligibility: To be used for scholarships or bursaries or in the support of research for graduate students in Physics, and Earth and Planetary Sciences. Awards are made by the Chair of the department concerned.

Value: Varies

DAVID HARRIGAN MEMORIAL PRIZE

Established in 1980 by his classmates, friends and family in memory of David Harrigan (B.Sc. 1973, M.Sc.A. 1975). **Eligibility:** Awarded by the Faculty of Science Scholarships Committee on the recommendation of the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences to a student with high standing in the M.Sc. (Applied) course, or to a graduate or undergraduate student with an interest in geochemistry.

Value: \$600.

GERALDINE ELIZABETH DAVIDSON FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1989 by a bequest from Geraldine E. Davidson to support students with good academic standing and financial need registered in Graduate Studies and studying towards a higher degree in the field of earth and planetary sciences. Awarded by the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences.

Value: \$6,000.

J.B. LYNCH FELLOWSHIP IN EARTH AND PLANETARY SCIENCES

Eligibility: For an outstanding student commencing or continuing postgraduate studies in Earth and Planetary Sciences. Awarded by the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences.

Value: \$10,000.

JOHN STEVENSON MEDAL

Eligibility: Awarded on the Department's recommendation to the graduating student ranking first in the M.Sc.A. program in Mineral Exploration in the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences.

LEROY MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIPS IN EARTH AND PLANETARY SCIENCES

Established by friends of Captain O.E. LeRoy (Arts, 1895), who was killed at Passchendale, in October 1917.

Eligibility: May be awarded annually to a student who desires to proceed with postgraduate studies in Earth and Planetary Sciences at McGill.

Value: \$7,000.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences.

WILLIAM HENRY HOWARD SCHOLARSHIPS

Bequeathed in 1955 by the late Mrs. Florence P. Howard in memory of her husband.

Eligibility: Open to undergraduate and graduate students in Earth and Planetary Sciences.

Value: Two scholarships of \$1,500 each.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Earth and Planetary Sciences.

5.3.5 Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering

B.J. HARRINGTON BURSARY IN MINING ENGINEERING

Supported by graduates in Mining Engineering in memory of the late Professor B.J. Harrington.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to a suitable graduate student. **Value:** \$4,000.

HORACE G. YOUNG FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Awarded to graduates of McGill University who are conducting advanced research in the Department of Mining and Metallurgical Engineering.

Value: Seven awards of \$3,000 each are made annually.

Application: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the Chair of the Department of Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering.

J.M. BISHOP AWARD FOR ENVIRONMENTAL RESEARCH

Established in 2004 by John M. Bishop B. Eng. 1947 (Mechanical) for outstanding graduate students in the Faculty of Engineering.

Eligibility: Awarded as a top-up to a prestigious external fellowship by the Dean of the Faculty of Engineering upon the recommendations of the Chairs and Directors of the academic units in the Faculty, with preference to students conducting environmental research focused on reducing our dependency on non-renewable resources.

Value: \$5,000, renewable once at the Master's level or twice at the doctoral level

JAMES DOUGLAS FELLOWSHIPS IN MINING ENGINEERING

Eligibility: Awarded annually to suitable graduate students.

Value: Five research and teaching fellowships of \$2,000 each in the Department of Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering endowed by the late Dr. James Douglas.

SIR WILLIAM DAWSON FELLOWSHIP IN METALLURGY

Endowed in memory of the late Sir William Dawson, Principal of McGill University from 1855 to 1893.

Value: Two research and teaching graduate awards of \$6,000 or six undergraduate awards totalling \$12,000 in the Department of Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering.

WILLIAM STEWART RUGH SCHOLARSHIP

Endowed by the late Helen Stewart Rugh in memory of her father, William Stewart Rugh.

Eligibility: The awards are made on the recommendation of the Chair of the Department of Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering.

Value: Five research and teaching postgraduate awards of \$3,000 each or up to ten undergraduate awards of \$1,500 each in the Department of Mining, Metals and Materials Engineering. Various Physical Science and Engineering Units

A.F. DUNLOP SCHOLARSHIPS

Travelling scholarships bequeathed in 1937 by the late Mrs. Catherine A. Dunlop for students graduating with the M.Arch.1 degree. Apply, stating proposed study, localities to be visited and date of departure, to the Director of the School before January 31. Selection is made by a Committee of Staff of the School of Architecture. **Value:** Minimum \$2,500 each.

ALEXANDER MCFEE FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Open to graduates of any approved university who are resident full-time candidates for higher degrees or diplomas at McGill. The award will be made in Physics, Chemistry, and Medical Sciences (with preference for Cancer research).

Value: \$10,000.

ALVARO ORTEGA AWARD

Established in memory of Alvaro Ortega by his wife, Madeleine Ortega and colleagues. Prof. Ortega was a graduate of the McGill School of Architecture and established the School's graduate program in Minimum Cost Housing, where he taught for many years. Eligibility: Awarded annually by the School of Architecture to a graduate student who is in financial need and good academic standing and whose research is in the area of low cost housing. Value: \$500.

AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS HENRY ADAMS MEDAL AND CERTIFICATES OF MERIT

Established in 1986 and awarded for general excellence to graduating students in the professional program of architecture schools recognized by the Institute. The medal and certificate are awarded by the School of Architecture to the top ranking student, and a second certificate to the second ranking graduating student.

ARCOP/ALCAN AWARD

Awarded annually to a student in the final semester of the M.Arch.1 program for a design project demonstrating particular sensitivity to the architectural and cultural traditions of its location. The winner will be selected by a jury of three members, at least one of whom is a professional architect who is not a member of the staff of the School of Architecture.

Value: \$1,000.

CAE AWARD IN ENGINEERING EXCELLENCE

Established in 2002 by CAE Inc. Founded in 1947, CAE is a global leader in the provision of simulation and control technologies and training solutions for aerospace, defence and marine markets. Awarded on the basis of high academic standing by the Faculty of Engineering Scholarships Committee. Preference shall be given to students entering their first year of graduate studies in either the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering or the Department of Mechanical Engineering.

Value: Minimum \$2,000.

CANADIAN INSTITUTE OF MINING AND METALLURGY MONTREAL BRANCH LOAN FUND

Established in 1958 by the Montreal Branch of the Institute of Mining and Metallurgy to provide loans to students in Geological Sciences, Metallurgical Engineering, and Mining Engineering.

CARL REINHARDT SCHOLARSHIPS AND BURSARIES IN PHYSICS AND EARTH AND PLANETARY SCIENCES

Established from the estate of the late Carl Reinhardt.

Eligibility: To be used for scholarships or bursaries or in the support of research for graduate students in Physics, and Earth and Planetary Sciences. Awards are made by the Chairs of the departments concerned.

CHARLES LEGEYT FORTESCUE FELLOWSHIP IN ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING

Eligibility: Candidates must have majored in the field of Electrical Engineering and have received a Bachelor's degree from an engineering college of recognized standing. Preference will be given to applicants about to begin their first year of graduate work

Deadline: January 31.

Value: Stipend of \$24,000 for one year of full time graduate work in Electrical Engineering at an engineering school of recognized standing located in the U.S. or Canada.

Application: Information available from: Secretary, Charles LeGeyt Fortescue Fellowships Committee, Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineering, Inc., 345 East 47th Street, New York, NY 10017.

CLIFFORD C.F. WONG FELLOWSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE

黃振輝 建築學獎學金

Eligibility: Established in 1987 by Clifford Wong (B.Arch. 1960), this prestigious award is open to students entering the graduate program in Architecture. According to the terms of the bequest, preference will be given to applicants from the People's Republic of China. Only in the event that there are no qualified applicants from China will the Fellowship be offered to a candidate from another country.

Value: A total fund of \$12,000 is available annually, from which award(s) are made at the discretion of the School of Architecture Graduate Fellowships Committee.

DR. JAMES E. GRIFFITHS AWARD IN MATERIAL SCIENCES

Established in 2001 by Dr. James E. Griffiths, Ph.D. 1959. Awarded by the GPSO upon recommendation of the Faculty of Science to an outstanding incoming graduate student pursuing studies and research in material sciences in the Faculty of Science. Preference will be given to students holding an FQRNT (FCAR) or NSERC fellowship.

Value: Minimum \$2,000.

DR. AND MRS. MILTON LEONG FELLOWSHIP

See complete description under previous heading: Agricultural and Biological Sciences.

DR. ROBERT G.H. LEE FELLOWSHIP

李甘棠博士獎學金

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959), from Hong Kong, in honour of Dr. Robert G.H. Lee, B. Eng. 1947 (Metallurgical Engineering).

Value: Minimum \$15,000. Renewable once at the master's level and twice at the postdoctoral or doctoral levels.

Application: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the Faculty of Engineering to an entering postdoctoral, doctoral or master's student in either Chemical Engineering or Mining and Metallurgical Engineering.

DR. SOO KIM LAN PRIZE IN ARCHITECTURE

蘇金蘭醫生獎學金

Established in 2000 by Arthur C.F. Lau (B.Arch. 1962) and Crystal S.C. Soo Lau (B.Sc. 1962, M.Sc. 1964) in memory of the latter's mother, Dr. Soo Kim Lan. The prize is awarded by a committee of staff of the School of Architecture to an outstanding student completing the second semester of study in the Master of Architecture program.

Value. \$2,000.

DOW-HICKSON FELLOWSHIP IN PHYSICS

Endowed by the late Professor J.W.A. Hickson.

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate student of any approved university proceeding to a higher degree in any branch of physics at McGill, or by a McGill graduate pursuing such studies elsewhere.

Value: Two fellowships of \$6,500 each.

Application: Current graduate students apply to the Chair, Department of Physics.

EMIL NENNIGER MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Funded by a donation from Mrs. F.S. Nenniger in memory of her husband's outstanding contribution to engineering.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to graduate students of Chemical and Civil Engineering on the basis of scholastic ability and general promise.

Value: Two Fellowships of \$3,000.

Application: Apply to the Chair, Department of Chemical or Civil Engineering.

ENGINEERING CLASS OF 1936 AWARD

Established by graduates of the Engineering Class of 1936, in honour of their 60th reunion in 1996, to enable the Faculty of Engineering to attract high calibre candidates to McGill.

Eligibility: Available to students commencing graduate studies in Engineering with a preference to Ph.D. candidates. Awarded by the Faculty of Engineering Scholarships Committee based on recommendations by the Chairs and Directors of Departments and Schools within the Faculty.

Value: Minimum \$3,000.

ERIC L. ADLER FELLOWSHIP IN ELECTRICAL ENGINEERING

Eligibility: Established in 2003 by a graduate alumnus in honour of his former research supervisor, Professor Emeritus Eric L. Adler, for outstanding graduate students. Awarded by the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, upon the recommendation of the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering, on the basis of academic merit.

Value: \$10,000; renewable once at the Master's level, twice at the Ph.D. level.

F.O. FOWLER MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Based on donations from Canadian Pacific Forest Products Limited in memory of their employee, Frank Fowler, a graduate of McGill (B.Eng. '42). Awarded every two years.

Eligibility: Open to graduate students enrolled in a Master's of Engineering or Science program. Preference given to children of C.P. Forest Products Ltd. employees. Restricted to Canadian citizens.

Value: \$8,000; renewable once.

Application: For information contact the Chair, Department of Chemical Engineering or Chair, Department of Chemistry.

FRED LEBENSOLD MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE

Eligibility: Established in 1987 by Mrs. Ruth Lebensold and Family in memory of Fred Lebensold, distinguished Montreal architect and Professor in the McGill School of Architecture from 1952-1955. Awarded annually by the School of Architecture Graduate Fellowship Committee, on the basis of academic merit, to a student entering the Master of Architecture Program.

Value: \$3,500.

GAR LAM YIP MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP IN GUIDED WAVE PHOTONICS

Established in 2000 by family, friends and colleagues in memory of Dr. Gar Lam Yip, distinguished professor in the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering from 1973 - 1999. Awarded by the GPSO on recommendation of the Department to a top student at the Master's level in Electrical and Computer Engineering. Value: Minimum \$16,500 annually; renewable.

GENERAL ELECTRIC AWARD IN ENVIRONMENTAL ENGINEERING

Established in 1997 by a generous gift from the General Electric Foundation.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO to full-time graduate students in the Environmental Engineering Master's program on the recommendation of the program Advisory Committee.

Value: \$6,000.

HAROLD SPENCE-SALES PRIZE IN URBAN PLANNING

Established by graduates and friends of the School of Urban Planning to commemorate the fiftieth anniversary of the founding of urban planning education in Canada at McGill University by Professor Harold Spence-Sales.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student entering the second year of graduate studies, based on academic achievement, by the GPSO on the recommendation of the School of Urban Planning.

Value: Minimum \$250.

H.L. FETHERSTONHAUGH BOOK PRIZE

Established in memory of the late H.L. Fetherstonhaugh, M.C., F.R.A.I.C., F.R.I.B.A., R.C.A., a former member of staff in the School of Architecture. Awarded by the School of Architecture to the student with the highest standing in the course Professional Practice 1.

HUGH MCLENNAN MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established by the Hon. John Stewart McLennan, Dr. Francis McLennan and Miss Isabella McLennan in memory of Hugh McLennan, son of the Hon. John Stewart McLennan, killed at the Battle Ypres in 1915. Awarded for travel to the student who has maintained the highest standing throughout professional studies in Architecture. Selection is made by a Committee of Staff of the School of Architecture.

Value: \$4,500.

JOHN BLAND SCHOLARSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959), from Hong Kong, in honour of Professor John Bland, Director of the School of Architecture between 1941 and 1972. Awarded by a committee of staff of the School of Architecture to a graduating student to support work in China.

Value: \$5,000.

JOHN BONSALL PORTER SCHOLARSHIP

Founded by Dr. W.W. Colpitts (B.Sc. 1899).

Eligibility: Open to full-time graduate students currently registered in a M. Eng. in Civil, Mechanical, or Electrical Engineering, preferably in Civil Engineering.

Value: \$1,000.

Application: Apply to the Dean of the Faculty of Engineering. Applications from graduates of other universities must be accompanied by certified statements of academic standing and letters of recommendation.

JOHN BRADBURY AWARD IN GEOGRAPHY

Established in memory of John Bradbury, remembered as one who inspired students and colleagues alike with his enthusiasm for understanding the world, and his commitment to improving the working conditions of ordinary people.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to a Master's student in Geography, alternately from McGill (even-numbered years) and Simon Fraser (odd-numbered years), whose thesis topic is related to John Bradbury's research interest in the economic geography of Canadian resource towns and international development, especially economic and social problems of resource town planning, economic restructuring, housing, class conflict and gender and work.

Value: \$1,000.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Geography.

JOSEPH S. STAUFFER FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1992 by a gift from the Joseph S. Stauffer Foundation to the Faculty of Engineering.

Eligibility: Awarded to students commencing graduate studies in Engineering with preference to Ph.D. candidates. Awarded by the Faculty of Engineering Fellowships Committee, based on the recommendations of Chairs and Directors of academic units in the Faculty.

Value: \$5,000. In the event that the fellowship is awarded to an international student, the value may be increased to a maximum of \$10,000; renewable.

LOUIS B. MAGIL SCHOLARSHIP IN AFFORDABLE HOMES

Established in 1989 by the Groupe Magil in recognition of the contribution to the home building industry in Quebec made by Mr. Louis B. Magil, B.Arch. '36, architect and founder of Magil Construction Ltd.

Eligibility: Made annually by the School of Architecture to an outstanding student (or students) in the Master of Architecture program in Affordable Homes.

Value: \$2,000.

M.P. PAIDOUSSIS PRIZE IN MECHANICAL ENGINEERING

Established in 1993 by M. P. Paidoussis, Professor of Mechanical Engineering.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Mechanical Engineering to the author of the best Master of Engineering thesis (in terms of content and literary style), for a student proceeding to doctoral study.

Value: \$300.

MARY LOUISE TAYLOR FELLOWSHIP

See complete description under previous heading: Agricultural and Biological Sciences.

MAUREEN ANDERSON PRIZES IN ARCHITECTURE

Established in 1995 by faculty, staff and students to honour the dedicated service of Maureen Anderson, a staff member from 1960-1995.

Eligibility: Awarded to undergraduate or graduate students in the School of Architecture on the basis of course work judged to be of high merit and superior written quality. Selection will be made by a committee of staff of the School of Architecture.

Value: Two prizes of \$200 each.

MAX DUNBAR AWARD IN OCEANOGRAPHY

Derived from contributions from former students of Prof. M. J. Dunbar in recognition of his teaching and research career at McGill. Awarded each year by the Oceanography Advisory Committee to a student in any marine field of study with an outstanding academic record.

Value: \$350.

MOTOROLA FOUNDATION GRADUATE AWARD IN ELECTRICAL AND COMPUTER ENGINEERING

Established in 2001 by the Motorola Foundation in conjunction with the Motorola Canada Software Centre [MCSC]. Awarded by the Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering to gradu-

ate students in Electrical, Computer or Software Engineering on the basis of outstanding academic achievement, with consideration for teamwork and leadership qualities. Preference will be given to Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents of Canada with an interest in wireless telecommunications or communications

Value: \$3,750.

NORBERT SCHOENAUER AND DAVID FARLEY FELLOWSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE

Established in 2001 through a major donation by a Hong Kong graduate of the Chemical Engineering Class of 1959. Awarded by the School of Architecture to outstanding students in its post-graduate research programs addressing issues related to the urban environment.

Value: Minimum \$5,000.

NORBERT SCHOENAUER AND DAVID FARLEY FELLOWSHIP IN URBAN PLANNING

Established in 2001 through a major donation by a Hong Kong graduate of the Chemical Engineering Class of 1959. Awarded by the School of Urban Planning to outstanding students in its post-graduate research programs addressing issues related to the urban environment.

Value: Minimum \$6,250, renewable once.

PAPRICAN FELLOWSHIPS IN PULP AND PAPER ENGINEERING

Eligibility: Offered annually by the Pulp and Paper Industry of Canada for competition among full-time students in the Master of Engineering (without thesis) Pulp and Paper option. Applicants must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents.

Value: A number of fellowships of approximately \$20,000.

Application: For information apply to the Chair, Graduate Admission Committee, Department of Chemical Engineering.

PING KWAN LAU PRIZE IN ARCHITECTURE

劉秉鈞獎學金

Established in 2000 by Arthur Lau, B.Arch. 1962 and Crystal S.C. Lau, B.Sc. 1962, M.Sc. 1964, for graduate students in the School of Architecture. Awarded by the School of Architecture to an outstanding graduating student who has demonstrated excellence in the research, site analysis and program preparation for the final design project of the M. Arch. I Program.

Value: Minimum \$500.

RAY (RAYMOND TAIT) AFFLECK PRIZE IN DESIGN

Established in 1989 in memory of Raymond Tait Affleck (FRAIC,RCA), B.Arch. 1947, by his family, colleagues and friends. Awarded to a student in the School of Architecture for distinction in Design in the M.Arch.1 final design project. The winner will be selected by a jury of three members, at least one of whom is a professional architect who is not a member of the staff of the School of Architecture.

Value: \$1,000.

R.M. FOWLER MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Donated by the Pulp and Paper Industry of Canada in memory of Robert M. Fowler, president of the Canadian Pulp and Paper Association from 1945 to 1972.

Eligibility: Offered annually for competition among full-time students in the Master of Engineering (without thesis) Pulp and Paper option. Applicants must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents. Candidates will be judged on both their academic achievement and their demonstrated interest in a career in the Canadian pulp and paper industry.

Value: A fellowship of at least \$21,000.

Application: For information apply to the Chair, Graduate Admissions Committee, Department of Chemical Engineering.

RON RICE MEMORIAL AWARD

Established by family, friends, associates, students and graduates to honour the memory of Professor Ron Rice of the School of

Urban Planning and the Department of Civil Engineering and Applied Mechanics, who passed away on August 20th, 2000. **Eligibility:** Awarded to a student pursuing graduate studies in the field of Transportation Planning and/or Engineering, based on academic merit, by the GPSO on the recommendation of the School of Urban Planning and the Department of Civil Engineer-

ing and Applied Mechanics.

Value: \$1,000.

SCHOOL OF ARCHITECTURE FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Offered annually (in January) to students in the graduate programs from funds contributed by graduates of the School of Architecture. First and second year students registered in the graduate programs in Architecture are eligible.

Value: Varying amounts.

ROYAL ARCHITECTURAL INSTITUTE OF CANADA MEDAL

Offered to a graduating student in the professional program who, in the judgment of the Faculty of the School of Architecture, has completed the most outstanding final design project/thesis for that academic year and who shows promise of being an architect of distinction after graduation. Selection is made by the School of Architecture.

STUART A. WILSON MEMORIAL PRIZE

Established in 1991 in memory of Stuart Anthony Wilson by family, friends and colleagues. Stuart Wilson graduated from the McGill School of Architecture in 1943 and taught there from 1948 to 1991. The prize is awarded by a committee of staff of the School of Architecture to the student with the best portfolio in the annual Sketching School.

Value: \$150.

WARREN FELLOWSHIPS IN GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION SYSTEMS

Established by Roger Warren (B.Com. 1955) to graduate students with strong academic standing whose research is in geographic information systems. Awarded to one or more students by the GPSO upon the recommendation of the Department of Geography.

Value: Minimum \$5,000; renewable.

WERNER GRAUPE MEMORIAL MMM FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2001 in memory of Werner Graupe, a long-standing supporter and friend of the University, by the Masters in Manufacturing Management (MMM) program. Awarded by the MMM program fellowships committee to graduate students in the MMM program. Preference shall be given to students who are Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents and demonstrate fluency in French and English. Priority given to full-time students; part-time students will be considered for partial awards in the absence of qualified full-time candidates.

Value: \$20,000.

WILFRED ONIONS MEMORIAL PRIZE

Established in 1991 in memory of Wilfred Onions, B.Arch. 1932, by family, friends and fellow graduates in Bermuda. This prize commemorates his passion for sketching and life-long commitment to the profession of architecture, and is awarded by a committee of staff of the School of Architecture to the student with the best single work in the Sketching School.

Value: \$200.

WORLD METEOROLOGICAL ORGANIZATION (WMO)

Eligibility: Open to applicants from developing countries, nominated by their governments, for studies or training in meteorology and operational hydrology at universities or meteorological training institutes in countries where facilities are available.

Value: Normally based on United Nations Development Programme stipend rates.

Application: Submitted by Government of candidate's country through the Director of the Meteorological/Hydrological Service, 41, avenue Giuseppe-Motta, 1211 Geneva 20, Switzerland, or the local United Nations Development Programme office.

5.4 Social Sciences and Humanities

5.4.1 Various Social Science and Humanities Units

ALEXANDER MACKENZIE FELLOWSHIP IN POLITICAL SCIENCE

Eligibility: Tenable by a graduate of any accredited university, conditional upon acceptance by the GPSO in the field of Political Science. A certain amount of tutorial and teaching work is required.

Value: One award of \$5,000 and one of \$3,000, possible renewal. Application: No application is required.

ALLEN OLIVER FELLOWSHIPS IN ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

Established by Mrs. Frank Oliver, of Edmonton Alta, in proud and loving memory of her son, the late Allen Oliver, M.C., B.A. Lieutenant, 26th Battery, C.F.A., who was killed in action at the Somme on November 18, 1916. Lieutenant Oliver was an honours graduate in 1915 in the Department of Economics and Political Science.

Eligibility: Awarded to the student who stands highest in first class honours in the Departments of Economics and Political Science at the final B.A. examination. The holder is required to pursue studies in Economics and Political Science at McGill or elsewhere.

Value: Two awards of \$2,500 (one in political science; one in economics)

Application: Through the Departments of Economics and Political Science.

ALLIANCE ATLANTIS FELLOWSHIPS IN COMMUNICATIONS

Established in 2000 through a generous gift from Alliance Atlantis Communications.

Eligibility: Awarded annually, by the Department of Art History and Communication Studies, to two students who have completed one year of study in the graduate program in Communications

Value: \$12,500 each; non-renewable

ANTONIO D'ANDREA MEMORIAL FUND

Established in 1999 in memory of Professor Antonio D'Andrea, Professor Emeritus, Department of Italian Studies.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Italian Studies to provide financial support to graduate students of the Department to attend scholarly conferences.

Value: \$500.

ANNE DUDLEY NOAD AWARD

Established in 1983 in memory of Anne Dudley Noad, a long-time teacher of evening courses in Italian.

Eligibility: On the basis of academic standing, awarded by the Department of Italian Studies to a student entering a graduate program in Italian.

Value: \$300.

BANQUE NATIONALE FELLOWSHIP IN THE MCGILL INSTITUTE FOR THE STUDY OF CANADA

Eligibility: Awarded by the McGill Institute for the Study of Canada to an outstanding candidate for admission to a graduate program at any level, whose research interest will focus on some aspect of the study of Canada.

Value: \$12,000.

Deadline: February 15.

Application: Forms and additional information are available on the Web at www.mcgill.ca/gps under "Graduate Studies", "Fellowships and Awards", "Winter Competitions", or from the McGill Institute for the Study of Canada.

BERNARD MICHAEL TARSHIS AWARD

Established in 1986 by family and friends in memory of Mr. Bernard Michael Tarshis, B. Com. (1969). The award com-

memorates Mr. Tarshis' commitment to the moral, philosophical, and ethical ideals of the Judaic tradition.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of History to the most promising student entering the graduate program in History. Value: \$1,000.

BOURSE D'EXCELLENCE EN LANGUE ET LITTÉRATURE FRANÇAISES GENEVIÈVE DE LA TOUR FONDUE

Créée en 2001 par la succession de Geneviève de La Tour Fondue à l'intention d'un étudiant de maîtrise ou de doctorat du Département de langue et littérature françaises. Décernée par le Département de langue et littérature françaises en reconnaissance de l'excellence du dossier universitaire.

Valeur: Minimum \$6,000.

BRAM GARBER FELLOWSHIP IN ART HISTORY

Established in 1988 in honour of Bram Garber, this tribute to a well-known and respected member of the Canadian business community was provided by the generous gifts of family and friends.

Eligibility: Students pursuing graduate studies in Art History at McGill, Faculty of Arts are eligible.

Application: Awarded by the GPSO upon the recommendation of the Department of History and Communication Studies.

CANADIAN CHINESE CULTURAL SOCIETY OF MONTREAL **INC. SCHOLARSHIP**

Eligibility: Founded in 1969, the Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. offers an annual scholarship to an undergraduate or graduate student majoring in Chinese Studies. Candidates must be Canadian citizens able to demonstrate financial need and registered as full time students in the third or fourth year of undergraduate studies or in a graduate program.

Value: \$1,000 Deadline: April 30.

Application: Applications must be sent to the Scholarship Committee of the Society each year in order to be eligible for consideration for the award for the following academic year. The address is: Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc... Suite 707, 1117 Ste. Catherine Street W., Montreal, Quebec, H3B 1H9. Each applicant should indicate his/her field of studies and plans for the future, as well as a need for financial assistance. The scholarship will be awarded at an official function of the Society during the month of September.

CEDRIK GODDARD MEMORIAL AWARD IN ISLAMIC **STUDIES**

Established in 2001 by Thomas Albert and Ragna Tischler Goddard, relatives, and friends in memory of Cedrik Christopher Goddard (M.A. 1999). Awarded by the Institute of Islamic Studies in recognition for creativity and academic merit to a graduate student in Islamic Studies.

Value: Minimum \$500.

CREMONA MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP IN LINGUISTICS

Established in 2002 by a bequest from Isida Bernardinis Cremona, B.A. 1965, M.A. 1967.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Linguistics to an outstanding graduate student registered in the Ph.D. or M.A. program in Linguistics.

Value: Minimum \$6,000.

DAISY A. LATIMER MEMORIAL PRIZE IN HISTORY

Established in 1987 in memory of Daisy Latimer (B.A. 1971) by her devoted friend and former husband, Michael P. Paidoussis, and a few of her closest friends.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of History to the student completing the best M.A. thesis in History, preferably in European or Latin American History, proceeding to doctoral studies at McGill or at another distinguished university. A fine literary style in the thesis is a necessary co-requisite for this award.

Value: \$1,500.

DALE C. THOMSON PRIZE IN POLITICAL SCIENCE

Established in 2001 by Lizanne Ryan Thomson in loving memory of her husband Dale C. Thomson, a long-standing and dedicated professor at McGill University. Awarded by the Department of Political Science to an outstanding doctoral student. Preference shall be given to students studying in the field of Canadian Politics. Value: Minimum \$1,000.

DANIEL Q. MARISI AWARD

Established in 2005 by Mrs. Roberta Marisi, family, friends, and colleagues in memory of Dr. Daniel Q. Marisi, noted sports psychologist

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education to a graduate student (Masters or Doctorate) in Sport or Exercise Psychology, who has been a full-time student for at least one semester of the current year, on the basis of academic merit, conference presentations, and community service in sport and exercise psychology.

Value: \$500.

DAVID FATE NORTON AND MARY J. NORTON FELLOWSHIP IN PHILOSOPHY

Eligibility: Established in 2001 by David Fate Norton and Mary J. Norton to assist a graduate student working full-time on a Ph.D. thesis in Philosophy. Awarded on the basis of academic merit by the Department of Philosophy in the Faculty of Arts. Preference will be given to a student who will complete her or his dissertation in the coming academic year. Recipients must agree not to accept paid or unpaid employment (including any form of teaching, tutoring, grading of papers or research for another party) during tenure of the Fellowship.

Value: Minimum \$5,000 for one term; reapplication is permitted.

DEUTSCHE GESELLSCHAFT ZU MONTREAL SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Canadian citizen or Permanent Resident pursuing graduate studies in German language and literature, including German Canadian studies.

Value: \$2,000.

Application: Awarded by the Department of German Studies.

DOW-HICKSON FELLOWSHIP IN THEORETICAL **PHILOSOPHY**

Endowed by the late Professor J.W.A. Hickson.

Eligibility: Tenable by a graduate of any approved university proceeding to a higher degree in Theoretical Philosophy (Metaphysics, Epistemology, Logic, History of Philosophy) at McGill.

Value: Maximum value \$10,000 (awards of lesser value may be made in certain cases). The holder may apply for a second year of tenure.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Philosophy.

DR. GAURI SHANKAR GUHA AWARD IN INTERNATIONAL **DEVELOPMENT EDUCATION**

Eligibility: Established in 2003 by Dr. Ratna Ghosh in her late father's name for an outstanding graduate student pursuing research in international development education in the Faculty of Education. Awarded on the basis of academic excellence and aptitude for research by the Faculty of Education Awards Com-

Value: Minimum \$1,000.

DR. JOHN A. BRYANT MEMORIAL AWARDS

Established by the Butters Foundation in memory of Dr. John A. Bryant (B.Sc. 1949, M.D. 1951).

Eligibility: Awarded annually to graduate students pursuing studies in the integration of students with handicaps into school and society, by the Director of the Integrated Education Graduate Program.

Value: \$6,000.

ELLEN EDITH GRUBB STANSFIELD AWARD

Established in 2000 by a bequest by Ellen Edith Grubb Stansfield (B.A. 1929, M.A. 1931) in recognition of her experience, leadership and interest in education in general, schools and classrooms in particular. Awarded by the Faculty of Education to an outstanding student entering the first year of a full-time M.A. thesis or Ph.D. program in the Faculty of Education with research in classroom and school contexts.

Value: Minimum \$1,000.

GORDON J.A. WHITEHORNE RECRUITMENT FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2001 by the estate of Gordon James Alexander Whitehorne (B.A.1938) for an outstanding student entering a doctoral program in the Faculty of Arts. Awarded on the basis of academic excellence by the Faculty of Arts.

Value: \$5,000.

GRETTA CHAMBERS FELLOWSHIP IN EDUCATION

Established in 2000 by a generous gift from the Friends of McGill University Inc. of New York to honour Gretta Chambers (B.A. 1947), Chancellor of the University from 1991 to 1999. Awarded to a deserving student in the postgraduate program in the Department of Integrated Studies in Education by the GPSO on the advice of the department with first preference to a U.S. citizen. Value: \$10,000.

GUY DESAUTELS MEMORIAL PRIZE

Value: A prize established by the friends and colleagues of the late Guy Desautels.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Philosophy to a graduate student who has done outstanding work in the history of philosophy.

GUY DRUMMOND FELLOWSHIP IN POLITICAL SCIENCE

Eligibility: Originally endowed by the late Guy M. Drummond, killed in action in 1915, to encourage study in France. Recipients are nominated by the Department of Political Science, with preference to graduating honours students, on the basis of: academic record, likelihood of valuable future contribution to Canadian life and proficiency in French, among other things. Fellowships are tenable for study at an approved University or institute in Paris. One year fellowships may also be offered as entrance awards to Masters or Ph.D. students in political science intending to carry out graduate work related to France, or for continuing students to support a year in France as part of the graduate program.

Value: \$18,000 for up to 2 years, including \$7,000 for one year of study at McGill and \$11,000 for one year of study in Paris. One year fellowships may also be offered.

Application: Further details on application and deadlines are available from the McGill Department of Political Science.

H. ANTHONY HAMPSON AWARD IN THE MCGILL INSTITUTE FOR THE STUDY OF CANADA

Established by family and friends in memory of H. Anthony Hampson (B.A. 1951) who was a leader of McGill capital campaigns and the first President of the Canadian Development Corporation.

Eligibility: Awarded by nomination of the McGill Institute for the Study of Canada to a deserving graduate student involved in the study of Canada.

Value: Minimum \$ 3,000.

HANS AND EUGENIA JÜTTING FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2000 by Hans Jütting and Eugenia Jütting, friends of McGill University.

Eligibility: Awarded to a meritorious student in German Studies. Value: Two awards of \$4,000 each.

Application: Awarded by the Department of German Studies.

HERSCHEL AND CHRISTINE VICTOR FELLOWSHIP IN **EDUCATION**

Established in 2000 by Herschel Victor, B.Com. 1944, for an outstanding graduate student in the Faculty of Education.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO upon recommendation by the Faculty of Education, on the basis of academic merit.

Value: Minimum \$12,500; renewable.

HUGH MACLENNAN FELLOWSHIP FOR THE STUDY OF ENGLISH

Established in 1993 from the estate of Hugh MacLennan.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO to students in the Faculty of Arts, with preference being given to the study of English, on the recommendation of the department. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$15,000; renewable.

INGRID SEMAAN PRIZE

Established by Professor Khalil I. Semaan in honour of his daughter, a McGill/SUNY student and a class of 1990 graduate in Sociology.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Institute of Islamic Studies to the student with the most outstanding thesis, essay or term paper that explores the contribution of women to Arabic culture.

Value: \$100.

ISABEL BILLINGSLEY PRIZE IN FRENCH STUDIES

Établi par Andrew Billingsley, B.Sc. 1960, en mémoire de sa mère, Isabel Billingsley (née Rowat), B.A. 1930, qui, pendant son séjour à McGill, a été présidente de la classe du Royal Victoria College de 1929 à 1930 et a reçu une bourse de l'Alliance française qui lui a permis d'aller étudier à la Sorbonne la même année.

Eligibility: Remis chaque année par le Département de langue et littérature françaises pour le meilleur mémoire de maîtrise.

Value: Minimum \$1,000.

JEAN DE GRANDPRÉ PRIZE

Established by the Chancellor of McGill University, Jean de Grandpré; the Chrysler Corporation and Bell Canada.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Art History and Communication Studies to a graduate student in Communications who has done outstanding work in the field.

Value: \$500.

J. JEFFERY SEMAAN PRIZE

Established in 1989 by Dr. Khalil Semaan in honour of his son, a McGill graduate in medicine.

Eligibility: Awarded to the student demonstrating the greatest accomplishment in first or second-year Arabic. Open to both graduate and undergraduate students.

Value: \$100.

Application: The award will be made on the recommendation of the Director of the Institute of Islamic Studies if the recipient is a graduate student or by the Faculty of Arts if the recipient is an undergraduate student.

JOSEPH AND SANDRA ROTMAN PRIZE FOR STUDENT **EXCELLENCE IN PUBLIC POLICY INNOVATION**

Established in 2003 by Heather Monroe-Blum and Leonard Solomon Blum and by the University, in honour of Joseph and Sandra Rotman.

Eligibility: Awarded by the McGill Institute for the Study of Canada to a graduate student in the Faculty of Arts whose Master's or Doctoral thesis is judged to have made a distinctive contribution to the understanding or conduct of public policy in Canada.

Value: Minimum \$500.

JUDY FISH GRADUATE AWARD IN INCLUSIVE EDUCATION

Established in 2004 by Avrum and Dora Morrow in honour of Judy Fish, B.A. 1965, M.Ed. 1982.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Education to a student enrolled in a Master's degree in Educational Psychology whose area of study/research is in inclusive Education. The Graduate Award is based on academic merit, with consideration given to the student's involvement in the community and in extracurricular activities.

Value: Minimum \$2,500.

LARA RIENTE MEMORIAL PRIZE IN LINGUISTICS

Established in 2002 by family, friends, fellow students, professors and the Jewish Rehabilitation Hospital Foundation in memory of Lara Riente, B.A. 1992, M.A. 2001. Lara was a gifted graduate of the Department of Linguistics whose sudden and tragic death was mourned by all who knew her.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Arts Scholarships committee on the recommendation of the Department of Linguistics on the basis of high academic standing to a graduate or an undergraduate student enrolled in a full-time degree program in Linguistics. Preference shall be given to students in Neurolinguistics and/or Morphology.

Value: Minimum \$500.

MARGARET GILLETT GRADUATE RESEARCH AWARDS

Funded by the Alumnae Society of McGill, these awards are granted by the McGill Centre for Research and Teaching on Women (MCRTW) in honour of Dr. Margaret Gillett, now retired, Macdonald Professor of Education at McGill University. Dr. Gillett initiated the Women's Studies program at McGill and was founding director of MCRTW.

Eligibility: For graduate students in any McGill department with research in Women's Studies leading to a degree.

Value: Up to \$1,000, including travel for research purposes.

Deadline: February 28.

Application: Application details and further information may be obtained from the MCRTW, McGill University, 3487 Peel Street, Montreal, Quebec H3A 1W7.

MARY KEENAN SCHOLARSHIP IN ENGLISH

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of English to a student proceeding at McGill from the B.A. to the M.A. in English.

Value: \$500.

MCGILL INSTITUTE FOR THE STUDY OF CANADA **FELLOWSHIPS**

Eligibility: Established in 1994 with funds contributed by the Bronfman Family Foundation for the support of the Institute for the Study of Canada at McGill University, fellowships are awarded to students entering a doctoral program in the Faculty of Arts intending to pursue research on some aspect of the study of Canada.

Value: \$17,000, twice renewable, on evidence of scholarly progress and participation in the Institute's teaching and study Deadline: February 15.

Application: Forms and additional information are available on the Web at www.mcgill.ca/gps under "Graduate Studies", "Fellowships and Awards", "Winter Competitions", or from the McGill Institute for the Study of Canada.

MCNAUGHTON FELLOWSHIPS IN CLASSICS

Eligibility: Awarded annually, on the basis of merit, promise and need, to students in their first year of the M.A. or Ph.D. program in Classics. These awards may be renewed for a second year at the discretion of the Department of History.

Value: Two awards, \$2,000 each.

Deadline: None.

Application: None: on the basis of the candidate's application for graduate studies.

MIRIAM AND PHILIP VINEBERG GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP IN ECONOMICS

Eligibility: Established by Philip Vineberg for the purpose of enabling a student of academic distinction to pursue studies towards a graduate degree in Economics at McGill University.

Value: \$1,200; renewable for a second year subject to high academic performance.

Application: Awarded by the Department of Economics.

MORTON AND BERNICE BROWNSTEIN FELLOWSHIP IN **JEWISH STUDIES**

Established in 1999 by Morton and Bernice Brownstein, this fellowship will be awarded by the Department of Jewish Studies to a graduate student or a postdoctoral candidate in the Department of **Jewish Studies**

Value: \$10,000.

MR. AND MRS. JOHNSON NG WAI YEE FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 2003 by the Ng Family Trust in honour of Mr. and Mrs. Johnson Ng Wai Yee for an outstanding student from a developing country. Awarded by the Faculty of Arts Fellowships Committee on the basis of academic merit to a student, subject to international fees and from a developing country, who is entering the first year of a Master's or Ph.D. program in the social sciences in the Faculty of Arts.

Value: Minimum \$10,000; renewable.

NATHAN BRECHER FELLOWSHIP IN ECONOMICS AND POLITICAL SCIENCE

Founded by a beguest of the late Nathan Brecher for the purpose of enabling a student of academic distinction in Economics or Political Science to pursue studies towards a graduate degree at McGill University.

Value: \$2,500.

Application: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the departments of Economics and Political Science.

NATHAN STEINBERG FELLOWSHIP IN POLITICAL SCIENCE

Established in 1994 by a gift from the Nathan Steinberg Family

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Arts to graduate students in the Department of Political Science.

Value: \$15,000, renewable once.

Application: Students to be nominated by the Department of Political Science.

OSWALD HALL DISSERTATION FELLOWSHIP IN SOCIOLOGY

Established in 2005 through a donation from Oswald Hall, M.A. 1937 (University of Toronto Professor Emeritus and former Professor of McGill University from 1946 to 1955).

Eligibility: Awarded in alternate years by the Office of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies upon recommendation of the Department of Sociology to a student who has completed the other requirements of his/her doctoral degree and has begun writing his/her doctoral thesis.

Value: \$10.000: non-renewable.

OSWALD HALL PRIZE

Established in 1992 in honour of Oswald Hall, Professor Emeritus at the University of Toronto, who obtained his M.A. in Sociology from McGill and taught here between 1946 and 1955. The prize has been endowed by donations, in particular royalties from the book "The Sociology of Work: Papers in Honour of Oswald Hall", donated by the book's editor, Professor Audrey Wipper of the University of Waterloo.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Sociology to the best graduate student in the first year of studies.

Value: \$350.

PAUL F. MCCULLAGH AWARD

Awarded by the Faculty of Arts Scholarships Committee upon recommendation by the Classics Program Committee in the Department of History to a graduating student to pursue graduate work in the study of Latin language and literature or Ancient Greek language and literature.

Value: \$3,000.

PROFESSOR PAUL T.K. LIN FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 2003 by an anonymous gift in honour of Professor Paul T.K. Lin, the first Director of the Centre for East Asian Studies at McGill. Awarded by the Faculty of Arts on the recommendation of the Department of East Asian Studies to a student entering the Department's Master's or Ph.D. program. Preference shall be given to students from the People's Republic of China.

Value: \$5,000; renewable.

R.E. WILKINSON AWARD

Established by friends, colleagues and former students in honour of Prof. Robert E. Wilkinson, former Chairman of the Department of Physical Education.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Kinesiology and Physical Education to a student who has obtained a B.Ed. (Major in Phys. Ed.) or a B.Sc (kinesiology) from McGill and who is entering a full-time graduate program in the Department of Physical Education.

Value: \$800.

RICHARD F. SALISBURY PRIZE IN ANTHROPOLOGY

In memory of Dean Richard Salisbury, founder of the McGill Department of Anthropology and colleague and teacher from 1962 to 1989.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of Anthropology for the best thesis of the year in Anthropology either at the M.A. or the Ph.D. level.

Value: \$200.

ROBERT VOGEL MEMORIAL AWARD IN HISTORY

Established in memory of Robert Vogel, an inspiring teacher, historian, former Chair of the Department of History and former Dean of the Faculty of Arts.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of History to the most promising student entering either the M.A. or Ph.D. program, whose focus of research is European history, broadly defined. **Value:** Minimum \$1,000.

ROYAL BANK FELLOWSHIP IN UNIVERSITY TEACHING

Established in 1994 by the Royal Bank.

Eligibility: Awarded by the McGill Centre for University Teaching and Learning to a doctoral student who will conduct research in university teaching. Fellowship holders are expected to become involved in teaching improvement programs offered by the CUTI

Value: \$15,000 renewable once.

Deadline: February 28.

Application: Apply to the Director, CUTL, 3700 McTavish.

SAMUEL LAPITSKY SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: To be awarded on the recommendation of the Departments of Sociology or Anthropology (each in alternate years).

Value: To aid with tuition fees.

Deadline: February 1.

Application: Apply to the Departments of Sociology in even years, or Anthropology in odd years.

SAUL AND FREDA FRANKEL PRIZE

Established in 2000 by Professor Saul Frankel (B.A., M.A., Ph.D. McGill), McGill professor in the Departments of Economics and Political Science from 1952 to 1969. Awarded to a graduating Honours or first-year M.A. student for an outstanding research paper on a topic in the 'history of ideas'. Awarded by the Faculty of Arts Scholarships Committee upon recommendation from an adjudicating committee.

Value: \$1,000.

SLAVA KLIMA PRIZE FOR EXCELLENCE IN ENGLISH LITERARY STUDIES

Established in 2002 by a bequest from Slava Klima, former professor of English Literature.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of English to an outstanding doctoral student in literature.

Value: Minimum \$1,250.

T. PALMER HOWARD, Q.C. AWARD IN CANADIAN HISTORY

Established in 1990 by the Pan-Canada Foundation to honour T. Palmer Howard, Q.C., B.A.(1931), B.C.L.(1934), in recognition of his interest in the research and writing of Canadian history. **Eligibility:** Awarded by the History Department to a leading candidate the back of the Market Palmarket in Canadian history.

Eligibility: Awarded by the History Department to a leading candidate entering the M.A. or Ph.D. program in Canadian history at McGill.

Value: \$2,000.

THE FOUNDATION FOR THE ADVANCEMENT OF PROTESTANT EDUCATION GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP IN HISTORY

Established in 2002 by The Foundation for the Advancement of Protestant Education for an outstanding graduate student in the Department of History.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Department of History to graduate students in History on the basis of academic excellence and outstanding research potential. Preference shall be given to students researching the history of Protestant education in the province of Quebec.

Value: Minimum \$7,500.

WARREN FELLOWSHIP IN THE MCGILL INSTITUTE FOR THE STUDY OF CANADA

Established in 2001 through a generous gift from Roger W. Warren, Commerce, 1955.

Eligibility: Awarded by the McGill Institute for the Study of Canada to a deserving First Nations graduate student pursuing research on some aspect of the study of Canada.

Deadline: February 15. **Value:** \$15,000, renewable.

5.4.2 Law

AUBREY SENEZ FELLOWSHIP

Bequeathed by Aubrey Senez.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student entering a graduate program in the Faculty of Law, specializing in international business law. Preference is given to students from Montreal's South Shore. **Value:** Minimum \$10,000; renewable.

CHIEF JUSTICE R.A. GREENSHIELDS MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIPS FOR GRADUATE STUDIES

Eligibility: Bequeathed by the late Mrs. R.A.E. Greenshields in memory of her husband, the late Chief Justice Greenshields, B.A., B.C.L., D.C.L. and LL.B. These scholarships will be awarded to outstanding students, Canadian or foreign, entering the first year of graduate studies in the Faculty of Law. The thesis scholarships are awarded to outstanding students, Canadian or foreign, who are registered in the Master's program, who have already commenced work on their thesis, and who are in need of funds to aid with the expenses of their thesis research.

Value: \$5,000 scholarships, renewable on a fully competitive basis. \$1,000 thesis scholarships non-renewable.

Application: Scholarships: none; on the basis of the candidate's application for admission to graduate studies in Law. Thesis scholarships: students will be contacted by the Faculty of Law.

CLIVE V. ALLEN FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1999 through a generous gift by Nortel Networks in honour of its former Chief Legal Officer, Clive V. Allen, B.A. 1956, B.C.L. 1959.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Law to a student entering the first year of graduate studies in the Institute of Comparative Law and specializing in international business law.

Value: Minimum \$5,000.

JOHN AND EDMUND DAY AWARD FOR GRADUATE STUDIES IN LAW

Established in 1996 by a generous bequest by Isabelle Day in memory of her grandfather, Edmund Thomas Day and great-grandfather, John James Day, both graduates of the Faculty of Law.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Law to a graduate student in Law.

Value: \$2,000 - \$5,000.

Application: None; on the basis of the candidate's application for admission to graduate studies in Law.

PILARCZYK GRADUATE AWARD IN LAW

Established in 2005 by Ian C. Pilarczyk, B.A. 1992, LL.M. 1997, D.C.L. 2003, for an outstanding graduate student in the Faculty of Law.

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of merit by the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies upon recommendation of the Faculty of Law. Preference will be given to LL.M. or D.C.L. students in the general concentration of Legal History.

Value: \$500.

ROBERT E. MORROW, QC. FELLOWSHIPS

Established in 1999 by friends and colleagues of Robert E. Morrow, QC, B.C.L. 1947.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Law to outstanding students entering the first year of graduate studies in the Institute of Air and Space Law.

Value: Minimum \$5,000.

SETSUKO USHIODA-AOKI PRIZE

Established in 2001 by Dr. Setsuko Ushioda-Aoki (D.C.L. 1993). Awarded by the Faculty of Law on the basis of academic merit to a graduate student in the LL.M. program at the institute of Air and Space Law.

Value: \$500.

WAINWRIGHT SCHOLARSHIP FOR LAW

Bequeathed by the late Arnold Wainwright, Q.C., B.A., B.C.L., D.C.L.

Eligibility: Awarded to outstanding students, Canadian or foreign, entering the first year of graduate studies at the Faculty of Law, McGill University, and intending to work on subjects of interest to, or pertaining to, the civil law tradition, or to students proceeding from the LL.M. to the D.C.L. program.

Value: One scholarship of \$5,000 and one scholarship of \$15,000, renewable on a fully competitive basis.

Application: None; on the basis of the candidate's application for admission to graduate studies in Law.

5.4.3 Library and Information Studies

ALBERT TABAH AWARD IN THE MASTER OF LIBRARY AND INFORMATION STUDIES PROGRAM

Established in 2004 by a bequest from Albert Tabah M.L.S. 1980, Ph.D. 1996 and a contribution by the school.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies to the graduating student who obtains the highest standing in the M.L.I.S. program

Value: Minimum \$500.

BARBARA GRAW SMYTHE AWARD IN LIBRARY AND INFORMATION STUDIES

Established in 2003 by William Smythe, B.Eng. 1948, in memory of his wife, Barbara Graw Smythe, B.A. 1946, B.L.S. 1947, to recognize an outstanding student entering the M.L.I.S. program in the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies. Awarded by the School.

Value: Minimum \$500.

BERNARD ANDERSON OWER AWARD

Bequeathed by Roma Elizabeth Jane Ower in honour of her late husband, a graduate of the School of Library and Information Studies (B.L.S. 1936, M.L.S. 1996).

Eligibility: Awarded by the School of Library and Information Studies on the basis of academic achievement.

Value: Minimum \$1,500.

BETA PHI MU SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Open to a student at the Master's level accepted in a program accredited by the American Library Association.

Value: \$1,500. Deadline: March 15.

Application: Forms are available from the Executive Secretary, Beta Phi Mu, Graduate School of Library and Information Sciences, University of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15260.

CANADIAN LIBRARY ASSOCIATION SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Three scholarships are available to students in accredited library schools.

Value: Varies.

Application: Information and application forms are available from the Scholarships and Awards Committee, Canadian Library Association, 328 Frank Street, Ottawa, Ontario K2P 0X8.

DR. G.R. LOMER SCHOLARSHIPS

Value: Three scholarships of \$1,300 each are offered annually in honour of the late Dr. G.R. Lomer, former Director of the School.

DR. HERBERT STANLEY BIRKETT AWARD

A gift by Miss Winfred Birkett in honour of her father, Dr. Herbert Stanley Berkitt.

Eligibility: To be awarded annually to the student who obtains the highest grade in course GLIS-671.

Value: \$200.

EASTERN CANADA CHAPTER SPECIAL LIBRARIES ASSOCIATION PRIZE

Eligibility: Awarded to the student in M.L.I.S. II who obtains highest standing in course GLIS-639.

Value: Varies.

ELIZABETH G. HALL SCHOLARSHIP FUND

Value: \$1,000 from the fund founded in honour of a former member of the McGill University Library staff.

ETHELWYN M. CROSSLEY SCHOLARSHIP FUND

Value: \$1,000 from the fund founded in honour of a former student of the School.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FOR LIBRARY EDUCATION

American students are advised to write to SCOLE (Standing Committee on Library Education), American Library Association, 50 East Huron Street, Chicago, Illinois 60611, for a copy of Financial Assistance for Library Education.

LE PRIX BIBLIOTHÈQUE NATIONALE DU QUÉBEC -CHARLES H. GOULD

Eligibility: Created in 2001 for McGill students enrolled in the M.L.I.S program. It is awarded to a full-time student to foster research and training, and to encourage the pursuit of excellence. The jury of Le Prix BNQ comprises a representative of the BNQ, a professor and the Director of the GSLIS or a designated representative. Final selection is based on the academic record of the candidate as well as the quality of the candidate's written expression in French or English on a topic chosen by the BNQ. Value: \$5,000

H.W. WILSON FOUNDATION FELLOWSHIP

A grant in the amount of \$10,000 for distribution as scholarship aid in amounts and manner considered appropriate by the school.

JANET AGNEW SCHOLARSHIP

Value: \$1,000 from a bequest of the late Janet M. Agnew, a graduate of and former instructor in the School.

JEAN BROWN SCHOLARSHIP

From a bequest of the late Jean Brown (B.L.S. 1957, M.L.S. 1972). **Eligibility:** Awarded to an M.L.I.S. student on the basis of academic merit and financial need.

Value: \$900.

AZELIE DE LENDRECIE CLARK AWARD

Established in 2001 by a bequest from Azelie de Lendrecie Clark, (M.L.S. 1961). Awarded to an M.L.I.S. student by the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies on the basis of academic merit.

Value: Minimum \$2,850.

MARGARET DOWNEY PRIZE

Established in 1999 by a bequest from Margaret A. Downey, R.I. A. (1941)

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of academic merit to an M.L.I.S. student by the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies.

Value: Minimum \$500.

MARGERY TRENHOLME FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2002 through a bequest from Margery W.

Trenholme, B.A. 1935, B.L.S. 1946.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies to a graduate student who will be enrolled in one of its programs.

Value: Minimum \$6,500.

MARGERY TRENHOLME MEMORIAL AWARD IN LIBRARY STUDIES

Established in 2001 through a bequest from Margery Trenholme, (B.A. 1935, L.L.S. 1946), a lifetime friend of libraries and advocate of their place in the community. Awarded to an M.L.I.S student on the basis of academic merit by the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies.

Value: Minimum \$1,000.

MAUT LIBRARIAN'S SECTION AWARD

Established by the McGill Association of University Teachers (MAUT) Librarians' Section.

Eligibility: To be granted to a student admitted to the first year program of the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies. Applicants must be presently employed full-time library assistants who will have completed two years' continuous full-time employment with the McGill University Library System.

Value: \$300. Deadline: March 1.

MIRIAM H. TEES SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1989 by friends, family, alumni, and colleagues to honour Miriam H. Tees (B.L.S., 1951; M.L.S., 1975), former professor in the School

Value: \$1,000.

SPECIAL LIBRARIES ASSOCIATION SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: For graduate study leading to a Master's degree at a recognized school of library or information science in the United States or Canada. College graduates or college seniors (citizens of the U.S. or Canada) with an interest in special librarianship are eligible.

Value: Up to four \$6,000 scholarships.

Deadline: January 15.

Application: Further information and application forms may be obtained by writing to the Special Libraries Association, Scholarship Committee, 1700, 18th Street N.W., Washington DC 20009. www.sla.org

SYRA DEENA TARSHIS FLEISHMAN BURSARY

Founded in memory of a former student of the School.

Value: \$200.

VIVI MARTIN FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1999 through a bequest from Eleanore Roberta Powell in memory of Vivi Martin (B.A. 1945, B.L.S. 1948).

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate student who will be enrolled in a program in the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies.

Value: Minimum \$5,000.

VIRGINIA MURRAY PRIZE FOR CATALOGUING

Eligibility: Awarded to the student in M.L.I.S. I who obtains the highest grade in course GLIS 607.

Value: Varies.

WENDY PATRICK AWARD

Established by the McGill Medical and Health Libraries Association (MMAHLA) in 1989.

Eligibility: To be awarded annually to the student who has the highest grade in course GLIS 671.

Value: \$150.

5.4.4 Management

ALVIN J. WALKER GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Established by the estate of the late Alvin J. Walker. Awarded on the basis of academic merit to a student entering the M.B.A. program.

Value: \$1,500.

Application: No application is necessary; recipients are to be selected by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee.

SHEILA WELLINGTON BMO FINANCIAL GROUP AWARD

Established by the Bank of Montreal in 1996 for students in the Faculty of Management.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee on the basis of high academic standing, leadership skills and community involvement to full-time students continuing in the M.B.A. or B.Com. program. Preference is given to female students in programs related to finance and/or economics.

Value: \$6,000 for graduate students and \$2,000 for undergraduates.

Deadline: April 30.

Application: Eligible students wishing to be considered for this award should submit a c.v. and appropriate documentation supporting their extra-curricular university or community contribution to the Associate, B.Com. Program or the Associate Dean, M.B.A. Program.

C. DOUGLAS MELLOR PRIZE

Established in 1981 by the Montreal-based Chartered Accountancy firms.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student in the Graduate Diploma Program in Public Accountancy whose academic record is judged to be outstanding among those who graduate during the academic year.

Value: \$1,000.

ASSOCIATION DES M.B.A. DU QUÉBEC AWARD

This prize will be awarded to a graduating student on the basis of academic performance, and proven leadership both inside and outside the classroom.

Value: \$1,000.

DONALD E. ARMSTRONG AWARD

Established by Seymour Schulich (B.Sc. 1961, M.B.A. 1965) and Lawrence Bloomberg (M.B.A. 1965) in 1996 in honour of Donald E. Armstrong, founding Director of McGill's Graduate School of Commerce.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee on the basis of high academic standing, proven leadership skills and active involvement in the community to a student in the M.B.A. program.

Value: Minimum \$3,000.

Application: For further information contact the M.B.A. Office, Faculty of Management.

EDI SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Preference given to Canadian students entering the second year of the full-time program from the part-time program.

Value: Up to \$2,000. Deadline: November 1.

Application: Candidates must submit a curriculum vitae and a financial aid form. Application forms available mid-September, after registration.

H.E. HERSCHORN GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Established in 1965, tenable by a student entering either the first or the second year of the M.B.A. program. Open to Canadian students only.

Value: Current tuition fees.

Application: Awarded by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee, no application necessary.

HELGI SOUTAR FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1998 through the generosity of Ian Soutar in honour of his wife, Helgi Soutar.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee to a student from Estonia in the M.B.A. program based on high academic achievement and strong leadership skills. Awardees are expected to return to Estonia at some future date.

Value: \$38,000.

J. KEITH DRYSDALE MANUFACTURING MANAGEMENT GRADUATE FELLOWSHIP

Established in 2004 by Donna Drysdale, B.Ed. 1959, in honour of her late husband, J. Keith Drysdale, B.Sc. 1960, M.B.A. 1966.

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of academic excellence to an outstanding graduate student in the Master in Manufacturing Management Program by the Office of Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies, upon the recommendation of the Director of the Manufacturing Management Program.

Value: \$5,000, non renewable

Application: For further information, contact Caroline Brown in the MBA office at 398.4648 or Myrosia Cap, Program Coordinator at 398.7201 or visit www.mmm.mcgill.ca.

KENNETH F. BYRD PRIZE

Established in 1981 by the Montreal-based Chartered Accountancy firms.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student in the Graduate Diploma Program in Public Accountancy whose academic record is judged to be outstanding among those who graduate during the academic year.

Value: \$1,000.

LIONEL PELHAM KENT SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1998 in memory of Lionel Pelham Kent, C.A. through the generosity of family and friends.

Eligibility: Open to students entering the final year of the C.A. program, who intend to continue their program of studies at McGill. Awarded by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee. The winner will be chosen based on outstanding skills in written and oral communication combined with high academic standing.

Value: \$1,500.

LATIN AMERICA AWARD

Two awards valued at \$9,000 will be granted to students from Latin America entering the first year of the M.B.A. program. This award will be based on academic excellence and wil be renewable for the second year. All applicants to the M.B.A. program will be considered. Recipients will be notified at the time of admission.

M.B.A. ENTRANCE AWARD

Eligibility: The selection is based on academic excellence. **Value:** Each year the Faculty of Management Scholarship Committee awards a limited number of M.B.A. Entrance Fellowships valued at approximately \$1,500 (non-renewable).

Application: No application is necessary. All applicants to the M.B.A. program will be considered. Recipients will be notified at the time of admission.

M.B.A. INTERNATIONAL STUDENT AWARD

All international students are considered for renewable awards. The number and size of these awards vary from year to year. The selection is based on academic excellence. All applicants to the M.B.A. program will be considered. Recipient will be notify at the time of admission.

MCGILL ASSOCIATES MEDAL FOR GREAT DISTINCTION IN THE M.B.A. PROGRAM

Eligibility: Established by the McGill Associates, a sterling silver medal will be awarded each Spring by the Scholarships Committee of the Faculty of Management to the leading student in the full-time M.B.A. program.

NORMAN STRAUSS DOCTORAL FELLOWSHIP IN PROFESSIONAL ETHICS IN BUSINESS

Endowed in 1992 by Edith Strauss in memory of her husband, this fellowship is intended to commemorate the integrity and character of Norman Strauss.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Management to support outstanding doctoral students in Management who have demonstrated an interest in researching, studying and promoting business ethics. Consideration may be given to students pursuing research in the area of corporate social responsibility. Standing in the program to be evaluated by the Ph.D. Program Director.

Value: \$10,000, renewable once, based on satisfactory standing in the program.

PLLARCZYK FELLOWSHIP

First awarded in 1997, this fellowship will be awarded every second year. The purpose of this award is to create a distinguished international fellowship that will enable outstanding students from Poland to pursue a two year Master of Business Administration at McGill Faculty of Management. The fellowship is intended to be a comprehensive award covering the principal expenses which such students will incur while in Canada. Fellowship applications must meet the following criteria; Polish citizen under 40 years of age; Degree equivalent to a Canadian Bachelors degree, record of high academic achievement; TOEFL of 600; 2 years work experience, a written essay on career goals and expectations. Successful candidates must plan to return to Poland and participate in its economic life.

ROGER C. BENNETT PRIZE IN MARKETING

Established in 1999 with the support of friends and family of the late Roger C. Bennett, distinguished Professor of Marketing (Faculty of Management), who had a zest for life.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Management Scholarships Committee to a graduating M.B.A. student who has demonstrated academic achievement and community involvement.

Value: Minimum \$1,250.

SCHULICH SCHOLARSHIP FOR ENTREPRENEURSHIP

Eligibility: Awarded to Canadian students entering the first year of the full time program. This scholarship will be awarded on the basis of entrepreneurial experience, potential and general scholastic ability. Candidates must submit an application, a statement providing evidence of entrepreneurial potential, a business plan, a curriculum vitae and financial aid form.

Value: \$5,000.

Application: Recipients chosen after registration. Application forms available mid-September.

5.4.5 Music

General Regulations in Music

- Scholarships, awards, prizes and bursaries available in the Faculty of Music are awarded at the discretion of the Dean and the Faculty Scholarships Committee. No applications are required as all incoming and current students will automatically be considered.
- Awards are generally made in the Spring on the basis of auditions and/or dossiers of incoming students, and after the Spring term on the basis of academic standing during the preceding Fall and Winter terms.

ARTHUR AND HELEN HENDERSON SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Preference will be given to students in organ and church music. Open to both graduate and undergraduate students

Value: Approximately \$1,400.

CLARA LICHTENSTEIN MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: To be awarded to an outstanding student for graduate studies in Music. Initiated by Helmut Blume in memory of Clara Lichtenstein, the first instructor in Music at the Royal Victoria Col-

lege, prime mover in the founding of the McGill Conservatorium (1904) and its Vice-Director until her retirement in 1929.

Value: Approximately \$8,800.

E. NOEL SPINELLI PRIZE IN MUSIC

Established in 2004, by E. Noel Spinelli, C.M. a devoted supporter of the Faculty of Music and a lover of opera and vocal music. **Eligibility:** Awarded by the Faculty of Music Scholarships Committee to an outstanding student in the Opera / Vocal area **Value:** Minimum \$500.

ERIC AWARD

Established by Kevin Austin (B.Mus.'70, M.M.A.'73).

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate or undergraduate student in the Faculty of Music for outstanding achievement in the field of electro-acoustic music. Awarded by the Faculty of Music Scholarships Committee on the recommendation of the staff of the Electronic Music Studio.

Value: Approximately \$350.

FACULTY OF MUSIC ENTRANCE SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Available to all incoming graduate and undergraduate students in a degree or diploma program in Music. Awarded on the recommendation of the Department of Performance and the Department of Theory.

Value: \$2,000.

FACULTY OF MUSIC SCHOLARSHIPS

The fund originated through the generosity of patrons of the Martlet Concert and Ball which took place in April 1960. Subsequently many former students and friends of the Faculty of Music have contributed to the fund.

Eligibility: Available to all students in a degree or diploma program in Music, both graduate and undergraduate.

Value: \$100 - \$1,150.

FLORENCE MARJORIE BRACE AWARD

Established in 1999 by the estate of Florence Agnes Biltcliffe Brace in loving memory of her daughter, Florence Marjorie Brace. **Eligibility:** Awarded by the Faculty of Music Scholarships Committee to an outstanding undergraduate or graduate student in Music.

Value: \$1,300.

GIAN LYMAN MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established by the contributions of the family, friends and colleagues of the late Gian Lyman, a distinguished graduate of McGill's Faculty of Music, who died on April 22, 1974.

Eligibility: To be given to a graduate or undergraduate student who is specializing in either the performance or history of early music.

Value: Approximately \$1,800.

GUSTAV AND ROMANA BLUME MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1982 by Helmut Blume in loving memory of his parents.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music Scholarships
Committee to a graduate student. Preference may be given to a
student in Performance.

Value: Approximately \$1,200.

HELEN HALL PRIZE

Established in honour of Helen Hall by her friends.

Eligibility: Preference given to voice majors or students specializing in choral conducting. Open to both graduate and undergraduate students.

Value: Approximately \$600.

HERBERT A. MORSE MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1990 through a bequest from Dorothy E.M. Fairbairn in memory of her father.

Eligibility: Awarded to an outstanding student in the Faculty of Music.

Value: Approximately \$3,800.

HERBERT C. CALEY AWARD

Eligibility: Preference given to a student specializing in the performance or history of Baroque and early music. Open to both graduate and undergraduate students. Established by Mrs. Maude Caley in memory of her husband who died December 24, 1980.

Value: Approximately \$600.

JULIUS SCHLOSS MEMORIAL AWARD

Established by Mr. and Mrs. Oscar Schloss in memory of their brother, the composer Julius Schloss (1902-1972), one of the foremost pupils of Alban Berg in Vienna during the late 1920s and early 1930s whose collected works were donated by the family to the McGill Faculty of Music.

Eligibility: This award is to be made to a graduate student in Music on the recommendation of the Graduate Committee of the Faculty of Music.

Value: Approximately \$1,500.

LEWIS LUTTER BURSARY

Established in 1988 by the Guttman family in honour of Mr. Lewis Lutter, a loyal and devoted associate of many years of Progress Brand Clothes, Inc. Awarded by the Faculty of Music to assist a talented student in the Faculty who is in financial need.

LLOYD CARR-HARRIS STRING SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1999 through a generous gift from the Lloyd Carr-Harris Foundation.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music Scholarships Committee on the recommendation of the String Area to exceptionally gifted string players entering an undergraduate or graduate program in Performance.

Value: \$10,000; renewable twice.

LUBKA KOLESSA PIANO AWARD

Established in 2003 by friends and former students in honour of Lubka Kolessa, a legendary concert pianist and McGill Faculty of Music professor from 1960-1971.

Eligibility: Awarded to an outstanding piano student by the Faculty of Music Scholarships Committee.

Value: Minimum \$500.

MARGARET HOULDING MEMORIAL PRIZE

Established in 1984 by the friends of the late Margaret Houlding. **Eligibility:** Awarded to a student in the Faculty of Music. **Value:** Approximately \$800.

MARIANNA EATON SCHOLARSHIP

Established by a bequest from the late Marianna Eaton (née Marianna Soulé Van Doren).

Eligibility: Awarded to a graduate student in the Faculty of Music. **Value:** Approximately \$2,600.

MARVIN DUCHOW MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established by the family and friends of Prof. Marvin Duchow, in his memory.

Eligibility: To be awarded annually to a graduate student in Music

Value: Approximately \$1,400.

MAURICE POLLACK FOUNDATION FELLOWSHIP

Initiated by the Foundation in memory of Maurice Pollack, man of commerce and great benefactor in the areas of education, religious institutions and communal welfare.

Eligibility: To be awarded to an outstanding student for graduate studies in Music.

Value: Approximately \$4,600.

MAX STERN FELLOWSHIP IN MUSIC

Established in 1992 through a donation from the Max Stern estate. **Eligibility:** Awarded by the GPSO to doctoral level students in Music on the recommendation of the Faculty of Music. Exceptional students at the Master's level who demonstrate potential

for doctoral studies may be considered. No citizenship restrictions.

Value: \$12,000, renewable.

OLYMPIA GARIBALDI-GALAVARIS PRIZE

Established in 2000 by Dr. George Galavaris in honour of his mother's 76th birthday.

Eligibility: The award is open to graduate students in the Faculty of Music. Awarded by the Faculty of Music to a graduate student specializing in Musicology or Music Theory with a sub-specialty in Music before 1700.

Value: Minimum \$250.

PHYLLIS AND BERNARD SHAPIRO FELLOWSHIP IN THEORY

Established in 2002 by faculty, alumni, family and friends in honour of Phyllis and Bernard J. Shaprio. Dr. Bernard J. Shapiro was the Principal and Vice-Chancellor of McGill University from 1994 to December 2002.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music Graduate Committee to a graduate student in the Department of Theory.

Value: Minimum \$5,000; renewable.

PHYLLIS AND BERNARD SHAPIRO FELLOWSHIPS IN OPERA

Established in 2002 by faculty, alumni, family and friends in honour of Phyllis and Bernard J. Shapiro. Dr. Bernard J. Shapiro was the Principal and Vice-Chancellor of McGill University from 1994 to December 2002.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music Graduate Committee to graduate or diploma students in Opera/Voice Performance. **Value:** Minimum \$5,000; renewable.

PRIX DE LA SOCIÉTÉ DE MUSIQUE CANADIENNE

Established by La Fondation des Amis de l'Art.

Eligibility: Awarded to a Composition student, graduate or undergraduate, who is a Canadian citizen in alternating years to McGill and l'Université de Montréal. Available to McGill students in 2006-07.

Value: \$500.

RACHEL AND BENJAMIN SCHECTER MEMORIAL SCHOLARSHIP

Established in 1997 by a bequest from the late Dr. Samuel Schecter in memory of his parents, Rachel and Benjamin Schecter.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music Scholarships Committee to any full-time student in a degree or diploma in Music. **Value:** \$3,600.

SARA BERLIND MEMORIAL FELLOWSHIP

Established by a bequest from Sara Berlind.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music to an outstanding student to pursue graduate studies in Music.

Value: \$5,000.

VERNA-MARIE PARR GÉLINAS AND PAUL-MARCEL GÉLINAS SCHOLARSHIPS

Established in 1998 by Verna-Marie Parr Gélinas, Dip. Social Work 1938, and Paul-Marcel Gélinas.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music to talented students studying in an undergraduate or graduate program in the Faculty of Music. Preference will be given to instrumentalists in the McGill Symphony Orchestra.

Value: Minimum \$1,800 each.

WIRTH FAMILY FELLOWSHIP IN MUSIC

Established in 2004 by Elizabeth Wirth and friends in memory of her parents, Lisl and Manfred Wirth.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Music Graduate Committee to graduate or diploma students in Opera/voice Performance.

Value: Minimum \$5,000; renewable.

5.4.6 Religious Studies

A.R. GORDON AWARDS

Established in 1998 by a bequest from Janette R. Gordon in memory of her father, Rev. Alexander Reid Gordon, who was a Professor of Hebrew and Old Testament Literature at McGill University from 1907-1930.

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of academic merit, by the Faculty of Religious Studies, to an undergraduate or graduate student in the United Theological College.

Value: \$3,000.

Application: Apply to the Dean of the Faculty of Religious Studies.

ARTHUR AND JESSIE LOCHEAD BURSARY FUND

Eligibility: For students planning to enter the Christian Ministry. Awarded on the basis of need.

Value: Varies.

Application: Apply to the Dean of the Faculty of Religious Studies.

DEIRDRE AND ROBERT STEVENSON AWARD

Eligibility: For students entering a graduate program at the Faculty of Religious Studies in which the study of Asian religions is a major component.

Value: \$3,000.

Application: Awarded by the Faculty of Religious Studies.

HOUSTON BURSARY

Established by a bequest from Thomas Houston.

Eligibility: For students in the Faculty of Arts and the Faculty of Religious Studies studying for the ministry of the Presbyterian Church in Canada or the United Church of Canada, with preference given to candidates whose mother tongue is French.

Value: Approximately \$500.

Application: Awarded by the Faculty of Religious Studies.

RELIGIOUS STUDIES BURSARY FUND

Established in 1980 by anonymous donors for undergraduate and graduate students in theological degree programs in the Faculty of Religious Studies.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Religious Studies on the basis of academic standing and financial need.

Value: Varies.

SAMUEL FINLEY NATIONAL BURSARY

Eligibility: Awarded at the discretion of the Dean of the Faculty of Religious Studies to a graduate student who is pursuing advanced studies in religion or theology.

Value: Usually \$300.

TOPPING MEMORIAL BURSARY

Established in 1976 by C.W. Topping in memory of his father, the Reverend N.B. Topping, a minister of the Methodist Church of Canada for fifty years.

Eligibility: Awarded at the discretion of the Dean of the Faculty of Religious Studies to a graduate student pursuing advanced studies in religion or theology who has financial need and shows promise of becoming both a scholar and a humanitarian.

Value: Varies.

5.4.7 Social Work

ESTHER KERRY AWARD

Established by the Alumni Committee of the School of Social Work to honour Esther Kerry, a valuable member of the Committee for many years.

Eligibility: Awarded to a student who wishes to pursue graduate studies in Social Work.

Value: Varies.

FREDA L. PALTIEL AWARD FOR IMMIGRANT AND MINORITY WOMEN'S HEALTH AND DEVELOPMENT

Eligibility: For students or faculty of the McGill School of Social Work to undertake a research, service or demonstration project concerned with the health needs of immigrant and visible minority women and their families. Preference will be given to projects undertaken with the involvement of the intended beneficiaries.

Value: Varies.

Deadline: September 1.

Application: Apply to the Director of the School of Social Work.

HAZELDINE SMITH BISHOP FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1998 by a bequest from Hazeldine Smith Bishop who received a diploma from the Montreal School of Social Work in 1944.

Eligibility: Awarded by the School of Social Work, on the basis of academic standing, to graduate students pursuing studies in community development and administration.

Value: Maximum \$15,000.

KEEFER FELLOWSHIP

Established by Mr. George Keefer.

Eligibility: Tenable by a student in Social Work who wishes to pursue graduate studies in social work practice related to the elderly

Value: Varies.

LOTTE MARCUS SHELDON PRIZE

Established in 2000 by a bequest from Lotte Marcus Sheldon, a former faculty member of the School of Social Work. Awarded annually by the School to a graduate student in Social Work who has generated a particularly innovative research or service project. **Value:** Minimum \$500.

MARGARET GRIFFITHS AWARD IN CHILD WELFARE

Established in 1994 through a bequest from Professor Margaret Griffiths, a long-time member of the faculty of the McGill School of Social Work.

Eligibility: Awarded annually by the School of Social Work on the basis of academic and professional merit to an incoming full-time student in the Master of Social Work program, with a declared interest in services to children.

Value: Varies.

MARGARET MARY BURNS AWARD

Established in 1997 by a bequest from Margaret Mary Burns who received a Diploma from the Montreal School of Social Work in

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of academic standing to graduate students by the School of Social Work.

Value: Maximum Varies.

MIRIAM AND E. MICHAEL BERGER FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: Awarded annually by the School of Social Work to a graduate student of the School whose area of practice or research is in the field of community organization and/or social policy and who demonstrates academic competence and financial need.

Value: Varies.

MYER KATZ FELLOWSHIP IN SOCIAL WORK

Established in 1986 by contributions from former students, colleagues and friends, the School of Social Work Alumni Committee, and the McGill Advancement Program, on the occasion of the retirement of Professor Myer Katz from the Directorship of the School of Social Work.

Eligibility: Awarded annually to a student pursuing graduate studies related to clinical social work practice.

Value: Varies.

SCHOOL OF SOCIAL WORK ALUMNI PRIZES

The Alumni Committee of the School makes three awards each year to graduating M.S.W. students:

- 1) Alumni Prize for the Outstanding M.S.W. Thesis
- 2) Alumni Award for Excellence in Clinical Practice
- Alumni Prize for the Outstanding M.S.W. Independent Study Project

Value: \$200 each.

6 Student Financial Assistance

6.1 Government Student Aid

6.1.1 Citizens and Permanent Residents of Canada

Need-based student financial aid programs are offered by the federal/provincial governments. Applications should be directed directly to the province (or territory) of residence. Application forms are available from the governmental authorities as well as the Student Aid Office. In formation on governmental student aid and links can be found on McGill's Financial Aid Website at www.mcgill.ca/studentaid.

6.1.2 Citizens and Permanent Residents of the United States

McGill University participates in the Federal Family Education Loan Program (FFELP). American students in need of financial assistance may apply for Stafford loans.

All students applying for loans must file a Free Application for Federal Student Aid (FAFSA) to determine financial need. This can be done on-line at www.fafsa.ed.gov. Our school code is G06677. Applicants will need to obtain the necessary PIN number to validate their signature before electronically sending the application to be processed. Follow the steps on the FAFSA Website to obtain the PIN.

The report generated from the FAFSA is called a **S**tudent **A**id **R**eport (SAR). The SAR is not sent to our school as indicated on the FAFSA website. However, if you have designated McGIII University as a school you may attend, we will be able to retrieve your SAR.

Stafford Loans

Graduate students and students in professional programs may borrow up to the cost of attendance, to a maximum of \$18,500 US. \$8500 of this amount may be a subsidized loan.

Information from the SAR and any financial aid received from your department and other sources is used to determine how much of the loan will be subsidized (interest free during full time studies) or unsubsidized (interest is charged during full time studies)

Students who qualify for the subsidized loan will begin repayment of the principal and interest six months after they cease to be enrolled at least half time. Students receiving unsubsidized loan funds may pay the interest charges while they are in school, with principal deferred, until they cease to be enrolled at least half time; or they can choose to have both the interest and principal deferred until after they cease to be enrolled at least half time.

You must report any financial aid you are receiving (including funding from your department) when you apply for Stafford loans. This information should be submitted in writing to our office.

How to Apply for Stafford Loans

Each year, in addition to filing a FAFSA, a student must sign a Stafford Master Promissory Note (Stafford MPN). The MPN documents a student's choice of guarantor and lender as well as the obligation to repay the loan.

Please note that at the time of printing, the application process for submission of the Stafford and PLUS MPNs is being revised. New information regarding the use of e-signatures for these documents will be updated on our Website at www.mcgill.ca/studentaid in early spring. E-sign will be available for students who use our

preferred guarantor, American Student Assistance (ASA), and Northwest Education Loan Association (NELA).

Students who are residents of **Vermont** should apply using **Vermont S**tudent **A**ssistance **C**orporation (**VSAC**) as a guarantor. Students may order an application package at www.vsac.org. Mail the original MPN to VSAC and the school copy of the MPN to our office. It is not yet possible to apply using e-signatures. If you require further information, you may contact Marcia Vance at:

Vermont Student Assistance Corporation

One Main Street PO Box 2000

Winooski, VT 05404-2601

Phone: 1-800-660-3561, ext. 273 (toll-free in North America)

1-802-654-3770, ext. 273 Fax: 1-802-654-3765 E-mail: vance@vsac.org

Alternative Loans

For students who may need additional sources of funding, there are private alternative loan options.

McGill University works closely with International Education Finance Corporation (IEFC). Visit their website at www.iefc.com to learn more about their products. Their phone number is 888-296-4332.

SallieMae also offers alternative loans. Their website is www.salliemae.com. Their phone number is (800) 695-3317.

Deadlines

All applications must be complete and be received by **June 1**, **2005** to have funds disbursed for the fall semester fee payment deadline

All applications must be complete and be received by **November 1, 2005** to have funds disbursed for the winter semester fee payment deadline.

Disbursement of Loan Funds

Stafford and alternative loans are disbursed in one payment copayable to the student and the school. Cheques are sent to the Student Aid Office. The cheques must be picked up by the student and taken to the Student Accounts Office for processing.

Entrance Counselling

All first time borrowers of Stafford loans are required to complete a session of entrance counseling prior to receiving loan funds. Entrance counseling may be completed on the web at www.mapping-your-futre.org. Our office will be notified when the entrance counseling has been completed.

Contact Information

Student Aid Office 3600 McTavish Street, Room 3200 Montreal, Quebec

Canada H3A 1Y2 Telephone: 514-398-6015 Fax: 514-398-7352

E-mail: student.aid@mcgill.ca Website: www.mcgill.ca/studentaid

McGill Financial Aid

The Student Aid Office also administers the University's need-based financial aid program, which includes short term loans to cover emergency situations, limited bursary assistance, and a Work Study program. All applicants for aid must first apply for the maximum government assistance for which they may be eligible. Applications should be directed to:

Student Aid Office, Brown Student Services Building, 3600 McTavish Street, Montreal, Quebec H3A 1Y2

Telephone: (514) 398-6013/6014 E-mail: student.aid@mcgill.ca Website: www.mcgill.ca/studentaid

6.2 McGill Student Aid

The Student Aid Office administers the University's need-based financial aid programs which includes short-term loans, limited bursary assistance and a Work-Study program. All applicants for aid must first apply for the maximum government assistance for which they may be eligible. The Office is located in the Brown Student Services Building, 3600 McTavish, suite 3200, Telephone (514) 398-6013/14. A limited number of small bursaries are awarded on the basis of financial need and academic standing. Funding for the bursaries comes from several different sources at McGill including an annual transfer of funds to the Student Aid Office from the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office.

CAROLINE AND RICHARD RENAUD BURSARIES

Endowed in 1999 with a generous gift from Carolyn and Richard Renaud.

Eligibility: Awarded on the basis of financial need by the Student Aid Office to students entering or enrolled in graduate studies at McGill with a preference to students in programs in the Graduate School of Library and Information Studies.

EBEN HOPSON BURSARY FOR STUDY AT MCGILL

Established in 1988 through a donation from the North Slope Borough of Alaska in honour of the late Eben Hopson, Mayor of the North Slope Borough from 1972 to 1980, to advance the pursuit, promotion and sharing of knowledge in those areas which are of common interest and relevance to the scientific, social and economic development, and the greater welfare of the North Slope Borough and the countries of the Circumpolar North.

Eligibility: For the support of students from the North Slope Borough of Alaska for graduate or undergraduate studies at McGill in any field deemed in the welfare of the North Slope Borough.

Application: Applications should be submitted to the GPSO and awards will be made by the Eben Hopson Fellowship committee and the North Slope Mayor or designee.

Value: \$6,000. Awards are renewable for a second year of Masters study to a fourth year of Doctoral studies and Bachelor's study.

GEORGES, PAUL AND ROBERT MASSON BURSARIES IN SCIENCE

Established in 2002 by Georges Masson, Ph.D. 1942, Paul Masson, B.A. 1968, and Robert Masson, B.Sc. 2002, to commemorate the three generations of Massons at McGill.

Eligibility: Awarded to one or more students in any department in the Faculty of Science. Preference shall be given to students in the departments of Biology and Mathematics. Awarded by the Student Aid Office on the basis of financial need.

GRADUATE STUDENTS' BURSARY FUND

Established in 1989 by the GPSO to assist full-time students in any graduate degree program. Awarded by the Student Aid Office to students requiring financial assistance to pursue studies or research at McGill.

GRADUATE STUDENTS' LOAN FUND

Established in 1951 by the Board of Governors for students in Graduate Studies.

IRVING ORRIN VINCENT BURSARY

Established by Mrs. J.B. Owen in memory of her father, the late Irving Orrin Vincent, B.A. 1907, M.A. 1908, a noted teacher and Principal of Edward VII School in Montreal from 1912 until his death in 1920.

Eligibility: Awarded annually by the Student Aid Office on the basis of academic merit and financial need to a graduating student in the Faculty of Arts proceeding towards an M.A., M.Ed., or Doctorate in Classics or Education.

JENNIE AND JOSEPH SALOMON MEMORIAL BURSARY

Eligibility: Established by the children of Mr. and Mrs. J. Salomon in their memory. Awarded to a deserving student in need who has completed the final undergraduate year in the Faculty of Arts

or Science, and is entering a graduate program. Tenable for one

VAN BERKOM AND ASSOCIATES INC. BURSARY

Established in 1998 by Van Berkom and Associates Inc., an investment management firm specializing in small capitalization stocks. Awarded by the Student Aid Office to full-time students entering their second year of the MBA program, on the basis of high academic standing and financial need. Preference will be given to students pursuing a concentration in finance who wish to pursue a career in investment management.

Value: \$2,000.

Postdoctoral Fellowships

In accordance with McGill University's Guidelines for Academic Units on Postdoctoral Education (Senate, April 2000), all internal and external postdoctoral fellowships with a value lower than the minimum financial support stipulated in the guidelines will be supplemented from sources other than the individual's personal means, including faculty or departmental funds, research grants or contracts or other allowable funds.

The guidelines stipulate that a postdoc must be assured of financial support, other than from personal means, during his/her stay in the University equivalent at the time of appointment to at least 90% of the lesser of either the federal (NSERC, SSHRC or CIHR) or the provincial (FQRNT, FRSQ or FQRSC) research council postdoctoral fellowship pertinent to his/her discipline.

Subject to change in regard of the value of the council fellowships, the minimum funding level in each disciplinary area in 2005-06 is:

- Social Sciences and Humanities: \$27,000
- · Natural Sciences and Engineering: \$27,000
- Medical and Health Sciences: \$27,000

Individuals seeking postdoctoral funding in medical sciences may wish to contact the Research and Graduate Studies Office, McGill Faculty of Medicine, 6th floor, McIntyre Medical Building, 3655 Promenade Sir William Osler, which often receives postdoctoral funding information directly from external agencies.

An informal information site on postdoctoral fellowships and employment in the Sciences and Health Sciences has been compiled by the Association Bernard Gregory in France at www.abg.asso.fr under "L'emploi sur Internet". It provides links with various relevant sites.

SPIN Database by InfoEd International: McGill University subscribes to the SPIN database for sources of research funding. Please refer to section 2.3, "Funding Information on the Web".

Internal Postdoctoral Fellowships

AMY WONG FELLOWSHIP

黄辛炯僖夫人獎學金

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959) from Hong Kong.

Eligibility: Awarded to a qualified student from China, including Hong Kong, who is an entering postdoctoral scholar, Ph.D. or M.Sc. student conducting agricultural production/food related research in the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences. Awarded by the Dean of the Faculty in consultation with the departments. The recipients are expected to return to their home country after the completion of their studies.

Value: Minimum \$20,000. Renewable once at the master's level and twice at the doctoral or postdoctoral levels.

COMMANDER C. BELLAIRS POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Tenable at the Bellairs Research Institute of McGill University, St. James, Barbados, for research in marine related fields including: biology, ecology, behavioural and avian ecology, geography and geology. Candidates should have recently attained their Ph.D. and must clearly demonstrate a definite need to carry out their research at the Institute.

Value: \$20,000 per year, plus travel expenses. Renewable once. Deadline: Check availability with the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section

OFA # 125

CONRAD F. HARRINGTON POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Established in 1999 in honour of Conrad F. Harrington in recognition of his leadership in developing in McGill University Health

Eligibility: The postdoctoral fellowship in the area of amytrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) will support researchers who have received their M.D. or Ph.D. degrees and who wish to advance their research careers in the Faculty of Medicine in the McGill University Health Centre. In the event that there are no candidates investigating ALS, the fellowship will be awarded to support a postdoctoral candidate working in a related area of neurological disease. Awarded by the Postgraduate Award Committee of the Faculty of Medicine.

Value: \$17,000.

Application: Further information can be obtained from www.medicine.mcgill.ca/research or by contracting the Research Office of the Faculty of Medicine.

OFA # 157

DR. DAVID T.W. LIN FELLOWSHIP

林達威醫生獎學金 Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959), from Hong Kong, in recognition of Dr. David T.W. Lin, B.Sc. 1937, M.D., C.M. 1940, a surgeon emeritus at the Royal Victoria Hospital, to support medical research

Eligibility: Awarded by the Postgraduate Awards Committee of the Faculty of Medicine to a student at the postdoctoral, Ph.D. or M.Sc. level.

Value: Minimum \$20,000.

Application: Further information can be obtained from www.medicine.mcgill.ca/research or by contacting the Research Office of the Faculty of Medicine.

DR. ROBERT G.H. LEE FELLOWSHIP

李甘棠博士獎學金

Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959), from Hong Kong, in honour of Dr. Robert G.H. Lee, B. Eng. 1947 (Metallurgical Engineering). Value: Minimum \$15,000. Renewable once at the master's level and twice at the postdoctoral or doctoral levels.

Application: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the Faculty of Engineering to an entering postdoctoral, doctoral or master's student in either Chemical Engineering or Mining and Metallurgical Engineering.

DR. WAH LEUNG FELLOWSHIP

梁甦華牙醫獎學金 Established in 1998 by a generous gift from a McGill graduate of Chemical Engineering (Class of 1959), from Hong Kong, in honour of Dr. Wah Leung, the first Dean of Dentistry at the University of British Columbia.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to an entering postdoctoral, doctoral or master's student in the Faculty of Dentistry who is working in pain, oral cancer or bone tissue research. Value: Minimum \$20,000. Renewable once at the master's level and twice at the postdoctoral and doctoral levels.

DR. YU-MING LAM FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1999 by a generous gift from Dr. Yu-Ming Lam (DDS 1972) and family in honour of Mr. Yin Bun Lam.

Eligibility: Awarded by the Faculty of Dentistry to an entering postdoctoral, doctoral or master's student in the Faculty of Dentistry.

Value: \$10,000. Tenable for one year.

MCLAUGHLIN FELLOWSHIP

Established by the R. Samuel McLaughlin Foundation for post-M.D. fellows undertaking research within McGill University and affiliated hospitals.

Eligibility: The Fellowship will be awarded by the Postgraduate Awards Committee of the Faculty of Medicine for one year, but the recipient is eligible to re-enter the competition for a second year of support. Applicants must be eligible to practice in Quebec.

Value: Minimum \$25,000.

Application: Further information can be obtained from www.medicine.mcgill.ca/research or by contacting the Research Office of the Faculty of Medicine.

PETER QUINLAN FELLOWSHIP

To honor the memory of Peter Quinlan, a fellowship fund has been established in his name by his family and friends.

Eligibility: The Peter Quinlan Fellowship will support young researchers (M.D. or Ph.D.) who wish to undertake postdoctoral training in Oncology at McGill University and its affiliated hospitals under the direction of a member of the Faculty of Medicine. The Fellowship will be awarded by the Postgraduate Awards Committee of the Faculty of Medicine for one year, but the recipient is eligible to re-enter the competition for a second year of support.

Value: Stipend will follow CIHR salary scale.

Application: Further information can be obtained from www.medicine.mcgill.ca/research or by contacting the Research Office of the Faculty of Medicine.

RICHARD H. TOMLINSON POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Established in 2000 through a very generous gift from Dr. Richard H. Tomlinson (Ph.D. 1948). Awarded annually by the GPSO to recruit outstanding individuals into postdoctoral positions in any department at McGill University. Tomlinson Fellows who accept a fellowship from an agency external to McGill will be entitled to one-half the full value of the Tomlinson Fellowship.

Eligibility: The Tomlinson Postdoctoral Fellowships are for new postdoctoral scholars accepted into a postdoctoral research position at any department at McGill University.

Value: \$30,000, renewable annually based on satisfactory progress, to a maximum tenure of 2 years for postdoctoral level. **Deadline:** December 1.

Application: Applications for a Tomlinson Postdoctoral Fellowship must reach the intended department by December 1 and should be accompanied by a letter from a McGill faculty member indicating their willingness to supervise the applicant's postdoctoral research in the event a fellowship is awarded. Current doctoral students and postdoctoral scholars at McGill are not eligible to apply. www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships

SUSTAINABLE AGRICULTURE FELLOWSHIP

Established in 1995 through an endowment by a graduate of the Macdonald Farm Management and Technology Program, to foster innovative research in sustainable development that might not otherwise find support through traditional funding sources.

Eligibility: The proposed research would address themes such as food systems, agriculture, conservation, and the environment; sustainable systems and the community; issues in Canada's North; and food, nutrition and community development. Awarded by the Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences Scholarship Committee on the basis of academic merit and suitability of the proposed research to the fellowship theme. Priority will be given to postdoctoral fellows.

Value: \$35,000 at the postdoctoral level, may be renewable once. **Deadline:** February 1, to Scholarships Committee for a fellowship commencing September 1.

Application: Additional information is available from the Macdonald Campus Student Affairs Office, 21111 Lakeshore, Ste-Annede-Bellevue, Quebec, H9X 3V9. Doctoral candidates will be considered in the second round if no suitable postdoctoral candidate is found.

7.2 External Postdoctoral Fellowships

ANDREW W. MELLON POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS IN THE HUMANITIES

Eligibility: Applicants must be US Citizens or Permanent Residents. For scholar-teachers in the humanities, tenable at Stanford University, who will be receiving a Ph.D. no more than one year prior to the competition or on track to finish the degree program by the end of the academic years. Limited teaching duties are required.

Value: Minimum salary of \$30,000 and benefits, office space,

research and library support. **Deadline:** Not currently offered.

Application: Additional information is available from www.woodrow.org/academic_postdocs/Info/info.html.

OFA # 269

CANADIAN HEALTH SERVICES RESEARCH FOUNDATION (CHSRF) POSTDOCTORAL AWARD COMPETITION

Candidates may be from any discipline or health professional background, but must have formal research training and some research experience related to applied health services or health policy. Targeted disciplines or professional backgrounds include, but are not limited to: social sciences and humanities, nursing, applied health services and policy, medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, optometry, veterinary medicine, chiropractic, and rehabilitative science.

Value: \$40,000 plus research allowance of \$5,000.

Application: Applications are due at the foundation in December. An application form is not required, but format and content guidelines must be observed. Information and guidelines can be found at www.chsrf.ca/cadre/postdoctoral_awards_e.php.

CANADIAN INSTITUTES FOR HEALTH RESEARCH (CIHR) POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: A candidate must hold, or be completing, either a Ph.D. or a health professional degree (or equivalent) in a field such as medicine, dentistry, pharmacy, optometry, veterinary medicine, chiropractic, nursing or rehabilitative science. (Candidates cannot hold the award in the department where they received their Ph.D.)

Value: Varies from \$38,000 to \$47,500 plus research allowance (renewable).

Deadline: Applications are considered at two deadlines, October 1 and February 1.

Application: Application forms and the Grants and Awards Guide are available only on the Web. Further information is available from CIHR, 410 Laurier Avenue W., 9th floor, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 0W9, www.cihr.ca.

OFA #189

CHATEAUBRIAND SCHOLARSHIPS (POSTDOCTORAL)

Eligibility: This program offers young Canadian researchers the opportunity of a 6 to 12 month assignment in a French university, research organisation, or an engineering school, preferably within a cooperation programme between French and Canadian laboratories. Contact should be made with the host institution prior to making the application (a letter of invitation is required) Candidates must be Canadian citizens and have received their Ph.D. in the last three years.

Value: Monthly stipend of 2060 euros plus medical insurance and cost of travel.

Deadline: January 31.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from the French Embassy, Science and Technology Department, 464 Wilbrod Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1N 6M8 Tel: (613) 593 7412, Fax: (613) 593-7430

Website: http://ambafrance-ca.org/hyperlab/AIDE-MEM/_lamCanadian.htm

OFA # 229

CHIANG CHING-KUO FOUNDATION – FELLOWSHIP AWARDS (POSTDOCTORAL)

Eligibility: For postdoctoral research in the field of Chinese studies in the humanities and social sciences. All applicants must be, or become, members in good standing of the Canadian Asian Studies Association.

Value: varies depending on availability of funds and needs of applicant.

Deadline: February 1.

Application: Additional information and forms are available from the Canadian Asian Studies Association, CCASLS SB-115, c/o Concordia University, 1455 de Maisonneuve O., Montréal, Québec H3G 1M8. Tel: (514) 848-2280, Fax: (514) 848-4514 E-mail: casa@concordia.ca; http://canadianasianstudies.concordia.ca.

OFA # 113

FONDATION ARMAND-FRAPPIER

Eligibility: The Fondation Armand Frappier offers four \$30,000 Postdoctoral fellowships to candidates having recently obtained their doctoral degrees. The awardees train at the Institut Armand Frappier.

Value: \$30,000

Deadline: Check directly with the Fondation Armand-Frappier Application: Information regarding specific application requirements available from the President, J. Louis Lévesque Fellowship Award Committee, Fondation Armand Frappier, 531 boul. des Prairies, Ville de Laval, Québec H7V 1B7. Tel: (514) 686 5360.

E-mail: fondation.armand-frappier@inrs-iaf.uquebec.ca

Website: www.fondation-afrappier.qc.ca

OFA # 232

FONDATION DU PRÊT D'HONNEUR BOURSES DE RECHERCHE POSTDOCTORALE

Eligibility: Established in 1970, these postdoctoral awards were created to promote research in the social and economic field, particularly important for the development of Quebec. Candidates must be about to receive their doctoral degrees or have recently received them and have received a degree from a Quebec university within the last eight years. Applicants must also be Canadian citizens, or Permanent Residents and be a resident of Quebec for three years.

Value: \$20,000 for one year (may be renewable).

Deadline: February 1.

Application: Information and application forms available from the Comité des bourses postdoctorales, La Fondation du Prêt d'Honneur, Maison Ludger-Duvernay, 82 rue Sherbrooke ouest, Montréal, Québec H2X 1X3. Tel: (514) 843-8851.

E-mail: sbouchard@ssjb.com.

OFA # 50

FONDS DE LA RECHERCHE EN SANTÉ DU QUÉBEC (FRSQ) POSTDOCTORAL TRAINING FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Fellowships for postdoctoral research training (full-time) in health sciences. The candidate must hold a Ph.D. and have accumulated no more than 30 months (2 1/2 years) of postdoctoral training as of March 1. Applicants must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents when the fellowship commences. Some awards may also be awarded to non-Canadians wishing to do postdoctoral training in Quebec.

Value: Varies from \$30,000 to \$39,323, renewable.

Deadline: October 15.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available on the Web or from FRSQ, 500, rue Sherbrooke ouest, Bureau 800, Montréal, Québec H3A 3C6. Tel: (514) 873-2114 ext. 224

Website: www.frsq.gouv.qc.ca.

OFA # 345

FONDS QUÉBÉCOIS DE LA RECHERCHE SUR LA NATURE ET LES TECHNOLOGIES (FQRNT) (FORMERLY FCAR) BOURSES POSTDOCTORALES

Eligibility: These fellowships are offered to candidates who (during the last 2 years) have completed their doctoral studies in Quebec and now wish to undertake a post-doctoral position outside of the province or, have completed their Ph.D. elsewhere and wish to undertake post-doctoral work in a Quebec university. Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents, and residents of Québec.

Value: \$30,000 per year, up to two years.

Deadline: October 15 (confirm deadline with offices below). **Application:** Forms are available on the Web or from FQRNT 140, Grande-Allée Est, Bureau 450, Québec, Québec, G1R 5M8. Tel: (418) 643-3396, Fax: (418) 643-1451 or 1-888-653-6512; www.nateq.gouv.qc.ca

OFA # 371

FONDS DE RECHERCHE SUR LA SOCIÉTÉ ET LA CULTURE (FQRSC) BOURSES POSTDOCTORALES

Eligibility: These fellowships are offered to candidates who (during the last 2 years) have completed their doctoral studies in Quebec and now wish to undertake a post doctoral position outside of the province or, have completed their Ph.D. elsewhere and wish to undertake post doctoral work in a Quebec university. Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents, and residents of Québec. Some awards may also be awarded to non Canadians wishing to do postdoctoral training in Quebec.

Value: \$30,000 may be renewable.

Deadline: October 15 (confirm deadline with offices below).

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available on the Web at www.fqrsc.gouv.qc.ca, Tel: (418) 643-7582 poste 3144, E-mail: bourspost@fqrsc.gouv.qc.ca

FOREIGN GOVERNMENT AWARDS (POSTDOCTORAL)

The International Council for Canadian Studies (ICCS) administers a number of foreign government awards (including postdoctoral level support) on behalf of the Government of Canada and other foreign governments.

Eligibility: A common condition is that the applicant be a Canadian citizen and have completed a Ph.D. by the beginning of tenure of the award.

Value: Covers monthly living allowance, tuition and related fees, plus return travel (duration and actual value varies by country).

Deadline: Varies (confirm deadline with offices below).

Application: Can be obtained on the Web or from the International Council for Canadian Studies, 75 Albert Street, S-908, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 5E7. Tel: (613) 789-7828

www.scholarships-bourses-ca.org,

E-mail: general@iccs.ciec.ca or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

Countries currently supported:

Colombia, France, Germany (DAAD), Italy, Japan, Korea, Mexico, Chile, the Phillipines, Netherlands, Russia and Spain.

Awaiting approval: Philippines.

OFA # 499

HANNAH INSTITUTE FELLOWSHIPS FOR POSTDOCTORAL STUDY IN THE HISTORY OF MEDICINE

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents who have completed their Ph.D. or M.D. in the last three years, or will be doing so before November 1. Any applicant who can submit official documentation of a successful defence by February 1 will also be considered.

Value: \$28,500 to \$35,000.

Deadline: November 1 (confirm with Hannah Institute).

Application: Information and applications may be obtained from the Associated Medical Services Inc. Web site:

www.ams-inc.on.ca. Apply directly to Associated Medical Services, Inc. 14 Prince Arthur Avenue, Suite 101, Toronto, Ontario, M5R 1A9. Tel: (416) 924-3368. E-mail: grants@ams-inc.on.ca.

OFA # 430

HUMBOLDT RESEARCH FELLOWSHIP PROGRAM

The Alexander von Humboldt Foundation was established by the Federal Republic of Germany in order to promote international cooperation in research.

Eligibility: The Humboldt Research Fellowship Program supports highly qualified postdoctoral scholars of all nationalities and disciplines so that they may carry out long-term research projects in Germany. There are no quotas with respect to country of origin or academic discipline.

Value: The Humboldt Research Fellowship Program provides for a stay of six to 12 months in Germany for research. Monthly stipends range from 2,100 Euro to 3,000 Euro; special allowances are available for accompanying family members, travel expenses, and German language instruction.

Deadline: Applications may be submitted at any time.

Application: Information and applications may be obtained from: Alexander von Humboldt Foundation, U.S. Liaison Office, 1012 14th Street NW, Suite 1015, Washington, DC 20005, Telephone: (202) 783 1907, Fax.: (202) 783 1908

E-mail: avh@bellatlantic.net

Website: www.humboldt-foundation.de.

INSTITUT DE RECHERCHE EN SANTÉ ET EN SÉCURITÉ DU TRAVAIL DU QUÉBEC (IRSST) - BOURSES **POSTDOCTORALES DE RECHERCHE**

Graduate scholarships are intended for master's, doctoral and postdoctoral candidates whose research program deals specifically with the prevention of industrial accidents and occupational diseases or the rehabilitation of affected workers.

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents, domiciled in Quebec. Selection will take into account the relation of the proposed project to the priorities of the IRSST.

Value: \$27,000 - \$36,000.

Deadline: First Tuesday in November.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section; the McGill Department of Occupational Health, Charles Meredith House, 1130 Pine Avenue; or the Institut de recherche en santé et en sécurité du travail du Québec, 505 boul. de Maisonneuve ouest, Montréal, Québec H3A 3C2. Telephone: (514) 288-1551. E-mail:

bourses@irsst.gc.ca. Website: www.irsst.gc.ca.

OFA #463

INSTITUT NATIONAL DE LA RECHERCHE SCIENTIFIQUE (INRS) POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: The INRS offers postdoctoral fellowships to researchers wishing to join research teams within one of its seven centres (affiliated with the Université du Québec located throughout the province). These carry out research on: culture and society, water, energy and materials, geological sciences, oceanography, health, telecommunications and urban planning. Candidates must have either recently completed their doctoral studies or be in the final stages.

Value: Approximately \$26,000 (renewable).

Deadline: See INRS Website - www.inrs.uquebec.ca

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements available from the INRS, 490, rue de la Couronne, Québec, Québec G1K 9A9. Telephone: (418) 654-4677 Fax: (418) 654-2525 . E-mail: rene-paul fournier@inrs.uguebec.ca. Website: www.inrs.uquebec.ca.

OFA #411

INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH CENTRE (IDRC) POSTDOCTORAL RESEARCH AWARDS

The mandate of the International Development Research Centre (IDRC) is to support research that meets the priorities of developing countries. Therefore, most of IDRC's training funds and awards are granted to individuals doing research directly related to, and in, the context of IDRC's programs and projects.

Value: Varies

Deadline: See IDRC Website - www.idrc.ca

JSPS POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS FOR FOREIGN RESEARCHERS

This Japan Society for the Promotion of Science (JSPS) fellowship was established to assist foreign researchers wishing to conduct research in Japan.

Eligibility: Candidates must be a citizen of a country that has diplomatic relations with Japan, have obtained a doctoral degree within the six years preceding award tenure. All fields of the humanities, social sciences, and natural sciences are included under this program.

Value: Covers monthly living allowance, return travel, and medical insurance, for one year (renewable).

Deadline: Two applications periods, May and September. **Application:** There are two nomination routes: a) through the nominating authority in the applicant's country (in Canada, NSERC); b) through a Japanese host researcher. Information and application materials available from Japanese Programs, NSERC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 1H5. Tel: (613) 996-2009. E-mail: cep@nserc.ca. Website: www.jsps.go.jp. **OFA # 203**

JUVENILE DIABETES FOUNDATION POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS IN DIABETES RESEARCH

Eligibility: By the beginning of the period of support sought, applicant must hold a doctoral degree or equivalent from an accredited institution and must not have a faculty appointment. Applicants must be sponsored by an investigator affiliated full-time with an accredited institution, who agrees to supervise the applicant's training. The sponsor need not have a background in diabetes, but the research project must be diabetes-related.

Value: \$35,568 - \$46,992 for 2 years, \$5,500 research allowance. Based on number of years of relevant postdoctoral experience. Consists of a stipend and research allowance.

Deadline: January and July.

Application: Information and application available from www.jdrf.org

OFA # 194

NATIONAL RESEARCH COUNCIL (NRC) RESEARCH **ASSOCIATESHIPS**

Eligibility: Candidates must have recently acquired (within the last five years) or expect soon to acquire a Ph.D. in a natural science or engineering field, or Master's degree in an engineering field. Associateships are open to nationals of all countries, but preference is given to Canadian citizens and permanent residents. Research associates will be offered appointments to the staff of NRC, tenable at one of NRC's 16 laboratories.

Value: \$46,112 per year (usually for a two-year term), plus travel

Application: Information regarding specific requirements is available from RA Coordinator, National Research Council Canada, Human Resources Branch, 1200 Montreal Road, Building M-58, Room W-107, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0R6

E-mail: ra.coordinator@nrc.ca

Website: www.nrc.ca

OFA # 112

NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH **COUNCIL (NSERC) INDUSTRIAL RESEARCH** POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Candidates must hold or expect to hold a Ph.D. in a discipline supported by NSERC, by the proposed date of appointment. These fellowships are intended primarily for new doctoral graduates seeking employment in Canadian industry for the first time (a list of eligible nominating organizations and companies is available from the addresses below). Candidates must be nominated by an eligible organization or company to be considered for funding. Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents.

Value: \$30,000 (plus company contribution of \$10,000 minimum per year)

Deadline: Four competitions each year. (See NSERC Web site for details - www.nserc.qc.ca.)

Nomination/Application: Fellowship guide and application forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or NSERC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 1H5. Tel: (613) 996-3762 or 996-3769, www.nserc.ca. All inquiries related to this program should be directed to NSERC.

OFA # 375

NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH COUNCIL (NSERC) POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents who have recently obtained, or are about to obtain a Ph.D. degree (in a field of research supported by NSERC). Funding is available to undertake postdoctoral research in one of the fields supported by NSERC. Awards are tenable at a Canadian university, provincial research council, as well as universities and research councils abroad.

Value: \$40,000 per year for two years. **Deadline:** To NSERC by October 15.

Application: Fellowship guide and application forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or directly from Scholarships and International Programs, NSERC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 1H5. Tel: (613) 996-3762, www.nserc.ca.

OFA # 375

NATURAL SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING RESEARCH COUNCIL (NSERC) VISITING FELLOWSHIPS IN CANADIAN GOVERNMENT LABORATORIES (VF)

Eligibility: Candidates must have received a Ph.D. within the last five years. There are no citizenship restrictions but there are quotas. Please consult the NSERC Web site. The fellowship is tenable in a number of Canadian government laboratories in the areas of agriculture, communications, environment, health, fisheries, etc.

Value: \$40,800 per year, renewable for up to two more years. **Deadline:** No deadline.

Application: Fellowship guide and application forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from Visiting Fellowship's Office, NSERC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario, K1A 1H5. Tel: (613) 996-3762, www.nserc.ca.

OFA # 374

ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES (POSTDOCTORAL) FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Offered to Canadian citizens and Permanent Residents for postdoctoral research in any field except medicine, in any of the OAS member countries.

Value: Covers monthly living allowance, health insurance, tuition and related fees, study material, plus return travel for one year (renewable).

Deadline: End of January - see Website for exact date.

Applications: Can be obtained on the Web or from the OAS Program Officer, International Council for Canadian Studies, 75 Albert, S-908, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 5E7, (613) 789-7828, www.scholarships-bourses-ca.org/pages/can_wrld-en.html or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

OFA # 91

SHASTRI INDO-CANADIAN INSTITUTE POSTDOCTORAL RESEARCH FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents and have completed a Ph.D. Affiliation with an Indian institution is not a prerequisite. Usually tenable in the social sciences and humanities.

Value: Rs. 16,000 living expenses per month and up to Rs. 4,200 per month for research, plus travel to and from India for 3 to 12 months.

Deadline: See Website.

Application Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from the Shastri Indo-Canadian Institute, 1402 Education Tower, 2500 University Dr. N.W., Calgary, Alberta T2N 1N4. Tel:(403) 220-7467. E-mail: sci@ucalgary.ca

Website: www.ucalgary.ca/~sici.

OFA # 88

SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES RESEARCH COUNCIL OF CANADA THERESE F. CASGRAIN (POSTDOCTORAL) FELLOWSHIP FOR RESEARCH ON WOMEN AND SOCIAL CHANGE IN CANADA

Eligibility: Applicants must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents at the time of application and the award is only tenable in Canada. Affiliation with a university or an appropriate research institution is desirable but not a condition of the award. Applicants must have obtained a doctorate before taking up the award, though there are no restrictions as to time elapsed since obtaining the doctoral degree. The award supports research in the field of social justice, particularly in defence of individual rights and the promotion of the economic and social interests of Canadian women. The Foundation is particularly interested in research that inclues a discussion of public policy options and makes concrete recommendations for change.

Value: Up to \$40,000 per year, of which \$10,000 may be used for travel and research expenses. Non-renewable. Offered every even-numbered year.

Deadline: October 1.

Application: Forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or SSHRC, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 6G4. Tel: (613) 992-0691

Website: www.sshrc.ca/web/apply/program_descriptions/fellowships/casgrain_e.asp.

OFA # 342

SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES RESEARCH COUNCIL (SSHRC) POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: For persons who have obtained a doctoral degree no more than three years prior to the competition deadline and who intend to pursue full-time postdoctoral study or research while affiliated with a university or recognized research institution.

Applicants must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents. **Value:** \$35,028 (renewable) plus research allowance of up to \$5,000.

Deadline: October 1.

Application: Forms are available only on the Web. Further information available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or from the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada, Tower II, 350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 6G4. Tel: (613) 992-0691; www.sshrc.ca.

OFA # 372

STAGES DE FORMATION POSTDOCTORALE AU QUÉBEC POUR JEUNES DIPLÔMÉS ÉTRANGERS

This program funds postdoctoral research internships in Quebec universities, enabling teams already involved in joint research to exchange young researchers.

Eligibility: Open to recent Ph.D.s (less than three years), citizens of one of the designated countries (excluding Canadian dual nationals): Germany, Spain, Italy, United Kingdom, Belgium, France, Switzerland, Australia, Denmark, United States, Japan, Norway, Finland, Sweden, Israel, South Korea. Priority is given to: biotechnology, information technologies, environment, space, health and new materials.

Value: Covers living allowance, return air travel and medical insurance, for a period of 6 to 12 months.

Deadline: April 15.

Application: Information and application materials available from Service de la coopération internationale, Ministère de l'Éducation du Québec, 1035, rue De La Chevrotière, 20e étage, Québec, QC G1R 5A5. Tel: (418) 646-8865.

OFA # 208

TRADITIONAL FULBRIGHT SCHOLAR AWARDS

Offers grants of four to nine months to Canadian postdoctoral researchers to lecture or conduct research at a host institution in the United States. While the competition is field open, applications in the following areas are strongly encouraged: Canada-U.S. r elations, security, public policy, international trade, North American integration, urban and regional planning, communications, culture, ecology and the environment, indigenous issues, law, border issues, public health, Canadian studies, and American studies. All applicants must demonstrate their project's relevance to the Program's mandate. All award recipients must be affiliated with an institution in the host country and are responsible for securing such affiliation.

Eligibility: Open to recent Ph.D.s (less than three years), citizens of one of the designated countries (excluding Canadian dual nationals): Germany, Spain, Italy, United Kingdom, Belgium, France, Switzerland, Australia, Denmark, United States, Japan, Norway, Finland, Sweden, Israel, South Korea. Priority is given to: biotechnology, information technologies, environment, space, health and new materials.

Value: \$25,000 USD for a full academic year (nine months) or \$12,500 for one semester. Basic health insurance is also provided.

Deadline: November 15.

Application: Information and application materials available from The Canada-U.S. Fulbright Program Foundation for Educational Exchange between Canada and the United States of America, 2015-350 Albert Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1R 1A4, Tel: (613)

237-5366 , Fax : (613) 237-2029 E-mail: info@fulbright.ca Website: www.fulbright.ca

WOODROW WILSON INTERNATIONAL CENTRE FOR SCHOLARS POSTDOCTORAL FELLOWSHIPS IN THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

Eligibility: No citizenship restrictions. Candidates must possess a Ph.D. degree in the humanities or social sciences and have published some major work beyond the Ph.D. dissertation.

Value: From \$26,200 to \$85,000. **Deadline:** October 1 in Washington.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from the Fellowships Office, The Woodrow Wilson International Centre for Scholars, Ronald Reagan Building and International Itrade Center, One Woodrow Wilson Plaza, 1300 Pennsylvania Ave. N.W., Washington, D.C. 20004-3027 USA. Tel: (202) 691-4000, Fax: (202) 357-4439. E-mail: fellowships@wwic.si.edu. Website: http://wwics.si.edu.

OFA # 278

8 Exchange and Travelling Fellowships

Information on funding opportunities for graduate study and research outside of Canada is contained in many of the reference books and directories listed in section 2.2, "Reference Books". One of the most comprehensive publications is UNESCO's "Study Abroad", available for consultation at the Graduate and Postdoctoral Studies Office, Fellowships and Awards Section, the McLennan Library and many national libraries around the world.

Embassies, consulates and commissions of foreign countries located in Canada also are excellent sources of information on funding opportunities for students intending to study abroad. Addresses and telephone numbers of all diplomatic representatives in Canada can be obtained from the Department of External Affairs in Ottawa at (613) 996-4376. For McGill students seeking funding for graduate study outside Canada, the graduate awards offices of foreign universities themselves are often the best source of information. The McLennan Library has a vast collection of foreign university catalogues. The French embassy in Ottawa has a complete Web site on France-Canada exchange programs at http://ambafrance-ca.org/HYPERLAB/FFCR/index.html under "l'aide-mémoire des échanges scientifiques franco-canadiens".

McGill University has signed a number of agreements with universities in other countries, many of which include a student exchange component. As a member of the Conference of Rectors and Principals of Quebec Universities (CREPUQ), McGill also participates in a number of student exchange programs with designated universities in the United States and Europe. Further information on such programs may be obtained from the Student Exchange Officer, Admissions, Recruitment and Registrar's Office, James Building Annex, McGill University. Tel: (514) 398-8342.

SPIN Database by InfoEd International: McGill University subscribes to the SPIN database for sources of research funding. Please refer to section 2.3, "Funding Information on the Web".

ALMA MATER STUDENT TRAVEL GRANT

Eligibility: The Alma Mater Student Fund, administered by the GPSO, will provide support for McGill graduate students in any discipline to travel to attend a scholarly meeting or conference where they will be presenting a paper relating to their graduate research. Support for this program comes from three sources: the Alma Mater Fund of McGill University, the Social Science and Humanities Research Council of Canada (SSHRC) in the case of students in the social sciences and humanities, and the Post-Graduate Student Society (PGSS). Additional funding may also come from NSERC and SSHRC residual postgraduate scholarship funds, depending on availability.

Value: Awards from \$250 to \$1,000.

Deadlines: September 15, January 15 and May 15 of each year. **Application:** Further details and application forms are available on the Web at www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships/travel/am under Fellowships and Awards, or from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

BOURSE PAUL BLANC

Offered alternately each year to a Canadian student from McGill or the Université de Montréal for graduate study at the Université de Lausanne, Switzerland and to a Swiss student from the Université de Lausanne for postgraduate study in Montreal. All things being equal, the fellowship will be offered to a student in science. Research subsidies are also available.

Value: 15,000 Swiss francs, annually (approximately \$12,500 Canadian).

Deadline: January 31.

Application: Further information and application forms are available on the Website at: www.S-A-V.org

Société académique Vaudoise, 1, avenue de Montbenon, case postale 7490, 1002 Lausanne, Switzerland

E-mail: secretariat@S-A-V.org

OFA # 206

ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITIES AND COLLEGES OF CANADA (AUCC) – NATIONAL FELLOWSHIPS PROGRAM

AUCC administers several fellowship competitions and exchanges for graduate study. Those currently available are listed below. In most cases, candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents of Canada for at least one year prior to application. Information concerning eligibility, tenure, as well as application forms available from the Canadian Awards program, Awards Division, Association of Universities and Colleges (AUCC), 350 Albert Street, Suite 600, Ottawa, Ontario K1R 1B1. Tel: (613) 563-1236, www.aucc.ca.

Canada-Taiwan Scholarships Program

BRITISH CHEVENING SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: For Canadians studying at a university in the UK. Scholarships last up to one year and are typically granted for Masters degree courses. It is highly unusual for the committee to approve an award for PhD studies. It is open to candidates in the following fields of study: Political Science, Law and International Relations, Media, Economics and International Development.

Value: Most awards will cover only university tuition fees, which vary according to the institution. In these cases, living costs and

international airfares are not included. In exceptional circumstances the committee may award a full scholarship.

Deadline: January 15.

Application: Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms online at: www.britcoun.org/canada-education-students-chevening-scholarships.htm or from the British Council, 80 Elgin Street, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5K7. Tel: (613) 237 1530

Website: www.britcoun.org/canada

OFA #86

CAMBRIDGE CANADIAN TRUST – GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIPS

The Cambridge Canadian Trust offers a number of scholarships each year to Canadian graduates for graduate study at the University of Cambridge. These include: Ph.D. scholarships (Canada Cambridge Scholarships, First Canadian Donner Foundation Research Cambridge Scholarships, Kenneth Sutherland Memorial Cambridge Scholarship, UK Commonwealth (Cambridge) Scholarships, William & Margaret Brown Cambridge Scholarship, Tidmarsh Cambridge Scholarship), graduate Law scholarships (CIALS Cambridge Scholarships, Pegasus Cambridge Scholarships), and scholarships for one-year postgraduate courses of study (UK Commonwealth (Cambridge) Scholarships). The Cambridge site reminds incoming Canadian PhD students to also apply for the ORS (Overseas Research Student awards), which pay the difference between Home and Overseas fees.

Eligibility: Canadian citizens for graduate study in various fields at Cambridge University.

Value: Scholarships cover tuition fees and/or airfare and/or a living allowance.

Deadlines: Vary depending on programme, but to be eligible for the ORS, your completed academic application must reach the university by December 31.

Application: For more information, see the Cambridge University graduate funding site for Canadians

(www.admin.cam.ac.uk/univ/gsprospectus/funding/overseas/canada.html#heading2). The Cambridge homepage is www.admin.cam.ac.uk/. Information regarding specific application requirements and application forms are available from the Cambridge Canadian Trust, Suite 203, 4 Beechwood Ave., Ottawa, Ontario K1L 8L9. Tel: (613) 744 6166 or the University of Cambridge, Board of Graduate Studies, 4 Mill Lane, Cambridge CB2 1RZ, U.K. feesandfunding@gradstudies.cam.ac.uk

CANADA-UNITED STATES FULBRIGHT SCHOLARSHIPS FOR GRADUATE STUDENTS

Proposed projects must comply with the Canada-U.S. Fulbright Program goal of broadening research efforts in the wide range of subjects pertaining to the relationship between Canada and the United States.

Eligibility: Canadian or American citizen with student status. Graduate students must be already accepted at a university in the host country. If a student has a proposed research project for a duration of nine months that cannot be conducted in the host country, then the student can receive funding, provided he/she is enrolled at a university in his/her home country.

Value: Fulbright scholarships are granted for periods of nine months. The award is a fixed sum US\$15,000 for one ninemonth academic year beginning in September. Grantees are expected to use the award to cover necessary expenses such as housing, travel, school fees and other academic expenditures. Basic health insurance is also provided, along with visa services.

Deadline: November 15 for Canadian applicants, October 25 for Americans.

Application: www.fulbright.ca

Forms for Canadian students available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section or from: The Canada US Fulbright Program, 350 Albert Street, Ste. 2015, Ottawa, Ontario K1R 1A4. Tel: (613) 237 5366.

E-mail: info@ fulbright.ca

Website: www.us_embassycanada.gov/fulbright.htm.

Forms for American students available from: Institute of International Education, 809 United Nations Plaza, New York, NY, 10017 3580.

OFA # 96

CANADIAN BUREAU FOR INTERNATIONAL EDUCATION (CBIE) SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: The CBIE offers a number of support programs that target international development issues, both for Canadians and international students. Scholarship, internship and professional development opportunities are available. The programs supported by the CBIE are: CBIE Grants, CYETA Africa, Bombardier Fellowship (see entry in this section under J. Armand Bombardier Internationalist Fellowships), International Student of the Year Award, Lucent Global Science Scholars, and the Youth Internship Program. The CIDA Awards Program for Canadians, formerly administered by the CBIE on behalf of the Canadian International Development Agency, ended on March 31, 2004. No further competitions are envisaged.

Value: Variable, depending on the program. **Deadline:** Variable, depending on the program.

Applications: See the Scholarships page on the CBIE Website at: www.cbie.ca/scholarship/index_e.cfm?page=cbie-grants_e. The CBIE homepage is www.cbie.ca and is navigable in French or English

Canadian Bureau for International Education, 220 Laurier Ave. West, Suite 1550, Ottawa, ON K1P 5Z9, Canada. Telephone: (613) 237-4820, Fax: (613) 237-1073

E-mail: info@cbie.ca

OFA # 23

J. ARMAND BOMBARDIER INTERNATIONALIST FELLOWSHIPS

The J. Armand Bombardier Internationalist Fellowships Program is unique in responding to the need of Canadians to develop their international awareness, its openness to all countries and all disciplines, as well as its objective to increase Canada's participation in the world economy. Applicants to the program show promise of becoming Canada's leaders of tomorrow in their chosen field of endeavour

Eligibility: Open to Canadians and permanent residents of Canada who hold at least one university degree, or are in the final year of a degree program. The latest degree must have been awarded no longer than five years from the date of application. Applicants must have achieved high academic standing. Recipients of the predecessor program, Celanese Canada internationalist Fellowships, are not eligible to apply again. Fellowships are intended for study in formal postsecondary programs abroad. Consisting of taught courses, lectures or seminars, the international study program may also be combined with a period of research or work (internship). The program abroad must be of one academic year (a minimum of eight consecutive months) including at least four months of taught courses. It may be undertaken anywhere in the world outside Canada and may include more than one location.

Value: \$10,000 per year.

Deadline: March 1 to CBIE (confirm with GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section - the deadline may change in future competitions).

Application: Available from the Canadian Bureau for International Education, 220 Laurier Avenue West, Suite 1100, Ottawa, Ontario K1P 5Z9. Tel: (613) 237 4820

Website: www.cbie.ca

OFA #38

COMMANDER C. BELLAIRS GRADUATE FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Tenable at the Bellairs Research Institute of McGill University, St. James, Barbados (specializing in marine biology, marine ecology, geography, geology, behavioural ecology and other fields). Candidates should be registered full-time in graduate studies at McGill and may apply at any point in their research program for a fellowship to allow them to work at Bellairs.

Value: Up to \$10,000 per year, plus travel expense for graduate level, and up to \$20,000 per year for postdoctoral level.

Deadline: Check availability with the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

Application: The fellowship is not being offered until further notice.

OFA # 125

COMMONWEALTH SCHOLARSHIPS FOR GRADUATE STUDIES

Eligibility: The Commonwealth countries of India, Jamaica, Malaysia, Malta, New Zealand, Trinidad & Tobago, and the United Kingdom offer scholarships to Canadian citizens and, in certain cases, to permanent residents of Canada, for graduate studies (Master's or Ph.D.) or, in some countries, for research toward a Canadian graduate degree. The list of countries may change - see the website listed below for further details. Canadian citizens are eligible to apply for all programs. The Canadian Scholarship Selection Committee will only consider permanent residents of Canada who are graduates of a Canadian university. Permanent residents of the awarding country are not eligible. See the website for further eligibility restrictions and also restrictions specific to the host country where study is to be undertaken

Value: Awards normally cover airfare, tuition, a living allowance and, in certain cases, expenses related to medical coverage and the purchase of books. Awards usually have a duration of 1 year (Master's) or 3 years (PhD), though there may be exceptions.

Deadline: Deadlines depend on the duration of the academic year in host countries. For the 2004 competition, the deadline for delivery of the application to the ICCS office was October 29th for all countries except New Zealand, which had a delivery deadline of December 24th. As the list of countries is subject to change, the deadlines will be variable from year to year as wellit is suggested that the website be monitored on a regular basis by interested applicants.

Application: Information and application forms are available on the Web at: www.scholarships-bourses-ca.org/pages/CWout/cwCanOt1-en.html

The GPSO site can also be consulted: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellow-ships/grad/travel/commonwealth.

International Council for Canadian Studies (ICCS), 75 Albert, S-908, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 5E7. Tel: (613) 789 7828, Fax: (613) 789 7830.

E-mail: general@iccs-ciec.ca Website: www.iccs-ciec.ca

OFA #49

DEUTSCHER AKADEMISCHER AUSTAUSCHDIENST (DAAD) - GERMAN ACADEMIC EXCHANGE FELLOWSHIPS

The German Academic Exchange Service (DAAD) offers scholarships to highly-qualified students for graduate study and/or research at universities or institutes in Germany.

Eligibility: McGill students may be eligible to apply for DAAD fellowships under three distinct programs: McGill/DAAD, Bourses Québec-Allemagne, and the Foreign Government Awards program run by ICCS.

DAAD Fellowships (Annual Grants) are open to graduating seniors, graduate students and Ph.D. candidates under 33 years of age, enrolled full-time at time of application. Applicants must have a well-defined research project that makes a stay in Germany essential. They must also have adequate knowledge of the German language to carry out their proposed research.

Value: Depending on the award holder's academic level, the DAAD will pay a monthly award of 715 Euro (graduates holding a first degree), 795 Euro (doctoral candidates) or 975 Euro (doctoral andidates with at least two years academic work experience), plus travel and luggage costs and a health insurance allowance.

Application: Information and application forms are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section at www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships, Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) at www.daad.org, or from the Programme de bourses des gouvernements étrangers at www.meq.gouv.qc.ca/ens-sup/ens-univ/bourses.asp. Please note that only one application should be submitted.

OFA # 306

DR. AND MRS. MILTON LEONG FELLOWSHIP FOR STUDY IN CHINA

梁 家康 醫生夫婦中國研究學研究生獎學金Established in 1994 through a donation of Dr. Milton H.K. Leong, B.Sc. 1966, M.D., C.M.1970 and Susanna Leong (Liang), B.Sc. 1969, M.Sc. 1973 to support academic exchanges between McGill and Chinese universities. Available to McGill graduate students in the Faculty of Science who study at Nankai, Peking and Tsinghua Universities.

Eligibility: Awarded by the GPSO on the recommendation of the Faculty of Science.

Value: Up to \$15,000; tenable in China for up to one year.

FOREIGN GOVERNMENT AWARDS

The Foreign Government Awards are intended to assist Canadian students in furthering their studies or conducting research abroad at the master's, doctoral or postdoctoral level. As part of the implementation of cultural agreements with the Government of Canada, the governments of Chile, Colombia, France, Germany, Korea, Mexico, the Philippines, and Russia will offer awards to Canadian graduate students tenable in 2005-2006. These awards have been combined to form the Foreign Government Awards (FGA) Program, which is administered by the International Council for Canadian Studies (ICCS). The governments of Italy, Japan, the Netherlands and Spain also offer awards to Canadian students. However, the embassies of these countries in Canada are responsible for the administration of their scholarships.

Eligibility: A common condition is that the applicant be a Canadian citizen and have completed a first degree.

Value: Although all of the awards are similar in nature, the value of each award is determined by the offering country. Most awards cover travel to and from the host country, tuition and registration fees, and a monthly living allowance. Several awards also cover books, mandatory health and accident insurance and various other allowances

Deadline: Deadlines for submission of applications vary depending on whether the competitions are administered by the ICCS or by each of the Embassies in Canada. Please also note that the forms provided on the Web site can only be used for those competitions administered by the ICCS. Forms for those competitions directly administered by the Embassies in Canada of participating countries must be obtained from the relevant Embassy or Consulate. See the Website for Embassy contact information. ICCS-administered deadlines were either October 29th or January 28th, depending on the country. See this Websitee for more information on deadlines and submission information: www.scholarships-bourses-

ca.org/pages/FGAout/2a_fga_by_lccs-en.html

Applications: Applications and further information is best obtained on the Web at: www.scholarships-bourses-ca.org/pages/FGAout/1_fga_Intro-en.html. Applications are to be submitted to the International Council for Canadian Studies, 75 Albert, S-908, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 5E7. Tel: (613) 789 7828, or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

OFA # 499

GOVERNMENT OF ITALY SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: The Government of Italy offers scholarships to Canadian citizens wishing to pursue studies in Italy. They are intended for students, professionals, teachers, and artists who meet the necessary requirements for enrolment in Italian post-secondary institutions (universities, academies, conservatories, art restoration institutes, National School of Cinematography, research centres or laboratories, libraries, archives, museums and other national or nationally-recognized institutions), and who would like to attend specialized courses or conduct research in specific fields. For Italian language study, the scholarships are awarded

for specific programs at the Universities for Foreigners in Perugia, Siena and Roma Tre or at other recognized institutions.

The short-term scholarships consist of a three-month period to be used in the summer of 2005 and are reserved primarily for courses in Italian language and culture. Applicants must possess a high school diploma at the time they apply and must be 38 years of age or younger.

Italian language and culture courses of a one-month period are reserved for Italian language teachers to whom no age limit applies, and for 3rd year University students in the Italian Studies Department.

The long-term scholarships consist of a nine to a twelve-month period, (depending on the length of the course) beginning in autumn 2004. They are awarded for specific research or specialised courses at public post-secondary institutions in any area of study. All courses of study must be undertaken at Government approved educational institutions. Applicants for the long-term scholarships interested in undergraduate research or study must possess a high school diploma entitling the applicant to enrol in university; for those wishing to study or conduct research at the post-graduate level, the minimum requirement is a Master's degree. Applicants must be 38 years of age or younger.

Value: Scholarships offered by the Italian Government do not include air fare and room and board.

Please note that scholarship recipients must make their own travel and lodging arrangements.

Any partial or total exemption from university fees for scholarship recipients is the decision of the individual university institution; no exemptions are granted by private institutions.

Deadline: March 26

Application: See the Italian Embassy website: www.italyincan-ada.com. Guidelines for application, program description and further information are available in English, French or Italian. The Italian Consulate in Montreal is located at 3489 avenue Drummond, Montreal, QC, H3G 1X6. Tel: (514) 849-8351, Fax: (514) 499-9471

È-mail: cgi@italconsul.montreal.qc.ca

OFA # 504

GRADUATE STUDENT RESEARCH SUPPORT IN THE SOCIAL SCIENCES AND HUMANITIES

Eligibility: Limited funds are available from the Office of the Vice-Principal (Research) for the support of graduate student research in the social sciences and humanities. This may include thesis research conducted at a site remote from McGill. This program will not cover typing or reproduction of theses, equipment, computer time and supplies.

Value: Awards up to \$5,000.

Deadlines: April 17, October 17, January 16 (If deadline falls on a weekend or public holiday, the next working day applies)

Application: Further details and application forms are available from McGill University, Research Grants Office, James Administration Building, Room 429. Tel: (514) 398-3790 or Website: www.mcgill.ca/rgo/internal

INTER AMERICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK (IDB) SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: The IDB administers two scholarship programs: the Japan Scholarship Program for graduate students in development-related fields, and scholarships to attend social development courses offered by INDES. Candidates must be a national of one of IDB borrowing member countries. For the Japan Scholarship Program, candidates must hold a a bachelor's degree or its equivalent in the social sciences, business or public administration, or another development-related technical discipline,, have a superior academic record, at least 2 years work experience in a development field, and be currently enrolled in a Master's degree program in the social sciences, business or public administration, or another development-related technical discipline (except law and medicine), in a university of a member country other than the country of origin or residence. Applicants must intend to return to their home country after completion of study and work for at least two years in order to apply enhanced

knowledge and skills toward helping accelerate economic and social development.

The Japan-IDB Scholarship Program has the following three subprograms: the Northern Hemisphere Program (at Universities located in the North America, Central America and Europe), the Southern Hemisphere Program (at Universities located in the South America countries), and the Special Program for Studies at Japanese Universities for students entering a Master's program, in English, at any university located in Japan.

Value: INDES scholarships cover participation, required materials and texts, health and life insurance, a roundtrip airline ticket between the city of residence and Washington D.C., and lodging

Tje Japan-IDB scholarship provides benefits covering full tuition, university medical and accident insurance, an installation allowance, a monthly subsistence allowance, a book allowance, and economy class travel. The scholarship is effective as of the start of the academic year and does not cover any expenses during the summer.

Deadline: Varies depending on scholarship and sub-program. See the website below for more details.

Application: Forms and additional information are available on the IDB's scholarship page: www.iadb.org/aboutus/V/scholarships.cfm?language=English

The Bank's home page is www.iadb.org and the site is navigable in English, French, Spanish or Portuguese.

Headquarters:Inter-American Development Bank, Japan-IDB Scholarship Program, 1300 New York Avenue, NW, Stop W-404, Washington, D.C. 20577, United States of America

OFA #51

INTERNATIONAL DEVELOPMENT RESEARCH CENTRE (IDRC) FELLOWSHIPS AND RESEARCH FUNDING

Eligibility: The IDRC administers a number of fellowships and funding opportunities for students conducting research in development-related discplines. As there are several programs targeting several different areas, students are advised to consult the IDRC website to see if such funding opportunities are applicable to their research. As the programs are related to development, many supoport research abroad. Those included here support some form of research outside of Canada or are available to international students from developing countries. Programs available to Canadians and permanent residents, as well as those that are more topic-based and do not necessarily include travel and research abroad are listed above, under the IDRC entry in the External Fellowships section (Section 3). Each of the programs supported by the IDRC is also available as targeted funding for students from developing countries. See the IDRC website listed below for more details.

"IDRC Doctoral Research Awards (IDRA)"

"Community Forestry: Trees and People - John G. Bene Fellowship"

"Use of Fertility Enhancing Food, Forage and Cover Crops in Sustainably Managed Agroecosystems: The Bentley Fellowship"

"AGROPOLIS: International Graduate Research Awards in Urban Agriculture"

Value: Varies depending on the programme.

Deadline: Varies depending on the programme.

Application: Mailing address: PO Box 8500, Ottawa, ON, Canada K1G 3H9

Street address: 250 Albert Street, Ottawa, ON, Canada, K1P 6M1, Telephone: (613) 236-6163, Fax: (+1-613) 238-7230 E-mail: info@idrc.ca. Website: www.idrc.ca

OFA # 1

INTERNATIONAL FEDERATION OF UNIVERSITY WOMEN (IFUW) INTERNATIONAL FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: . The International Federation of University Women offers a limited number of fellowships and grants to women graduates for advanced research, study and training. The competitions are normally held every two years. Competitions are open to nationals of all countries who are members of the IFUW. Women graduates can become IFUW members by joining one of

the federations or associations of university women affiliated to IFUW, such as the Canadian Federation of University Women, or by becoming an independent member, if they live in a country without an IFUW affiliate. Fellowships are meant to encourage advanced scholarship and original research by university women. Applicants must be well started on the research programme to which the application refers. Fellowships are intended to cover at least eight months of work, and should be taken up within 9 months of the date of award. They are not normally given for a Masters or for the first year of a PhD programme. Fellowships and grants are for work in any branch of learning, in the country of the applicant's choice. All candidates must have obtained admission to the proposed place of study prior to applying to IFUW's competition. An official letter of acceptance must accompany the application. The awards provide a maximum of twelve months support and are not renewa-

Value: Varies depending on the specific fellowship for which one applies.

Deadline: For the 2005/2006 competition, the application deadline for independent members and international individual members was 1 November. Deadlines for members applying through one of IFUW's 77 national affiliates vary by country, but will normally fall between 1 September and 1 October.

Application: Information regarding the different fellowships as well as specific application requirements and application forms are available on the IFUW's Fellowships and Grants page at: www.ifuw.org/i_fell.htm. The Federation's homepage is www.ifuw.org. IFUW, 8 rue de l' Ancien Port 1201 Geneva, Switzerland. Tel: (+41 22) 731 23 80 E-mail: info@ifuw.org, or the Canadian Federation of University Women, 251 Bank Street, Suite 600 Ottawa, Ontario K2P 1X3. Tel: (613) 234-8252, Fax: (613) 234-8221. E-mail: cfuw1@rogers.com

OFA #75

JAPAN FOUNDATION - JAPANESE STUDY FELLOWSHIP PROGRAM

Eligibility: The Japan Foundation offers three levels of support to Canadian citizens and Permanent Residents wishing to conduct research related to Japanese studies in Japan. Support is offered to scholars and researchers (between 2 and 12 months), doctoral students (between 2 and 14 months), and to those seeking to do intensive, short-term research such as data collection and interviews in Japan (21to 60 days). Proposals must be within the disciplines of the humanities and/or social sciences, and must be related in substantial part to Japan. Comparative research is acceptable. Proposals which do not fall within the scope of acceptable project areas, include: natural, medical or engineering sciences; undergraduate studies; Japanese-language studies and training in non-academic fields such as traditional culture, technology and commerce. In order to conduct research or pursue projects in Japan effectively, the co-operation of an affiliated institution or research associate is essential. Such affiliation must be demonstrated as part of the application (excluding Short-Term Researchers).

Value: 310,000 - 430,000 Japanese Yen monthly allowance, plus medical insurance, airfare, tuition fees and research allowance. Short-term researchers are entitled to airfare, a 17,000 Yen daily stripend and a 5,000 Yen daily research allowance.

Deadline: December 1, though applying earlier is encouraged. Application: Residents of Ontario residing outside the National Capital Region should apply through The Japan Foundation, Toronto. Residents of the National Capital Region should apply through the Embassy of Japan, Ottawa. Applicants from provinces outside Ontario should contact the nearest diplomatic mission. For more information about programs, see the PDF available on the Japan Foundation's Website at: www.japanfoundationcanada.org. For application forms, see your local Japanese consulate (unless you live in Ontario, but not Ottawa), the Japan Foundation Toronto Office, 131 Bloor Street West, Toronto, Ontario, M5S 1R1. Tel: (416) 966-1600, the Consulate General of Japan, 600 de la Gauchetière Street West, Suite 2120, Montreal, Quebec, H3B 4L8. Tel; (514) 866 3429.

E-mail: jftor@ interlog.com

Website: www.japanfoundationcanada.org

OFA # 219

JAPANESE GOVERNMENT (MONBUSHO) SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Scholarships in most disciplines are offered each year to Canadian citizens who wish to pursue their graduate studies in any subject in Japan. Candidates must be under 35 years of age, have a university degree and be willing to study the Japanese language.

Value: Travel and living allowances for up to two years are provided, plus tuition fees.

Deadline: June, check with Consulate.

Application: Forms are available from Consulate General of Japan, Monbusho Scholarships, 600 de la Gauchetière Street West, Suite 2120, Montreal, Quebec, H3B 4L8. Tel: (514) 866-3429.

OFA # 218

MACDONALD TRAVELLING SCHOLARSHIP

Eligibility: Founded by the will of the late Sir William Macdonald for the purpose of enabling English speaking Law students to take a course of studies in France", the testator "deeming it of great importance that the English-speaking members of the legal profession should be proficient in the French language". The scholar selected is required to pursue a year's study in the Law faculty of a French University approved, in each case, by the Faculty. The award is made at the discretion of the Faculty to a student of the graduating class proceeding to the Bar, who has obtained First or high Second Class honours in the final examination, and who would be unable without such financial help to spend a year in France. The Faculty interprets the will of the late Sir William Macdonald as intending that the scholarship be awarded only to students preparing for the legal profession in the Province of Quebec. Under the present regulations the scholarship must be used in the year in which it is awarded.

Value: \$24,000. Deadline: May 1.

Application: Candidates should apply to the Faculty of Law, Student Affairs Office.

MACKENZIE KING TRAVELLING SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Offered to a graduate of any Canadian university to engage in postgraduate studies in the U.S. or U.K in international or industrial relations (including international or industrial aspects of law, history, politics, economics). Applicants should be persons of unusual worth and promise. Awards are based on academic achievement, personal qualities and demonstrated aptitudes, as well as proposed program of study. McGill only considers undergraduate applicants with First Class Honours Standing (CGPA of 3.7 or higher) and graduate applicants with cumulative "straight A" records. Applicants to McGill who have graduated with a McGill undergraduate degree will automatically be considered for the Delta Upsilon and Peacock memorial scholarships.

Value: Approximately four scholarships per year of up to \$9,000. Value of the award is subject to change.

Deadline: Normally February 1 to applicant's home university. Verify McGill's deadline with the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

Application: Application is made through the "home" university, i.e, the Canadian university from which the applicant has or will receive the most recent degree. Further information and application forms, consult the agency Website: www.mkingscholarships.ca. To verify the application process and other procedural details, consult the McGill Graduate Studies Website: www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships/grad/winter/mackenzie-king/. Mackenzie King Scholarships Competition Office, Faculty of Graduate Studies, University of British Columbia, 235 2075 Westbrook Mall, Vancouver, British Columbia V6T 1Z1.

MINISTÈRE DE L'ÉDUCATION DU QUÉBEC (MEQ) – BOURSES D'ÉTUDES DE 2E ET 3E CYCLES À L'ÉTRANGER

The MEQ, in collaboration with the Ministère des affaires internationales, has concluded a number of study fellowships and tuition fee waivers with governments of the following countries or principalities: Germany, Andorra, Catalonia, China, Colombia, Communauté française de Belgique, the Flemish community of Belgium, Korea, Israel, Luxembourg, Mexico, the Arab Republic of Egypt, Tunisia, Vietnam.

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents and must have resided in Quebec for the past year at least. Candidates must possess an undergraduate degree and be registered in a Master's or doctoral level program at a Quebec university at the time that the fellowship is granted. Candidates must also conform to the specific requirements of the particular program through which a fellowship is being sought, and in most cases be fluent in the language of the country were studies will be undertaken. In most cases be fluent in the language of the country were studies will be undertaken. The type of study eligible and the value and duration of these fellowships varies depending on the particular agreement. Prospective applicants are strongly encouraged to carefully consult the MEQ website listed below.

Value: Normally covers travel and living expenses, for between one and twelve months. Some fellowships may be renewable. **Deadline:** Varies according the program.

Application: Up to date information regarding specific application requirements is available on this Website:

www.meq.gouv.qc.ca/ens-sup/ens-univ/bourses.asp.

Information is also available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section and the Direction de la coopération, MEQ, Édifice Marie Guyart, 1035, rue de La Chevrotière, 19e étage, Québec (Québec) G1R 5A5. Tel: (418) 644 3235,

OFA #20

MOYSE TRAVELLING SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Founded by the late Right Honourable Lord Atholstan, to commemorate the "splendid services of Dr. Charles E. Moyse, for forty-two years Professor of English, during sixteen of which he was Dean of the Faculty of Arts and Vice-Principal of the University". Two one-year scholarships are awarded. One scholarship will be awarded by the Faculty of Arts and the other by the Faculty of Science. In the absence of applicants of sufficient merit in either of the faculties, applicants from final years in other undergraduate faculties, or from graduate students may be considered. Holders must devote the year of tenure to advanced study, preferably in a British or European university, but not to the exclusion of other institutions approved by the Faculty of Arts or of Science. Applicants must be available for interviews during the first two weeks of May.

Value: Arts & Science - \$11,000.

Deadline: April 1 at Office of Dean of Arts or Dean of Science.

Application: For Arts, see www.mcgill.ca/arts/undergraduate/moyse/; for Science, see: www.mcgill.ca/science/student/moyse/. Further information on application procedures and forms are available from the Offices of the Deans of Arts and Science (see the Student Affairs Office at: Dawson Hall, Room 110, McGill University, 853 Sherbrooke Street West, Montreal, Quebec H3A 2T6, Tel.: 514-398-4210, Fax: 514-398-7185.

ONTARIO-QUÉBEC EXCHANGE FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: The Ontario-Quebec Exchange Fellowship Program allows students from Ontario to pursue full-time graduate studies at the master's or doctoral level at a university in Quebec. This program offers outstanding students from Ontario the opportunity to live and study in the cultural milieu of Quebec. The program is sponsored by the Ontario-Quebec Commission for Cooperation in accordance with the interprovincial Agreement for Co-operation and Exchange in Educational and Cultural Matters.

Value: \$10,000 per year for Master's; \$12,000 for doctoral level. Renewable, but recipients must apply to have the fellowship renewed.

Deadline: January 31.

Application: Information and application materials available from the Ontario Quebec Exchange Fellowship Program Website at: http://osap.gov.on.ca/eng/not_secure/ONT_QUE.htm. The Website is also navigable in French - proceed form the homepage http://osap.gov.on.ca to the Other Bursaries, Fellowships, Grants, and Scholarships menu.

Ministry of Training, Colleges and Universities Student Support, Fellowships, P.O. Box 4500, 189 Red River Road., 4th Floor, Thunder Bay, Ontario P7B 6G9. Tel: (807) 343 7257 (Toll-free: 1-800 465-3957)

OFA #399

ONTARIO GRADUATE SCHOLARSHIP PROGRAM

Eligibility: Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents, or holders of a student visa at the time of application, with at least an A-average in the last two years of study, for graduate studies (Master's or doctoral level) at an Ontario university.

Value: Awarded for one academic year, which may consist of either two or three terms. Applicants receive \$5,000 per term. Master's students are eligible to receive up to two OGS awards, doctoral students are eligible for up to five.

Deadline: November 15.

Application: There are different application procedures, depending on your status as an applicant currently enrolled as full-time or part-time students in an Ontario university; applicants who graduated from an Ontario university at any time between November 15, 2003, and November 15, 2004, and are not currently registered; and applicants who are not currently enrolled in an Ontario university. Read the "How to Apply" section of the OGS Website (http://osap.gov.on.ca/eng/not_secure/OGS.htm) carefully. The Website is also navigable in French from the homepage, http://osap.gov.on.ca.

Information and application forms available from the Ontario Graduate Scholarship Program, Student Support, Ministry of Education and Training. P.O. Box 4500, 189 Red River Road, 4th floor, Thunder Bay, Ontario P7B 6G9. Tel: (807) 343-7257 (Toll-free: 1-800-465-3957), osap.gov.on.ca.

OFA #398

ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES FELLOWSHIPS

Eligibility: Offered to Canadian citizens and Permanent Residents for graduate study and/or postdoctoral research in any field except the medical sciences and related areas, and introductory language studies,. They are tenable in any of the 33 OAS member countries, with the exception of the country where the candidate is a citizen or a permanent resident.

Value: Academic Studies Fellowships may provide funds for university tuition and fees, international travel, health insurance, living expenses, and for the purchase of books or other study materials. These benefits will vary depending on the type of fellowship awarded. The OAS General Secretariat shall establish rates of allowances and ceiling of funds provided, taking into consideration the country of study. These are tenable for between 3 months and 2 years.

Deadline: Application must be postmarked January 21 or hand delivered to the ICCS office by January 28.

Applications: Application information is available online at: www.scholarships-bourses-ca.org. See the OAS Application form page at: www.scholarships-bourses-ca.org/pages/applications/oasAcadStudApp_en.html.

OAS Program Officer, International Council for Canadian Studies, 75 Albert, S-908, Ottawa, Ontario, K1P 5E7, Tel: (613) 789 7828. E mail: general @iccs.ciec.ca, www.iccs-ciec.ca or the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section.

OFA # 91

OVERSEAS RESEARCH STUDENTS (ORS) AWARDS

Eligibility: 800 to 850 awards are offered on a competitive basis to overseas students for a higher education degree at certain academic institutions in Britain. All fields of study are supported. Value: Each award covers the difference between the tuition fee for a British graduate student and the "full-cost" fee for an over-

seas graduate student. Awards are renewable twice and can, therefore, be held for a maximum of three years.

Deadline: The application is available as of November 15th; deadline depends on the institution to which one applies.

Application: Applications should be obtained from the Registry or Scholarships Office of the British academic institutions concerned. Information is available from the ORS Awards Scheme, Woburn House, 20 Tavistock Square, London, U.K. WCIH 9HQ. E mail: ORS_scheme@UniversitiesUK.ac.uk, www.universitiesUk.ac.uk/ORS.

OFA # 488

PHILIP F. VINEBERG TRAVELLING FELLOWSHIP IN THE HUMANITIES

Established in 1988 by his family in memory of Philip F. Vineberg, O.C., Q.C., B.A., M.A., B.C.L., LL.D., former student, Professor and Emeritus Governor at McGill University, for a student graduating in a McGill degree program in arts, education, law, library science, music, religious studies or social work, toward one year of further studies in such disciplines at another university. Awarded to the student who best exemplifies the qualities of intelligence as demonstrated by academic record and creative thinking; breadth of interest, perspective and tolerance as demonstrated by cross cultural interests, desire to travel and record of service to others; excellence as demonstrated by a record of disciplined achievement and the promise of more to come.

Eligibility: The award will normally be made to a student in the final year of his or her undergraduate degree going into graduate studies in the next academic year, but exceptionally in cases of students completing graduate degrees and leaving McGill for further graduate or postgraduate studies elsewhere in the next academic year. Applicants who are offered substantial fellowship support from other external agencies may be prohibited from taking up the award.

Value: Up to \$14,500, plus commemorative medal.

Deadline: Mid-March to early April, check with the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Section for precise deadlines, (for 2005, the deadline was April 1).

Application: Forms and information are available from the GPSO Fellowships and Awards Website, www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships. See specifically www.mcgill.ca/gps/fellowships/grad/winter/specialized/.

THE RIGHT HONOURABLE PAUL MARTIN SCHOLARSHIPS TO THE UNIVERSITY OF CAMBRIDGE

Eligibility: These scholarships will be awarded to outstanding students registered in the Bar Admission Course in their articling year or who will be graduating in law from a Canadian University. **Value:** Scholarship is for one year, covering complete tuition fees, monthly maintenance allowance contribution, air transportation

(return from residence in Canada).

Deadline: December 31

Application: For more information, contact the Canadian Institute for Advanced Legal Studies, Scholarships Awards, 4 Beechwood Avenue, Suite 203, Ottawa, Ontario, K1L 8L9.

STUDENT EXCHANGE PROGRAMS – MCGILL UNIVERSITY AND THE CONFERENCE OF RECTORS AND PRINCIPALS OF THE UNIVERSITIES OF QUÉBEC (CREPUQ)

Note: These are not award or fellowship programs, but may be of interest to students wishing to study abroad for up to one year.

Purpose: These programs provide an opportunity for international education and all its benefits. Student participants remain registered at their home university (McGill), while attending a foreign campus. Currently, McGill University has over 100 bilateral student exchange agreements in 31 countries and more than 200 CREPUQ student exchange agreements in seven countries.

Value: The fellowships provide between \$750-\$1000 per month to support study abroad for a maximum of 8 months.

Information: See the MEQ Website: www.meq.gouv.qc.ca/enssup/ens-univ/coop.asp under Bourses pour des études à l'extérieur du Québec. At McGill, these programs are administered by the Student Exchange Officer, Admissions, Recruitment and Registrar's Office, James Building Annex, McGill University, Tel: (514) 398 3396. E-mail: exchaward.arr@mcgill.ca.

RHODES SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: Two scholarships are awarded annually to scholars from the Province of Quebec. These scholarships are tenable at the University of Oxford. They are granted for two years with the possibility of a third year. Candidates must be Canadian citizens or domiciled in Canada and be between 19 and 25 years of age, without dependents. Students in any faculty may apply.

Value: At least £8,640 per year, which covers personal expenses and tuition

Deadline: Because graduate students may have to submit directly to the Secretary for the Rhodes Scholarships in the province to which you are applying, it would be wise to contact Michael Rankin early. Completed applications submitted directly to the Secretary were due October 22 for the 2004 competition.

Application: For further details of the exact deadline, tenure, eligibility, qualifications, and application forms apply to the Michael Rankin at the McGill Office of the Dean of Students, Brown Student Services Building, 3600 McTavish St., Suite 4100, Montreal QC H3A 1Y2. Tel: (514) 398-3825, Fax: (514) 398-3857.

E-mail: michael.rankin@mcgill.ca

OFA # 525

ROTARY FOUNDATION SCHOLARSHIPS

Eligibility: The Rotary Club organization offers three levels of funding, entitled "Ambassadorial Scholarships": Academic-Year Ambassadorial Scholarships provide funding for one academic year of study in another country; Multi-Year Ambassadorial Scholarships are for two years of degree-oriented study in another country; Cultural Ambassadorial Scholarships are for either three or six months of intensive language study and cultural immersion in another country. Applicants must have completed at least two years of college-level coursework or equivalent professional experience before commencing their scholarship studies. Applicants for Academic-Year and Multi-Year Ambassadorial Scholarships must be proficient in the language of the proposed host country.

Value: Depends on the award program, but the most common scholarship, the Academic-Year Ambassadorial, is intended to help cover round-trip transportation, tuition, fees, room and board expenses, and some educational supplies up to US\$26,000 or its equivalent

Deadline: Are set by the individual sponsoring club (usually between March and July).

Application: Deadline and scholarship availability varies depending on the local to which one applies. To find your local, see their club locator at: www.rotary.org/support/clubs/index.html. Applications must be made through a Rotary Club in the area of the applicant's permanent residence or place of employment. Information on the scholarship programs as well as application information and suggested locations of tenure, are available at: www.rotary.org/foundation/educational/amb_scho/prospect/award/type.html.

OFA # 212

SHASTRI INDO-CANADIAN INSTITUTE – FELLOWSHIPS COMPETITION

Eligibility: Candidates must be Canadian citizens or Permanent Residents and possess a Bachelor's or Master's degree. The fellowships are to be used by students to enroll in an Indian institution of higher learning, to work towards a graduate degree or by students enrolled in graduate programs at Canadian institutions to conduct research on India towards a graduate degree (such students must affiliate with an Indian institution during the period of the grant). All awards are subject to approval by the Government of India. All awardees must be affiliated with an Indian institution. The Government of India does not permit research in strategic areas or on sensitive regional, political and social themes.

Value: India Studies Fellowships provide a monthly living allowance of Rs 16,000 a monthly research stipend of Rs 4,000 and return airfare to India.

Deadline: June 30 (January 31 for Language Fellowships). Application: For further information regarding competitions and applications, see the India Studies Fellowship webpage at: www.ucalgary.ca/~sici/2004shastri/english/indiastudies.htm. Information regarding application requirements and application forms is also available from the Programme Officer, India Studies, Shastri Indo-Canadian Institute, Room 1402, Education Tower, 2500 University Dr. NW, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2N 1N4. Phone: (403) 220-7467, Fax: (403) 289-0100. E-mail: sici@ucalgary.ca

OFA #88

THOMAS SHEARER STEWART TRAVELLING FELLOWSHIP

Eligibility: The fellowship was established in 1967 by the family of the late Thomas Shearer Stewart, Q.C. a graduate of the Faculty of Law class of 1908 and is granted to a recent graduate of the Faculty of Law designated by the Dean of the Faculty. Preference is given to a graduate who is a Canadian citizen intending to reside in Canada upon completion of studies.

Value: \$12,000, awarded at the discretion of the Faculty of Law. **Deadline:** May 1.

Application: Further in formation is available from the Student Affairs Office, Faculty of Law.

9 Index of Fellowships and Awards

Adams (Henry) Medal and Certificates Adler (Eric L.) Fellowship in Electrical Engineering 29 Alcan Research Fellowships..... 7 Alumnae Association of the McGill School of Nursing Association of Universities and Colleges of Canada (AUCC) – National Fellowships Program 7, 48 Banque Nationale Fellowship in the McGill Institute Beatty (Sir Edward W.) Memorial Scholarships Bélanger (Elaine) Graduate Studentship Bellairs (Commander C.) Graduate Fellowships 49 Bellairs (Commander C.) Postdoctoral Fellowships 43 Berger (Miriam and E. Michael) Fellowship 41

Billingsley (Isabel) Prize In French Studies. 3 Isindra (Dalbir) Fellowship 1 Isirc (Max E.) Fellowship 2 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 2 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 4 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 4 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 4 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 5 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 5 Isirc (Paul) Bourse 6 Isirc (Paul) Bourse (Paul) 8 Isirc (Paul) Bourse (Paul) 9 Isirc (Paul) Bo	Berling (Sara) Memorial Fellowship	40
Bindra (Dalbir) Fellowship Bira (Max E.) Fellowship Birkett (Dr. Herbert Stanley) Award 3 Blair Postgraduate Fellowships 3 Blanc (Paul) Bourse Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture 3 Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship 3 Bolton (J.) Scholarship 3 Bolton (J.) Scholarship 3 Bolton (J.) Scholarship 3 Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award 4 2 8 Ourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises 6 Geneviève de la Tour Fondue 3 Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne 4 2 8 Ourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses 6 d'études supérieures 5 Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award 6 Bracher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and 7 Political Science 7 Brown (Jean) Scholarships 8 Brown (Jean) Scholarships 8 Brown (Jean) Scholarship 8 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 8 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund 8 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education 8 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize 7 CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 8 Caley (Herbert C.) Award 8 Burtle (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics 8 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize 9 CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 9 Caley (Herbert C.) Award 9 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 9 Canada Gouncil Grants 9 Canada Graduate Scholarships 9 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Postdoctoral Award Competition 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Postdoctoral Fellowships 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Doctoral Award Competition 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Doctoral Award Competition 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Doctoral Award Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Doctoral Award Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Doctoral Award	Beta Phi Mu Scholarships	36
Birz (Max E.) Fellowship Birkett (Dr. Herbert Stanley) Award Bilair Postgraduate Fellowships Blanc (Paul) Bourse. Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. 3 Bolton (J.) Scholarship. 1 Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Mrs. Marjorie) Award Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. 3 Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 3 Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 3 Bourse de Recherche en milleu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. 3 Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. 3 Bradbury (John) Award in Geography 3 Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. 3 British Chevening Scholarships 3 Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. 3 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 3 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund. 3 Burse (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. 4 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. 5 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. 5 C 5 CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. 5 CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. 5 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. 5 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 5 Canada - United States Fulbright Scholarships for 6 Graduate Scholarship. 5 Canada Graduate Scholarships 5 Canada Graduate Scholarships 6 Canada Graduate Scholarships 7 Canada Graduate Scholarships 7 Canada Graduate Scholarships 8 Canada Graduate Scholarships 8 Canadian Thirled States Fulbright Scholarships for 8 Graduate Students 9 Canada Graduate Scholarships 1 Canadian Institutes of Professional Engineeris (CCPE) 9 National Scholarship Awards 1 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) 9 Postdoctoral Award Competition 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Postdoctoral Fellowships 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Postdoctoral Fellowships 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Postdoctoral Fellowships 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Postdoctoral Fellowships 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 2 C	Billingsley (Isabel) Prize in French Studies	33
Birkett (Dr. Herbert Stanley) Award Blair Postgraduate Fellowships Blanc (Paul) Bourse Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. Botton (J.) Scholarship in Architecture Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. Bourses de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourses de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. Bradbury (John) Award in Geography Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science British Chevening Scholarships Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 2aley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Council Grants Canadan Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Students Canadian Regineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Award Compelition Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards		15 15
Blair (Postgraduate Fellowships Blanc (Paul) Bourse Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. Bolton (J.) Scholarship. Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award. 2 Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. 3 Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 2 Bourses de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 2 Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. 3 Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. 3 Bradbury (John) Award in Geography 3 Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. 3 British Chevening Scholarships 3 Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. 3 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 3 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund. 3 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. 1 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award 3 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. 3 C C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of	Direct (Dr. Herbert Stanley) Award	36
Blanc (Paul) Bourse Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. 30thon (J.) Scholarship. Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 20burse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 21burse de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. 22brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. 33bradbury (John) Award in Geography 33brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science 31british Chevening Scholarships 34brown (Jean) Scholarship 35brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship 36bruke (Hugh E.) Research Fund 36burse (Hugh E.) Research Fund 36burse (Margaret Mary) Award 37burt (Alburt A.) Award in Orthopaedics 39bryd (Kenneth F.) Prize 30c 31c 32c 32c 32c 32c 32c 32c 32c 32c 32c 32		24
Bland (John) Scholarship in Architecture Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. 3 Botton (J.) Scholarship. 5 Bottor (D.) Scholarship. 8 Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award 8 Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. 8 Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 8 Bourse de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. 8 Bracbe (Florence Marjorie) Award. 8 Bradbury (John) Award in Geography 8 Bracher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. 8 British Chevening Scholarships 8 Brown (Jean) Scholarship 8 Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. 8 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 8 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund. 9 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award 9 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. 9 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships Camada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada Graduate States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowship. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (C		48
Blume (Gustav and Romana) Memorial Scholarship. Bolton (J.) Scholarship. Bolton (J.) Scholarship. Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award. 2 Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourse de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. Bradbury (John) Award in Geography. Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. British Chevening Scholarships. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award. Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award. Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. Canada Council Grants. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students. Canada United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Scholarship. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship. Canadian Institutes of Health	Rland (John) Scholarship in Architecture	29
Bolton (J.) Scholarship. Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award. 2 Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. 3 Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 2 Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. 2 Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. 3 Bradbury (John) Award in Geography 3 Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science 3 British Chevening Scholarships 4 Brown (Jean) Scholarships 5 Brown (Jean) Scholarships 5 Brown (Jean) Scholarships 6 Brown (Jean) Scholarships 6 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 7 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education 8 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education 8 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education 8 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize 7 C 7 CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 7 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 7 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 8 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. 8 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 9 Canada Council Grants 9 Canada Graduate Scholarships 9 Canada Graduate Scholarships 1 Canada Graduate Scholarships 1 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. 1 Scholarship 1 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. 2 Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – 3 Graduate Students 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. 5 Cholarship Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – 6 Graduate Scholarship Awards Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) F		39
Bourke (Dr. E.T. & Mrs. Marjorie) Award. Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. Bradbury (John) Award in Geography. Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. British Chevening Scholarships. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award. Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. Canada Council Grants. Canada Council Grants. Canada Council Grants. Canadau Students. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarship Awards. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of	Rolton (1) Scholarshin	10
Bourse d'Excellence en Langue et Littérature Françaises Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. Bradbury (John) Award in Geography. Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. British Chevening Scholarships. Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award. CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students. Canadian Council Grants. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarships. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowship. Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship. Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fell	Bourke (Dr. F.T. & Mrs. Mariorie) Award	22
Geneviève de la Tour Fondue. Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. 2 Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. 3 Bradbury (John) Award in Geography. Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. British Chevening Scholarships. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award. Burse (Hugh E.) Research Fund. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. Canada Council Grants. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes Foundation Fellowship. Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship. Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship. Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloy		
Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne. Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award. Bradbury (John) Award in Geography. Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science. British Chevening Scholarships. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Brown (Jean) Scholarship. Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award. Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award. Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. 3 Canadian Touncil of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition. 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship i	Geneviève de la Tour Fondue	32
Bourses de Recherche en milieu clinique et Bourses d'études supérieures. 2 Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award . 3 Bradbury (John) Award in Geography . 3 Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science . 3 British Chevening Scholarships . 4 Brown (Jean) Scholarship . 3 Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies . 3 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award . 3 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund . 2 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education . 1 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award . 4 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics . 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize . 3 C C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence . 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award . 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships . 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology . 2 Canada Graduate Scholarships . 2 Canada Graduate Scholarships . 4 Camada United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students . 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship . 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships . 3 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships . 4 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships . 4 Canadian Health Services Research Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards . 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund . 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship . 3 Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship . 3 Canadian Nosciety for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Gr	Bourse de Recherche Anne Lang Etienne.	23
d'études supérieures Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award		
Brace (Florence Marjorie) Award		23
Bradbury (John) Award in Geography Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science British Chevening Scholarships Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. Camada Council Grants Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarship Awards. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Doctoral Fellowship. Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship. Chalk-Rowles Fellowship in Education	Brace (Florence Mariorie) Award	39
Brecher (Nathan) Fellowship in Economics and Political Science 3 British Chevening Scholarships 4 Brown (Jean) Scholarship 3 Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. 3 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 3 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund 2 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. 1 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award 4 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize 3 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology 2 Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships 5 Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship 5 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Awards Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Awards Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 6 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 6 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 6 Canadian Fellowship 6 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 6 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 6	Bradbury (John) Award in Geography	30
Political Science British Chevening Scholarships Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. 3 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology. 2 Canada Council Grants. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarship Awards. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Students Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition. 4 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Chalk-Rowles Fellowship. Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education		
British Chevening Scholarships Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies	Political Science	34
Brown (Jean) Scholarship Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 3 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund 3 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. 1 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award 3 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. 3 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award. 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology. 2 Canada Council Grants. Canada Graduate Scholarships for Graduate Students. 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Chalk-Rowles Fellowship. Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education		48
Brownstein (Morton and Bernice) Fellowship in Jewish Studies. 3 Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award 3 Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund 2 Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education 1 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award 4 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize 3 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology 2 Canada Council Grants 3 Canada Graduate Scholarships 6 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships 4 Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards 5 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships 1 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards 5 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Library Association Scholarship 3 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Library Association Scholarship 3 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Library Association Scholarship 3 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 4 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 5 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		36
in Jewish Studies. Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Autler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence Caley (Herbert C.) Award Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Awards Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Library Association Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarship Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 1 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		
Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics. Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize. C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence. Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology. 2 Canada Council Grants. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students. 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition. 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Chalk-Rowles Fellowship Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education		34
Burke (Hugh E.) Research Fund Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education. 1 Burns (Margaret Mary) Award . 4 Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics . 1 Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize . 3 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence . 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award . 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships . 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology . 2 Canada Council Grants . 3 Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Scholarships . 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship . 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships . 3 Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards . 2 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships . 2 Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition . 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund . 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 3 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . 4 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award . 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology . 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship . 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship . 1 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship . 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education . 3	Bryant (Dr. John A.) Memorial Award	32
Burns (Margaret Mary) Award Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize 3 C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence Caley (Herbert C.) Award Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR)		21
Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics	Burns (Dr. Mildred) Award for Leadership in Education	18
Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics	Burns (Margaret Mary) Award	41
C CAE Award in Engineering Excellence	Butler (Albert A.) Award in Orthopaedics	19
CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology 2 Canada Council Grants 2 Canada Graduate Scholarships 3 Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for 3 Graduate Students 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. 3 Scholarship 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) 3 National Scholarships 4 Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – 3 Graduate Scholarship Awards 5 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships 5 Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) 7 Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal 8 Branch Loan Fund 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) 7 Postdoctoral Fellowships 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 7 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 8 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Carradian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Carradian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 3 Cana	Byrd (Kenneth F.) Prize	38
CAE Award in Engineering Excellence 2 Caley (Herbert C.) Award 3 Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships 4 Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology 2 Canada Council Grants 2 Canada Graduate Scholarships 3 Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for 3 Graduate Students 4 Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. 3 Scholarship 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) 3 National Scholarships 4 Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – 3 Graduate Scholarship Awards 5 Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships 5 Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) 7 Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal 8 Branch Loan Fund 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) 7 Postdoctoral Fellowships 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 7 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 8 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 9 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 1 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Carradian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Carradian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 2 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) 3 Cana	C	
Caley (Herbert C.) Award. Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships. Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology. Canada Council Grants. Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) - CIHR CGS Master's Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships. 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 1 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 4 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 5 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship in Education 5 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education		28
Cambridge Canadian Trust – Graduate Scholarships	Caley (Herbert C.) Award	39
Cameron (T.W.M.) Award in Parasitology Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship 3 Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 4 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 5 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship in Education 3	Cambridge Canadian Trust - Graduate Scholarshins	49
Canada Council Grants Canada Graduate Scholarships Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students Acnadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship Scholarship Graduate Scholarships Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation Graduate Scholarship Awards Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 4 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 5 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship in Education 3		26
Canada Graduate Scholarships. Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students. Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship. Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships. Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition. 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards. Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship. Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship. Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship. Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award. Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship. Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship. Carverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Chalk-Rowles Fellowship. 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education		
Canada-United States Fulbright Scholarships for Graduate Students		
Graduate Students Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE) National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation — Graduate Scholarship Awards Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Society of Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship Carverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship Chalk-Rowles Fellowship Chalb-Rowles Fellowship in Education 3		
Canadian Chinese Cultural Society of Montreal Inc. Scholarship	Graduate Students	49
Scholarship		
National Scholarships Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation — Graduate Scholarship Awards Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition 4 Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 1 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		32
Canadian Engineering Memorial Foundation – Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition	Canadian Council of Professional Engineers (CCPE)	
Graduate Scholarship Awards. Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships. Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition		. 7
Canadian Federation of University Women Fellowships Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition		
Canadian Health Services Research Foundation (CHSRF) Postdoctoral Award Competition		
Postdoctoral Award Competition		. 8
Canadian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy Montreal Branch Loan Fund. 2 Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships. 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) - CIHR CGS Master's Awards. Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships. 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award . 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology . 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship . 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship . 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship . 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship . 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education . 3		
Branch Loan Fund	Postdoctoral Award Competition	44
Canadian Institutes for Health Research (CIHR) Postdoctoral Fellowships		
Postdoctoral Fellowships. 4 Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) - CIHR CGS Master's Awards . Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards . Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship . Canadian Library Association Scholarships . 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship . 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award . 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology . 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship . 1 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship . 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship . 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship . 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education . 3		28
Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) - CIHR CGS Master's Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 3 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		
Master's Awards Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships. 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 1 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		44
Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 3 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 3 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3	Canadian Institutes of Health Research (CIHR) - CIHR CGS	_
Doctoral Awards Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships. Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 1 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		. 8
Canadian Japanese Mennonite Scholarship Canadian Library Association Scholarships Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 1 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		٥
Canadian Library Association Scholarships. 3 Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship 2 Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award 2 Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology 2 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship 1 Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship 3 Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		
Canadian Nurses Foundation Fellowship		
Canadian Society for Chemistry - Montreal 2001 Graduate Award		
Graduate Award	•	22
Carpenter (Philip) Fellowship in Biology2Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship1Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship3Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship2Chalk-Rowles Fellowship1Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education3		26
Carr-Harris (Lloyd) Fellowship1Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship3Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship2Chalk-Rowles Fellowship1Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education3	Carpenter (Philin) Fellowship in Riology	26
Carr-Harris (Lloyd) String Scholarship3Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship2Chalk-Rowles Fellowship1Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education3		15
Caverhill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship 2 Chalk-Rowles Fellowship 1 Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education 3		39
Chalk-Rowles Fellowship	Caverbill (G. Rutherford) Fellowship	21
Chambers (Gretta) Fellowship in Education		15
		33
The control of the co		44
		7

Chiang Ching Kuo Foundation Fellowship Awards	Fondation du Prêt d'honneur bourses de recherche
(Ph.D. Dissertation)	postdoctorale
Chiang Ching-Kuo Foundation - Fellowship Awards	Fonds de la Recherche en Santé du Québec (FRSQ)
(Postdoctoral)	Postdoctoral Training Fellowships
Clark (Azelie de Lendrecie) Award	Fonds de Recherche sur la Société et la Culture
Collip (J.P.) Fellowship in Medical Research	(FQRSC) Bourses Postdoctorales
Commonwealth Scholarships for Graduate Studies 50	Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature et les
Cormier (Bruno M.) Research Fund	Technologies (FQRNT) (Formerly FCAR)/ Fonds de recherche sur la Société et la culture (FQRSC): Bourses d'études de cycles
Corporation of Notises of the District of Montreal Bursary 25 Cremona Memorial Fellowship in Linguistics	supérieurs, de perfectionnement et de reintégration à la
Croll (Neil) Memorial Award	recherche
Crossley (Ethelwyn M.) Scholarship Fund	Fonds Québécois de la Recherche sur la Nature
Cushing (Esther) Fellowship	et les Technologies (FQRNT) (formerly FCAR) Bourses
	Postdoctorales
D	Foreign Government Awards 50
d'Andrea (Antonio) Memorial Fund	Foreign Government Awards (Postdoctoral) 45
Davidson (Geraldine Elizabeth) Fellowship	Foundation for the Advancement of Protestant Education
Davis (John F.) Award	Graduate Fellowship in History
Dawson (Sir William) Fellowship in Metallurgy	Fowler (F.O.) Memorial Fellowship
Day (John and Edmund) Award for Graduate Studies in Law 35	Fowler (R.M.) Memorial Fellowship
De Grandpré (Jean) Prize	Frankel (Saul and Freda) Prize
De Lendrecie Clark (Azelie) Award	Frazee (Rowland C.) Post Graduate Fellowship in Neuromuscular
Defi Corporatif Canderel Studentship and Fellowship 19 Delta Kappa Gamma - Dr. Mildred Burns Award	Diseases
for Leadership in Education	Freeman (Catherine) Fellowship in Human Nutrition
Desautels (Guy) Memorial Prize	Friends of McGill Fellowship
Deutsche Gesellschaft zu Montreal Scholarship	Frosst (James) Fellowship
Deutscher Akademischer Austauschdienst (DAAD) –	Fulbright Scholar Awards (Traditional) 48
German Academic Exchange Fellowships 50	G
Differential Fee Waivers	Garber (Bram) Fellowship in Art History
Dimmock (Frederick) Memorial Fellowship	Gareau (John and Ethelene) Fellowship in Science 25
Dissertation Fellowships	Garibaldi-Galavaris (Olympia) Prize
Douglas (James) Fellowships in Mining Engineering 28	Gauvin (H. William) Fellowship in Chemical Engineering 26
Dow-Hickson Fellowship in Physics	Geddes Prize in Biomedical Engineering
Dow-Hickson Fellowship in Theoretical Philosophy 32	General Electric Award in Environmental Engineering 29
Downes (Kenneth) Graduate Award	Gershman Memorial Scholarship Fund
Downey (Margaret) Prize	Gillett (Margaret) Graduate Research Awards
Drysdale (J. Keith) Manufacturing Management Graduate	Giroud (Claude J.P.) Bursary in Endocrinology
Fellowship	Goddard (Cedrik) Memorial Award in Islamic Studies
Duchow (Marvin) Memorial Scholarship	Gordon (A.R.) Awards
Dunbar (Max) Award in Oceanography	Government Student Aid
Dunlop (A.F.) Scholarships	Governor General's Gold Medal
'	Graduate Students' Bursary Fund
DuPorte (Margaret) Fellowships	Graduate Students' Loan Fund
Dworkin (Ruth and Alex) Scholarship	Graw Smythe (Barbara) Award In Library And Information Studies
E	36
Eastern Canada Chapter Special Libraries	Greenshields (Chief Justice R.A.) Memorial Scholarship 35
Association Prize	Griffiths (Dr. James E.) Award in Material Sciences 15, 28
Eaton (Marianna) Scholarship	Griffiths (Margaret) Award in Child Welfare
EDI Scholarship	Guha (Dr. Gauri Shankar) Award in International Development
Eibel (Dr. Philip) Prize In Orthopedic Surgery	Education
Engineering Class of 1936 Award	Н
ERIC Award39	Hall (Elizabeth G.) Scholarship Fund
F	Hall (Helen) Prize
Faculty of Music Entrance Scholarships	Hall (Oswald) Prize
Faculty of Music Scholarships	Hampson (H. Anthony) Award in the McGill Institute
Farley (David) and Norbert Schoenauer Fellowship	for the Study of Canada
in Architecture	Hannah Institute Fellowships for Postdoctoral Study in the History
Fee Waivers, Differential	of Medicine
Fetherstonhaugh (H.L.) Book Prize	Harney (Patricia) Scholarship
Financial Assistance for Library Education	Harrigan (David) Memorial Prize
Finley (Samuel) National Bursary	Harrington (B.J.) Bursary in Mining Engineering 27
Fischer (Lewis A.) Memorial Bursary in Agricultural	Harrington (Conrad F.) Postdoctoral Fellowships 43
Economics	Harris (George G.) Fellowship in Cancer
Fleishman (Syra Deena Tarshis) Bursary	Harrison (F.C.) Fellowships
Fondation Designation Subvention de recherche	Hawkes (Arthur S.) Fellowship
Fondation Desjardins, Bourses de maîtrise et de doctorat – programme Girardin-Vaillancourt	Hayes (Saul) Graduate Fellowship
Fondation du prêt d'honneur bourse - projet	Heartland/Halchemix (Ajinomoto) Scholarship
. S. aaa. S. aa prot a normour boaroo - projett	Helm (Harold H.) Fellowship
	menderson (Annur and Heien) Scholarship 38

Hermant (Percy) Fellowships in Ophthalmology	20	Lin (David T.W.) Fellowship	43
Herschorn (H.E.) Graduate Scholarship		Lin (Professor Paul T.K.) Fellowship	34
Hitschfeld (Walter) Award		Lochead (Arthur and Jessie) Bursary Fund	
Hong Kong Fellowship in Dentistry		Loiselle (Roland) Prize in Plant Genetics	26
Hopson (Eben) Bursary for Study at McGill	42	Lomer (Dr. G.R.) Scholarships	36
Houlding (Margaret) Memorial Prize		Lundie (Dr. John A.) Research Fellowship	
Houston Bursary	40	Lupovitch (Samuel) Memorial Scholarship	22
Howard (William Henry) Scholarships		Lutter (Lewis) Bursary	39
Howard, Q.C. (T. Palmer) Award in Canadian History	35	Lyman (Gian) Memorial Scholarship	
Hunt (T. Sterry) Awards in Chemistry	27	Lynch (J.B). Fellowship in Earth and Planetary Sciences	
		Lyster (Lynden Laird) Memorial Fellowship	25
nstitut de Recherche en Santé et en Sécurité du Travail du		M	
Québec (IRSST) – Bourses de Recherche	10	M.B.A. Entrance Award	38
nstitut de recherche en santé et en sécurité du Travail du Québ		M.B.A. International Student Award	
(IRSST) - bourses postdoctorales de recherche	46	Macdonald Class of '44 Rowles Graduate Bursary	
nstitut de Recherche en Santé et en Sécurité du Travail		Macdonald Travelling Scholarship	52
du Québec (IRSST) – Bourses Thématiques (3e Cycle)		MacDonald Wells Van Daele (Patricia Ann) Memorial Award .	24
en Ingénierie	10	Mackenzie (Alexander) Fellowship in Political Science	
nstitut National de la Recherche Scientifique (INRS) Postdocto		Mackenzie King Open Scholarship	
Fellowships	46	Mackenzie King Travelling Scholarships	
ODE War Memorial Scholarships for Doctoral Study in		Maclachlan (Gordon A.) Prize	18
Canada or Other Commonwealth Countries	10	MacLennan (Hugh) Fellowship for the Study of Canada	15
J		MacLennan (Hugh) Fellowship for the Study of English	33
Japanese Government (Monbusho) Scholarships	52	MacSporran (Maysie) Graduate Studentships	22
Jenckes (K.B.) Prize		Magil (Louis B.) Scholarship in Affordable Homes	
Joint Japan/World Bank Graduate Scholarships		Mappin (Judith) Fellowship in Women's Health	20
ISPS Postdoctoral Fellowships for Foreign Researchers		Martin (The Right Honourable Paul) Scholarships to the University	ity
Judson (Dr. Arthur H.) Fellowships		of Cambridge	
Jütting (Hans and Eugenia) Fellowship		Martin (Vivi) Fellowship	
Juvenile Diabetes Foundation Postdoctoral Fellowships in		Masson (Georges, Paul and Robert) Bursaries in Science	
Diabetes Research	46	MAUT Librarian's Section Award	
(McConnell (J.W.) Foundation Fellowships in Environment	
Catz (Myer) Fellowship in Social Work	11	McConnell (J.W.) Memorial Fellowship	
Keefer Fellowship		McCrae (John) Fellowship	
Keenan (Mary) Scholarship in English		McCullagh (Paul F.) Award	
Kellogg (W.K.) Foundation Loan Fund		McFee (Alexander) Fellowship	18
Kent (Lionel Pelham) Scholarship	38	McFee (Alexander) Fellowship (Physical Sciences and Engineering)	20
Kerry (Esther) Award		McFee (Coll) Memorial Scholarship (Chemistry)	
Killam (Issak Walton) Scholarship/Timmins (Jeanne)		McGill Alumnae Society Fellowship	
Fellowships (Neurosciences)	20	McGill Associates Medal for Great Distinction in the	
Klima (Slava) Prize for Excellence in English		M.B.A. Program	38
Literary Studies	35	McGill Institute for the Study of Canada Fellowships	
Kolessa (Lubka) Piano Award		McGill Major Fellowships	
Kornbluth-Gelfand (Judith) Graduate Fellowship		McGill Student Aid	
Krebs Memorial Scholarship		McGill University - Montreal Children's Hospital	
Kulkarni (Kavita) Memorial Prize in Rehabilitation Science	23	Research Institute Studentships	20
_		McGill University - Montreal Children's Hospital	
_am (Dr. Yu-Ming) Fellowship	43	Research Institute Fellowships	20
Lan (Dr. Soo Kim) Prize in Dentistry	22	McGregor (Alexander A.) Fellowship in Earth and	
_an (Dr. Soo Kim) Prize in Architecture		Planetary Sciences	
Lang Etienne (Anne) Bourse de Recherche		McLaughlin Fellowship	
_apitsky (Samuel) Scholarship		McLennan (Hugh) Memorial Scholarship	
_atimer (Daisy A.) Memorial Prize in History	32	McNaughton Fellowships in Classics	
_atin America Award		Meadows (James O. and Maria) Scholarship	
_au (Ping Kwan) Prize in Architecture		Medicine (Faculty of) Internal Studentships	21
Le Prix Bibliothèque Nationale Du Québec - Charles H. Gould	36	Mellon (Andrew W.) Postdoctoral Fellowships in the	4.4
_ebensold (Fred) Memorial Fellowship in Architecture	29	Humanities at Stanford University	44
_eckie (Nessa) Memorial Award	23	Mellor (C. Douglas) Prize	
Lee (Robert G.H.) Fellowship	43	Melville Prize in Pharmacology	
Legeyt Fortescue (Charles) Fellowship in Electrical		Meredith (Sir Vincent) Fellowship in Agricultural Economics.	
Engineering		Meteorlogical Services of Canada Graduate Supplements	
Leong (Dr. and Mrs. Milton) Fellowship 24,		MGSF Fellowships	
Leong (Dr. and Mrs. Milton) Fellowship for Study in China		Miller (F.S.B.) Memorial Fund	21
Lerner (Samuel S.) Memorial Award	22	Ministère de l'Eduçation (MEQ) – Bourses d'Études de 2e	ا ہے
LeRoy Memorial Fellowships in Earth and	07	et 3e Cycles à l'Étranger	53
Planetary Sciences		Ministère de l'Education Summer Language Bursaries	
Leung (Dr. Wah) Fellowship		Mohan (Richard T). Scholarship	
Liberatore (Gaetano and Esterina) Fellowship		Montreal Lakeshore University Women's Club Scholarship	
IGHICHSICH GJAIATIVICHOHAL FEIIOWSHID	JO		

Montreal League for the Hard of Hearing Award20	Q	
Morrow (Robert E.), QC, Fellowships	Quebec Universities' Student Exchange Programs –	
Morse (Herbert A.) Memorial Scholarship	CREPUQ	
Motorola Foundation Graduate Award in Electrical	Quinlan (Peter) Fellowship	44
and Computer Engineering	R	
Moyse Travelling Scholarships 53 Murphy (Sean) Award 21	Rapagna (Margherita) Memorial Prize in Rehabilitation	
Murray (Virginia) Prize for Cataloguing	Science	23
	Recruitment Fellowships	
N	Reid (J.H. Stewart) Memorial Fellowship	. 10
National Research Council (NRC) Research Associateships 46	Reinhardt (Carl) Fellowship	. 15
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council	Reinhardt (Carl) Scholarships and Bursaries in Physics and	
(NSERC) Visiting Fellowships in Canadian Government Laboratories	Earth and Planetary Sciences	
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council	Religious Studies Bursary Fund	
(NSERC) Industrial Postgraduate Scholarships	Rhodes Scholarships	
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council	Rice (Ron) Memorial Award	
(NSERC) Industrial Research Postdoctoral Fellowships 46	Riente (Lara) Memorial Prize in Linguistics	
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council	Riley (Irma K.) Awards	23
(NSERC) Postdoctoral Fellowships	Robb (Preston) Fellowship	20
Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council (NSERC) Postgraduate Scholarships and Canada Graduate	Roeher (G.G. Allan) Institute– Research Grants in the	
Scholarships	Field of Intellectual Disabilities for Graduate Students	
Nenniger (Emil) Memorial Fellowship	Rosenthal (Barbara) Prize	
Ng Wai Yee (Mr. and Mrs. Johnson) Fellowship	Rotary Club of Montreal International Agricultural Award Rotary Foundation Scholarships	
Noad (Anne Dudley) Award31	Royal Architectural Institute of Canada Medal	
Northern Scientific Training Program	Royal Bank Fellowship in University Teaching	
Norton (David Fate and Mary J.) Fellowship in Philosophy 32	Royal Victoria Hospital School of Nursing	
0	Almunae Association Bursary	23
"Old Sun" Entrance Scholarship	Rugh (William Stewart) Scholarship	28
Oliver (Allen) Fellowships in Economics and	S	
Political Science	Salisbury (Richard F.) Prize in Anthropology	35
Onions (Wilfred) Memorial Prize	Salomon (Jennie and Joseph) Memorial Bursary	
Ontario Graduate Scholarship Program	Schecter (Rachel and Benjamin) Memorial Scholarship	40
Ontario-Quebec Exchange Fellowships	Schloss (Julius) Memorial Award	39
Order of Nurses of Quebec Bursaries	Schoenauer (Norbert and David Farley) Fellowship In Urban	
Organization of American States (Postdoctoral) Fellowships 47 Organization of American States Fellowships	Planning	. 30
Ortega (Alvaro) Award	Schoenauer (Norbert) and David Farley Fellowship in Architecture	30
Overseas Research Students (ORS) Awards	School of Architecture Fellowships.	
Owen (Casper W.) Fellowship	School of Social Work Alumni Prizes	
P	Schubert (Joseph) Memorial Scholarship	
Paidoussis (M. P.) Prize in Mechanical Engineering30	Schulich Scholarship for Entrepreneurship	
Pall Dissertation Award	Semaan (Ingrid) Prize	
Paltiel (Freda L.) Award for Immigrant and Minority Women's	Semaan (J. Jeffery) Prize	
Health and Development	Senez (Aubrey) Fellowship	
Paprican Fellowships in Pulp and Paper Engineering 30	Shankman (Harry) Scholarships	
Parr Gélinas (Verna-Marie and Paul-Marcel Gélinas	Shapiro (Phyllis and Bernard) Fellowships in Opera Shapiro (Phyllis and Bernard) Fellowships in Theory	
Scholarships	Shastri Indo-Canadian Institute Fellowships	
Patrick (Wendy) Award	Shastri Indo-Canadian Institute Postdoctoral	•
21	Research Fellowships	47
Patton (Charles James, M.D., and Elizabeth Ross) Memorial Prize	Sheldon (Lotte Marcus) Prize	41
19	Shore (Dr. Benjamin) Prize in Plastic Surgery	
Pelnar (Dr. Premysl) Academic Enrichment Award 19	Simkin (David J.) Award in Physical Chemistry	
PEO International Peace Scholarships	Sketch (Marian and Ralph) Fellowship	. 25
Pesner (Dr. and Mrs. I.N.) Memorial Prize	Smith (Greville) Research Fellowship.	
Peters (Eileen) Fellowship	Smith Bishop (Hazeldine) Fellowship	
Phillips (Gordon) Fund for Research in Cardiovascular	Doctoral Fellowships	1.3
Diseases	Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council (SSHRC)	
Plant Science Postgraduate Award	Postdoctoral Fellowships	47
Pllarczyk Fellowship	Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada	ì
Pollack (Maurice) Foundation Fellowship	Therese F. Casgrain (Postdoctoral) Fellowship for Research	
Porter (John Bonsall) Scholarship	Women and Social Change in Canada	
Post Secondary Student Support – Department of Indian	Solvay Fellowship	
Affairs and Northern Development (DIAND)	Sourkes (Theodore) Prize	
Price (Dr. Gerald B.) Memorial Awards	Special Libraries Association (SLA) Scholarship Program	
Prix de la Société de Musique Canadienne	Special Libraries Association Scholarships	
Programmes De Bourses D'excellence Pour Etudiants Etrangers	Spence-Sales (Harold) Prize in Urban Planning	

Spinelli (E. Noel) Prize In Music	39 16
Bursaries	23
diplômés étrangers	47
Standard Life Dissertation Fellowship	17
Stanfield (Robert and Mary) Dissertation Fellowship	17
Stansfield (Ellen Edith Grubb) Award	32
Stauffer (Joseph S.) Fellowship	
Steinberg (Nathan) Fellowship in Political Science	34
Stern (Max) Fellowship in Music	
Stern (Max) Fellowships in Humanities and Social Sciences	15
Stern (Max) McCord Museum Fellowship	14
Stern (Max) Recruitment Fellowships	14
	40
Stevenson (John) Medal	
Stewart (David) Memorial Fellowship	
Stewart (Walter M.) Postgraduate Scholarship in Agriculture	26
Strauss (Norman) Doctoral Fellowship for Professional	
Ethics in Business	38
Student Exchange Programs - McGill University and the	
Conference of Rectors and Principals of the Universities of	
Quebec (CREPUQ)	54
	41
Sumner (Walter C.) Foundation Awards	13
Sustainable Agriculture Fellowship	44
Т	
Tabah (Albert) Award in the Master of Library and Information	
Studies Program	36
Tagge (Arthur C.) Fellowship in the Humanities and	00
Social Sciences	15
Tarshis (Bernard Michael) Award	31
Taylor (Mary Louise) Fellowship	25
Tees (Miriam H.) Scholarship	
Thomson (Dale C.) Prize in Political Science	32
Timmins (Jeanne) Fellowships/ Killam (Issak Walton)	
	20
Tomlinson (Richard H.) Doctoral Fellowships	13
Tomlinson (Richard H.) Fellowships	13
Tomlinson (Richard H.) Fellowships In University Science	
Teaching	19
Tomlinson (Richard H.) Master's Fellowship in	
the Faculty of Science	13
,	
Topping Memorial Bursary	
Trenholme (Margery) Fellowship	
Trenholme (Margery) Memorial Award in Library Studies	37
U	
Udho, Parsini, Diwan Award in Chemistry	27
Ushioda-Aoki (Setsuko) Prize	
V	
	40
Van Berkom and Associates Inc. Bursary	43
Victor (Herschel and Christine) Fellowship in Education	
Victor (Jeannette and Abram) Memorial Scholarship	
Vincent (Irving Orrin) Bursary	42
in Economics	3/1
Vineberg (Philip F.) Graduate Fellowship	
Vineberg (Philip F.) Travelling Fellowship in the Humanities	
Vineberg Family Fellowship	26
Vogel (Robert) Memorial Award in History	
	55
W	
Wainwright Scholarship for Law	
Walker (Alvin J.) Graduate Fellowship	3/
Warren (Roger) Fellowships in Geographic	24
Information Systems	JΙ

Warren Fellowship in the McGill Institute		
for the Study of Canada		35
Watson (Harrison) Scholarship		21
Wellington (Sheila) BMO Financial Group Award		
Whitehorne (Gordon J.A.) Recruitment Fellowship		
Wilkinson (R.E.) Award		
Willey (Arthur) Memorial Fellowships		
Wilson (Dr. Milton C. and Nina E.) Award		
Wilson (H.W.) Foundation Scholarship		
Wilson (Stuart A.) Memorial Prize		
Wilson (Woodrow) International Centre for Scholars		
Postdoctoral Fellowships in the Humanities and		
Social Sciences		48
Winkler (Carl A.) Award in Chemistry		26
Wirth Family Fellowship in Music		40
Women's Centennial Fellowship		16
Wong (Amy) Biotechnology Award		
Wong (Amy) Fellowship	24,	43
Wong (Clifford C.F.) Fellowship		15
Wong (Clifford C.F.) Fellowship in Architecture		28
World Meteorological Organization (WMO)		31
Y		
Yaphe (Wilfred) Award		26
Yip (Gar Lam) Memorial Fellowship in Guided	• •	20
Wave Photonics		20
Young (Horace G.) Fellowships		
	• •	
Z		
Zamboni (Robert) Prize(s) in Chemistry		27
Zonta International Foundation – Amelia Earhart		
Fellowship Awards for Women		13